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CHAPTER I 

INTRODUCTION 

Americ~n historiography has not ignored the Mexican War. Indeed, 

even before it ended writers were speculating as to its causes and its 

consequences. Tbese causes an!i consequences have been analyzed vari.,. 

ously throuQhout the l9th and 20th centuries. 

The earlier views, patriotic in their tone, praised President Polk 

and the Democrats for their judicious involvement. As early as 18~9, 

John ~. Jenkins, Histor4 2£ ~ War :aetween the United States and 

Mexico, believed that the United States was right in going to war • 

.Accounts current until the turn of the century emphasized that the war 

was fought to extend slave territory in the United States. 1 This was 

consistent with the rise of abolitionism in"the 1850's and the long 

lasting· imp{ict of the Civil War. 

In the twentieth century the slavocracy theory !iissipated. The 

most detailed account of :the war emerged in Justin H. Smith's book of 

1919, which interpreted the Me;x;ica:n War as an inevitability caused by 

(1) the policy of the :Mexicans, partieularly Santa Anna, anct (2) the 

1Wilham Jay, A R.evj.ew of the Causes and Consequences of the 
Mexican War (P!:\ila4el:phia, W~9J7 See also Abie! Livermor-;:- The War 
wi tq Mex"'[Zc;'° Reviewed (Boston, 1850). 
~ ' 

1 
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annexation of Texas. 2 This was the best researched account and was 

detached from thEl emotion over Manifest Destiny in the 184o 1 s and 

sectionalism in the 1850's and afterward. 

Later accounts in an age of world-wide empires and world wars 

3 stressed the desire to expand and take land. Often, in our liberal 

age, these we:,:-~ anti .... imperial, blaming th~ United States. Also the 

economic factor became important in historical interp:,:-etation following 

the Great Depression in the 19JO's and the rise of America's world 

encompassing economy as a result of the Second World War. In his 

Empire 2!1~ Paoi:fic, Norman Graebner argued that economic expansion 

4 and the desire for Cali:fornia were the main reasons for war. The 

current historical inte:,:-est in statistical analysis has also been used 

to study the causes of ~ar, the most notable work being Joel Silbey's 

The Shrine of Party, which analyzed the Congressional voting patterns 
~ .. , ~ ... 

for the period and concludes ~hat the vote to enter the war was more a 

political if:!sue than a sectional one.5 

Tl;le most recent of the many works on the war is the book of 

Seymour v. Connor and Odie B. Fa4lk, North America Divided; The 

Me~ic~ War 1846 .... 1848. These authors suggest a prejudicial stance of 
~~ 

many historians resulting from a failuire to recognize the internal 

2Justiq H. Smith, Toe Wa;r with Mexico, Vols. I and II (New fork, 
1919). ----

3Allan Nevins, Ordeal of Union (New York, 1947). Charles G. 
SeUers, James K. Polk 1 Contjnentalist 1843--1846 (Princeton, N. J., 
1966). Ot;i.s Si'i'.i°gletary, 'rhe Mexican wa;-Tc~o, 1960). Frederick 
Merk, Manifest I:>estiny and ?,fission ip--x;-erican History (New -York,1963) • 

. ' ' ·, ·~ , ... , - '• ... 

4 
Norman Grc,ebner, ~;eire on the Pacific (New York, 1955). 

5Joel Silbey, ihe Sh:rine of Party (New York, 1967). 
~ . . --- . ' 



political struggle in Mexico and the fact that Mexico was the first 

to declare war and the first to prepare for wide-spread hostilities. 6 

Peter Harstad and Richard Resh maintain that "domestic politics, 

3 

the personality of Polk, the designs of merchant groups, and the de­

mand ot creditor$ B,Tld claimant$ all s1,1ggest differing interpretations. 117 

No conclusive consensus exists among historians as to the definitive 

causes of the war. Too many historians' premises are based upon the 

limitations of the times in which they live and their different per-

sonalities. These conflictin~ personality judgments often tend to 

confuse rather than to confirm the causes. 

there is one factor of importance behind the scenes leading to 

war: the role of Great Britain. As Britain was the traditional 

bal~cer of power on the European continent, the same position was open 

to the B~itish upo~ this continent. According to Samuel Flagg Bemis, 

the dean of America's diplomatic historians, Polk went to war because 

he feared a fo~eiQn power, particularly F.ngland, would acquire land in 

No~th America. 8 Ephraim D, Adams and Jesse Reeves have shown that 

F.nglish activity in Califo:m.:i.a and Texas was quJte e:x:ten.sive. Both 

ag~ee that the English would have welcomed a chance to acquire a part of 

6-,~ymo\,\r v. Connor a.nd Odie :a. ;Faulk, North America Divided. The 
Mexican War, !846 .... 1846 (New York, 1971). . In this bibliography the 
aµthox,s n<:>te that ~newed interei;;t in the war may be evident, since 
19 per cent of the works they cite were published during the period 
1950~1970. It may be noted that this bibliography is so detailed that 
it will be an invaluable aid to hi~torians in the future. 

7Peter.ttarstad and :R.ichard Resh, "The Causes of the Mexican War, 
A Note on Changing Inte;rpretation," Arizona and tb,e West, Vol. VI 
(Winter, 1964). · - - -

8samuel Fli:j.gg Bemis, The Latin American Policy of the United 
States (New York, 194,3), p7'T62. 



California o/l,d to enlc\rge their commercial activHies with Mexico. 9 

The problem remaining, however, is the extent of England's com-

mitment to Mexico and her preparedness for war. There is no doubt that 

England was interested in Mexican affairs to the full extent reported 

by Waddy Thompson, the United States Minister to Mexico; they received 

fifteen million dollars annually from their commercial investments. 10 

Historians have recognized the English position in Mexico and some, 

notably Justin Smith, believe it ha~ an important place in the events 

leading to war. 

Acco;rd;i.ng to Smith,, En!:;ilish publications instigated or influenced 

the aggressive Mexican attitudes by their news stories delineating the 

disorganized state of the United States' Army. These news editors not 

only castigated the United States Army but they also inferred that a 

strong, vigorou~ and unified war policy could never be achieved for 

these reasons: the federal system of states being what it was plus the 

increased tension brought about by the slave issue and the fierce and 

11 
devhdve debates over the tariff. 

Adding to the confusion of assessing the amount of British in-

fluence in Mexico is the problem of England's ambiguity of purpose. 

In a number of Foreign Office documents instructions were given to 

Richard Palcenham and Charles Bankhead, that they were not to suggest, 

in any way, to the Mex:l,¢an government that English aid would be 

9E. D. Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 1838-
1846 (Austin, 1910), Also Jesse R,eeves, American ;Diplomacy un~ 
Tyler and Polk (Baltimore, 1907) • ....,.........~ 

10Waddy Thompson, Recollections of Mexico (New York, 1846), p. 236. 

11smith, War in Mexico I, pp, 112-113, 
-......--... ' -""""" 
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expected. Ye~, there is evidence of a strong undercurrent of expec-

tations. If, on the one hand, Mexico expected aid from F.ngland, which 

Justin Smith submits, 1a and on the other, England officially denied 

any aid, a controversy is evident. Further aggravating the Anglo-

Mexican confusion was the problem of England's ambiguity of its 

assessment: English newspapers could have been the instrument of 

merchants who were eager to see the English more colllllleroially involved 

in Mexico, or their anti-American attitude or prejudice, still evident 

i:n :Qri tish, politics, could have been the motivating factor. ln either 

case, England's vacillation contributed to the general confusion of 

the issue. 

Another historian, Frede~ick Merk, analyzed this period ex-

tensively and concluded that F.ngland was not ready to aid Mexico in the 

war with, the United States. 1J Me:rk unlike many others examines in de ... 

tail the aritish, feeling prior to and during the Mexican War. He 

beli.eves that F.nglc;Ul~ was not in any position to aid, and that the 

5ritisn Foreign Secreta;ry, Lo:rd Aberdeen, was more interested in peace 

rather than a war with the United States. 14 Merk does recognize the 

anti~IJnited States feeling in E:Qgland as evidenced in their newspapers, 

but he does not find the same feeling expressed in the Foreign Office. 15 

13Frederick Merk, The Oregon Question Essays.!!!, Anglo-American 
Diplomacy and Politics (Cambridge, 1967). li'rederick Merk, Manife13t 
bestiny and Mission· in American History; A Reinterpretation (New York, 
196J). Frederick Me°i=k,. 'l'he Monroe Doctrine~ American Expansion, 
181:!.J .. 1849 (New York, 1966T.° ' . . . 
~~ 

14 Merk,~ Monroe Poctrine and American Expansion, pp. 161-193. 

15Ibid. 
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Merk' s thesis is a credi.table one and deserves attention, because of 

the research he did in the Aberdeen and Peel papers. 

Admittedly, there was some English influence in Mexico during the 

period; however, the problem to be considered is the degree and credi-

bility of that influence during the years 1840-1848. The United States 

newspaper which offered the widest and most undisputed coverage .of the 

controversial period was the New O:t;"leans Daily PicayuneJ In their eyes, 

cUiY English acitivity was construed as .direct participation or as a 

manifestation of England's covert plans to establish a protectorate in 

Mexico. As a counterpart, the London Times expressed the fear 0£ 

further American expansion. These horns locked, further tension 

mounted. Much of this tension was due to the political implications of 

English treaty negotiations in Oregon, which some historians conceive 

as the impetus for her influence in Mexico; for Britain might have 

offered aid to Mexico to divert United States attention from Oregon. 

The settlement of the Oregon boundary dispute cannot be ignored, be-

cause it presented or established an air of expectancy within Mexico 

that prevented the Mexican government from recognizing the independence 

16 
of Texas. 

The major problem in evaluating the English position during the 

decade seems to be the emphasis placed on the documents by the his-

torians. Smith, after his exhaustive account concluded that aid was 

possible and that the English Ministers promised the Mexicans aid. He 

bases this oq the'air of ex~ctancy in Mexico; while Merk believes that 

aid was not forthcoming; but that the United States used the fear of 

16Smith, War in Mexico, I, pp. 112-113. 
_....,.....~ -
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British involvement to strengthen their position prior to the war. 17 

After examining the documents in the Foreign Office the author 

believes Merk 1 s argument is valid and additional evidence - the Foreign 

Office correspondence - which Merk did not use further substantiates 

his case. Smith, on the other hand, did examine the material in the 

Foreign Office, but still bases his thesis on the air of expectancy, 

a slight comment, a secret meeting, or a statement from an unofficial 

British source in Mexico City, who hinted that Mexico could expect aid 

18 
from England. 

Smith concluded that England was ready to help Mexico militarily 

if the United States annexed Texas. Historians agree with Smith that 

England came close to aiding the Mexicans prior to annexation, but that 

aid faded, when annexation became a reality, and the Mexicans failed 

to recognize Texas. Wilbur D. Jones in his book, Lord Aberdeen and 

the Americas, agreed with Smith and E. D. Adams that England came close 

to direct aid in 1845, but due to the Mexican lethargy, and the in-

ternal problems in England, Aberdeen's enthusiasm for Mexican aid 

evaporated as Mexico continued to avoid recognition. Indeed, Aberdeen 

advised the Mexican goverpment ag'~inst war with the United States. 19 

Since no conclusive documentary evidence exists as to the defini-

tive causes of the war and the extent of the English involvement; this 

17smith, ~ in Mexico.!_, PP• 112-llJ. 

18Merk, Monroe Doctrine~ American Expansion, p. 166. 

19Wilbur D. Jones,~ Aberdeen~ the Americas (Athens, 1958), 
p.JJ. 
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study proposes to analyze and evaluate the official British position as 

evidenced in all their Foreign Office documents during the years 1840-

1848. Secret negotiations or secret plans m':'-y have been discussed 

between Mexico and England, and if they did the Smith thesis will stand 

up as the most thorough account of the entire period, but as of now 

they have not been uncovered. And even though a detailed examination 

of United States-Mexican policy will not be analyzed, it must be 

recognized in this study, as the ground in the overall English policy 

toward Texas and Mexico. lb.is span of years has been chosen because 

it is the belief of the author that from 1840 on, English interest in 

Mexico accelerated in intensity commensurately with Texas' increase of 

autonomy as a nation, and the discussion of annexation to the United 

States. 



CHAP,rER II 

; 

BRITAIN $TRIJOi;S A MODERATE COURSE 

As Texas sought national autonomy and a place in international 

affairs, British interest in Mexican affairs escalated 9 That does not 

mean that England had no interest in Mexico prior to Texas' inde-

pendence. The English government and English merchants realized early 

in the eighteenth century that New Spain offered innumerable conmercial 

possib:i.litiesf These began with the Asiento and the Navio de Permiso 

both in the Treaty of Vtrecht (171J). Trade cU1d commerce were so 

important to the aritish inQustrial system that as early as 1826 a 

treaty of trade an,d commerce was signed between Britain and newly inde-

1 pendent Mexico. This treaty was negotiated by William Huskisson 1 

President of the Committee of Privy Council for Affairs of Trade and 

Sebast~an Camacho, Minister for Foreign Relations of Mexico. It out-

lined all commercial questions, called for perpetual amity, outlined 

the r:i.ghts and privileges of each country's citizens while resident in 

the other (these rights were ones enjoyed by the native citizens) and 

also stipulated that foreign residents could not be charged wit~ any 

taxes, loans, or imposts not charged to the native citizens. The-

1Great Britain, Public ~ecord Office. Foreign Office Treaty 
Series 93, 59-2, "Treaty qf Amity and Commerce and Navigation, December 
~6, 1826, 11 also Treaties and Conventions between Great Britain and 
Other Powers, 11 compiled byLewis Hertslet Vol. III (London, 1840, 
pp. 247,..264. 

9 
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treaty became the nucleus for ~nglish-Mexican relations for the next 

twenty years. 

CommerciaJ concern was not the only reason for a treaty with 

Mexico. The British were also concerned over America's westward ex-

pansion, and the rapid development of industry in the United States. 

These meant that both countries in the first half of the nineteenth 

century competed for supremacy in South America, Cuba, Mexico and 

2 Texas. This competition played an important part in the affairs of 

Mexico, as both countries sought to limit the influence of the other. 

After several Latin American countries declared their independence 

England quickly recognized them and established commercial treaties. 

The rest of Europe under terms of the Holy Alliance were ready to aid 

Spain in her colonial conflict. England however, under George Canning, 

the Foreign Secretary, was so interested in establishing markets in 

South America, that he threatened to use the English navy in support 

of the colonial governments. The industrial expansion in England de-

manded new markets and within a short time English charges~' affaires 

were dispatched throughout South America to draw up commercial treaties. 

By 182l± CanninQ e:x:"1,perantly declared that "Spanish America is English • 113 

2A. W. Ward and G. :a. Gooch (eds), Cambridge History of British 
Foreigh Policy~ Vol. II 1815-1866 (.Camhridge ,. 192.J.), p. 251;'; Also 
Merk, Manifest Destiny and Mission in American History. 

3Henry :a. Parkes, A_Hi.story.,af Me.xi.co (Boston, 1.960), p. 190. See 
also, ttarold Temperley,-The Forei'gii' Policy£.!. Canning 1822-~ (Hamden, 
Conn. 1966), pp, 157~186. Temperley believes that Canning is revered 
among Latin American historians. His major premise in Latin America was 
to allow the Latin American nations to work out their own problems, 
without any interference from Europe or the United States. England 
would remain a pqwerful friend and Temperley argµes that Canning 
"obtained a commercial hegemony, and a certain political ascendancy in 
Latin America." 
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Mexico wa$ the most important new country, and England's first 

minister, ij. G. Ward, clearly outdistanced other countries so that 

England enjoyed a commanding lead in commercial relations in Mexico. 

The German States, France, and eventually the United States shared in 

that co"'81erce, but for many years England was in the lead. The United 

States was at a disadvantage since Me;dco was afraid that land ... hungry 

citizens of the United States would expand westward and eventually 

control Mexicq. This fear was encouraged by British representatives 

in Mexico throughout the period 1826-1848. 4 

British investors bought Mexican bonds, and invested heavily in 

Mexican gold and silver mining, but politics was chaotic, disorganized 

and constantly involved in revolutions which limited the economic 

possibilities in Mexico as well as the foreign investments. Within a 

short time Mexico was tn debt to almost all of the European powers, 

and France eventually blockaded the Mexican ports for failure to pay 

French ciaims. England, although worried about investments in Mexico, 

never resorted to force, but did have problems collecting various 

claims owed English citizens. Throughout the years Richard Pakenham, 

the British Minister to Mexico, received orders from Henry John Temple, 

better knowtl as Viscount Palmerston, who as Foreign Secretary, pressed 

upon the Mexican government that Her Majesty's Government expected 

them to live up to their conunitments. 5 

4,'l'emperley, The Foreign Policy ,2.! Canning 1822-1829, pp. 164-168. 

5Great Britain, l'ublic Record-Office, Foreign Office Series, 50 
Mexico, Vol! 122:S, No. 35, "Palmerston to Pakenham, October 14, 1839, 11 

(hereafter Gited as f.O. 50, Vol. and Number), also F.O. 50 Vol. 126, 
No. 50, June 2~, 18.39, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston." In this dispatch 
Pakenham reports that a ~ritish based company in ~exico repealed an 



12 

The revolution of 1835 and 1836 in Texas did not bring an im-

mediate response from the English government, and in fact, even after 

the declaration of independence was publicized, England informed Texas 

that they would only trade with her under the stipulations signed in 

the treaty of 1826. England therefore still considered Texas as a part 

of the Mexican Republic. 6 ~ritish interest was very subdued and even 

after Texas sent J. Pinckney Henderson as Minister Plenipotentiary to 

Great Britain, Palmerston refused to recognize the independence of 

Texas. 7 

Henderson, a wealthy member of an aristocratic family in North 

Garolina, was trained as a lawyer and arrived in June, 1836. He was 

only 28 years old but had served as a colonel in a North Carolina 

militia and therefore was chosen as a brigadier general in the Texas 

army. After being appointed brigadier general, he returned to North 

Cc:trolin,a, raised a company of men., and then returned to Texas. 

earlier court decision over its property, and the Mexican court handed 
down a favorable decision which Pakenham believed was an "honorable 
exception to the usual course of such, proceedings." See also F.O. 50 
Vol. 133 No. 23 ''Palmerston to Pakenham, May 14, 1840. 11 

6oiplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, edited by 
George P. · Garrison in· .Annual Report of The Ameri~n Historical Associa­
tion, l908. Hereafter cited as Piplomatic Correspondence of the 
Republic of Te)l:as: Two volumes, "Palmerston to Henderson,April 6, 
1838, 11 p.857, and April 11, 1838, p. 859. Also "Henderson to R. A. 
Irion, January 5, 1839," p. 839. Also F.O. 50 Vol. 132 No. 42, 
"Palmerston to Pakenham, October 5, 1839," Palmerston enclosed a letter 
w;ritten to a '.l.'exas citizen, George Weymouth, in which he states that 
Texas had not been rec-0gnized as a separate state; also in F.O. 50 
Vol. 132 ;No. 68, "Palmerston to Pakenham, December 23 7 1839. 11 

:Piplomatic Correspondence of the :Republic of Texas, "Henderson to 
Irion, April 12 1 1838, n, 11 pp. 853-869, also F.0:- 50 Vol. 132 No. 48, 
"Palmerston to Pakenham, October 14, 1839," p. 82; Rupert N. Richardson, 
Texas The Lone Star State (New York, 1943), p. 159. ~-~, 
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Following independence 1 Sam Houston appointed Henderson as Secretary 

of State when Stephen F. Austin died. Henderson was very capable in 

this position and many believed he was the best person in the Republic 

to see~ British recognition i~ 1837. He remained in England for three 

years, and later went to France. He returned to his home and was very 

important in the final negotiations for annexation in 1844 and 1845. 

8 
In 1846 he was chosen as the first governor of Texas. 

In England, however, Henderson faced many difficulties, because 

Palmerston had several reasons for not recognizing Texas. First, the 

anti-slavery feeling in England brought an immediate response from 

the British Anti-Slavery Society which sent several letters to 

Palmerston against recognition. They felt that slavery would run 

rampant in Texas, especially since there were no controls from the 

Mexican government. 9 Secondly, the British were unwilling to recog-

nize the state of Texas because of the millions of dollars already 

invested in Mexico, and finally, the Foreign Office resisted recog-

nition because they felt that Texas would soon be a member of the 

10 
United States. 

The British stand against slavery played an important part in the 

discussion of the recognition of Texas not only in England but also 

8Dictionary of Americfl.11 Biography, Vol. VIII, pp. 526~527. - ,, .. 

9Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, "Irion to 
Henderson, lfouston, May 20, 18387' II, p. 861. 'R"o 50 Vol. 132 No. 42, 
"Letter addressed to Palmerston from British Anti-Slave Society, 
September 28, ).839," -.-Texas was viciously taken from the Mexicans, 
primarily to establish another slave state which Great Britain should 
not recognize. 

lORicharo.son, Texas The Lone Star State, p. 159. 



in the United States. While anti ... slave forces in F.ngland bombarded the 

Foreign Office with proposals against the recognition of Texas, pro-

slavery protagonists in the United States sought recognition of Texas 

and, if possible, admission to the Union as a territory. Southern 

representatives in Congress supported recognition because they were 

afraid that slavery would be abolished in Texas under the umbrella of 

British support and recognition. 11 As long as the United States con-

tinued to discuss the issue, Palmerston refused to give Henderson a 

concrete answer, and many times the Texan was left waiting at 

Palmerston's office, while the Foreign Secretary either ignored a 

meeting or fa:i,led to show because of other appointments •12 Henderson 

became so flustered and upset by October, 1839, that he demanded an 

audience and a firm reply from Palmerston within four days or he 

threatened to leave England and discuss recognition with other European 

powers, particularly France and the Netherlands. 13 Palmerston did not 

comply, and Henderson left England, and achieved some success when he 

signed a treaty of commerce and recognition with France. 

11congressional Globe, April 23, 1838, Vol. 6 No. 20, p. 307. See 
also Cong. Globe, Vol. 6 No. 20 for John C. Calhoun's speech to the 
Senate in favor of Texas' recognition and later admission to the United 
States. 

12:Piplomatic Correspondence of the R,epublic of Texas, "Henderson 
to Palmerston, London, February 12, 1838, II II, p.854. In this letter 
flenderson mentions the fact that Palmerston failed to keep an appoint­
ment and that he would like to make another appointment. See also 
F.O. 50 Vol. 132 No. 48 11 Palmerston to Pakenham, October 14, 1839, 11 p. 
88. 

13Diplomatic Corresp<'>ndence of the Republic of Texas, "Henderson 
to Palmerston, London, April 11, 18Ja:- Also F.0.50 Vol. 132 No. 49, 
Letter from flenderson to Palmerston, found in dispatch to Pakenham 
dated October 14, 1839, pp. 105-106. F.O. 50 Vol. 132 No. 49, 
"Henderson to Palmerston, London, April 11, 1838, 11 p. 860. 
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While Henderson sought recognition in Europe, Texas' President 

Sam Houston sent delegates to Washington, D.C. in hopes of annexation 

by the United States. The United States, like England, did not im-

mediately recognize the independenJ:e of Texas. In December, 1836, 

President Jackson emphasized in a message to Congress, that the issue 

of recognition must be handled with extreme care, because an immediate 

recognition could have been interpretated as grounds for war by the 

Mexicllll government. The United States could only recognize Texas, if 

Mexico or one of the other great powers recognized her or until enough 

t;i,me lapsed whereby Texas could prove her ability to maintain a 

t . t 14 separa e sovereign y. 

Jackson's remarks, however led to an open discussion in both 

houses, over Texas. After lengthy debate both Houses of Congress 

passed a resolution favoring recognition of Texas. As a result, 

Jackson in a "miµnight appointment" named Alc~e la Branche, of 

, 15 
Louisiana to be charged' affaires to the Republic of Texas. 

Recognition achieved, it was Houston's hope and the hope of 

Texans and Southern sympathizers in the United States to see ~nnexa-

tion become a reality. Led by the Southern representatives, annexation 

became an issue. The Tennessee legislature endorsed annexation and sent 

a resolution to that effect to the federal House of Representatives on 

April 16, 1838.16 The Tennessee resolution was tabled by a vote of 

14J. D. Richardson, Messages ~.,Papers.£!.~- Presidents, Vol. 
14, pp. 1487-1488. Also Congressional Globe, 24th Cong. 2nd Session, 
Vol. 14, pp. 108-109. 

15~bid., p. 1501 

16 Cong. Globe, 25th Cong. 2nd Session, p. 307. 
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107 tQ 75. Though buried in the House the issue surfaced in the 

Senate with the speech of William C. Preston of South Carolina on 

April 24, 1838 calling for the annexation of Texas to the United 

States. 

Preston believed that Texas deserved a place in the Union, and 

that even if slavery existed in Texas the condition of the slave would 

be improved and there would be no increase in the number of slaves. 17 

Preston's speech did little more than increase the determination by 

Nort~erners that Texas should not be part of the United States pri-

marily because of the slave iss'l,le. The question became so heated that 

neither side would compromise and the resolutions to annex Texas were 

18 
by~passed, ignored, and eventually tabled by the 25th Congress. 

Lamar, upset with these dilatory procedures in the United States, 

withdrew the fexas request to join the United States and sent another 

agent, James Hamilton, to Europe to negotiate a loan with a European 

country. 19 James Hamilton, a South Carolinian, was commissioned in 

1839 to sell a five million dollar bond issue in Europe. He was 

educ~ted as a lawyer, and was governor of South Carolina in 1830, and 

a princip~l leader in the nullification controversy of 1832. He gave 

financial support to the Texas revolution, and Houston offered the 

command of the Texas army to him in 1837. He declined, but after 

l7Co~g. Globe, Appendix, pp. 555~558. 

18 Cong. Globe, 25th Cong. 2nd Session, p. 177. 

19Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas. 11 Irion to 
to Henderson, Houston,· June 1, 1838,"p. 863. Al-;;; 11 Webb to 
Hende;rson, May 20, 1838, 11 p. 867. 
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Lamar's election he agreed to travel to Europe in hopes of obtaining 

the 11 five million dollar loan. 11 Hamil ton had an influence on President 

Lamar, and it was Hamilton's suggestion that precipitated the effort 

to sel-1 t:P,e ponds.to European governments. He realized that if Texas 

was not annexed to the United States it would need money to maintain 

its independence, and an army against a possible attack by Mexico. 

While fexas sought aid, and England remained evasive, the British 

Minister, Richard P&kenham, capitalized on the events and used the tool 

of English recognition as a lever to advance the economic position of 

England in Mexico. Sir Richard Pakenham, an accomplished diplomat, was 

the seconq cousin of Sir Edward Michael Pakenham, who had died com-

manding tne British torces at the famous battle at New Orleans in 1815. 

Sir Richard left school to join the Foreign Office and was first as-

signed as an attache to his uncle at Tlle Hague. In January, 1824, he 

was appointed Secretary of the Legation in Switzerland, and two years 

later took the same job in Mexico. He remained in Mexico for nine years, 

and finally was appointed Minister Plenipotentiary in March, 1835. In 

this position he was instrumental in negotiating with Mexico the treaty 

for the abolition of the slave trade, and later used his offices in an 

effort to reconcile the differences between France and Mexico during the 

"Pastry War. 11 In 18/,i,J Pakenham was made a Privy Counsellor and the next 

day, December 14, 184J, he was appointed Envoy Extraordinary, and 

Minister Plenipotentiary to the United States. There he was involved in 

the Texas question, the .Oregon dispute, in that he served as negotiator, 

and finally he was in the United States during the Mexican War. 20 

20n' t' f Am . B' h V 1 V 876 ~c ionary 2...,. erlcp11 ioQrap. y, o. , p. • 
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While Palmerston wrestled with recognition in 1839, Pakenham was 

concerned over th~ ;formation of a 11Society for the Encouragement of 

Natiol'l.al Industry," which had as its main objective the establishment 

of a textile industry in Mexico which could capitalize on the large 

cotton production in Mexico and severely damage the Eritish trade in 

Mexico. To aid these factories the Mexican Congress debated a bill 

21 which would increase the tariff on all British cotton goods. 

Pakenham, concerned for his country's interest, immediately sent a 

confidential memo to the Mexican Government, stating that if the tariff 

passed England would either recognize Texas or recover from Mexico the 

vast sums of money owed to them or if necessary both would be carried 

22 out by the English Government. 

The British threat was heeded and the tariff never passed 1 but the 

problem over British interests in Mexico still existed. As a result, 

Pakenham requested specific instructions from the Foreign Office which 

would awaken the Mexican Government to the importance of British trade 

and commerce in Mexico. Palmerston concurred in the action taken by 

Pakenham, and suggested that he constantly impress upon the Mexican 

Government the importan~e of British trade, and the necessity of main-

taining friendly relations between the two countries. Palmerston's 

policy was vindicated as British t;rade increased during the years 1838 

1839, and Pakenham boasted that the amount of British goods traded in 

21F.Q. 50 Vol. 126 l'{o. 51, "Pakenham to Palmerston, June 22j 1839," 
p. 36. 

2211 confidential Memorandum for the Consideration of the Government 
of Mexico, April 26, 1839. 11 Found in F.O. 50 Vol,. 123 No. 31, 
"Pakenham to Palmerston, May 11, 1839." 
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Mexico in 1839 was twice as much as all the other countries trading in 

Mexico for t:hat year. 

Reports from the western ports of Mexico alone show that in 1838 

$1,700,000 in duties was collected which was the largest freight ever 

from this area, and offered proof according to Pakenham that the mining 

and commercial operations in that area could reap rich rewards. Indeed 

the amQµnt of money collected the following year jumped to $2,387,880. 

Pakenham also reported that the number of Ehglish vessels trading in 

Mexico far surpassed other nations but the true significance of that 

comes from the fact that English ships usually carried a cargo three 

times that of other nations. Almost all the manufactured goods im-

ported into Mexico were made in England. Another source, Albert M. 

Gilliam, Travels in Mexico (Aberdeen, 1847) 1 claimed that British 
. ~ .. , 

23 invest~ent in Mexican mines and bonds was about $90,000,000. 

As trade and commerce increased, so too did British interest in 

the Mexican~Texan conflict. Realizing that a peaceful and content 

Mexico meant an increased profit for British merchants, Pakenham became 

involved in the dispute between the two countries. He worked as an 

intermediary for Mexican and Texan agents who were attempting to 

negotiate a settlement. Texas1 upset with the slow policies of the 

United States and desirous of aid from European sources decided to 

solve the p:roblem above, and sent overtures to the Mexican Government 

to solve the four.year old dispute. 

23These figures were found in F.O. 50 Vol. 125 No. 4o. 11 P;,ucenham 
to Palmerston, June 3, 1839, 11 p... 26, and F.O 50 Vol. 134 No. 14 7 

1!Pak~ham to Palmerston, February 9, 184o, "and F.O. 50 Vol. 24 No. 8 
"Pakenham to Palmerston, January 25 7 1841, 11 p. 4o. 
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England was a prime objective for Texans seeking foreign recog~ 

nition, and the Foreign Office was flooded with letters from Texas 

emphasizing the advantage~ which England could gain from a recognition 

of Texas independence~ Most of the letters received by Palmerston 

itemized the reasons why recognition was necessary. First, Texas 

was four times the size of Great Britain and Ireland. Second, Texas 

had the finest soil and climate in the world. Third, Texas could be 

an excellent commercial depot, from which items could be shipped to 

Mexico, .South America, and the United States. 

All of these factors combined meant that Texas not only would 

become a fine commercial ally, it would in time become the most 

strategic British ally in the world. In the event of war with the 

United States, Texas' importance would be invaluable. 

Probably the most important argument in these letters to the 

Foreign Office centered on the important agricultural cotton crop. 

Properly managed thousands of British citizens could move to Texas, 

invest in cotton production and before long Texas cotton could enter 

England free of duty. Once Texas cotton entered free there could be 

a move by Southern states in t):J.e Union to join Texas and as a result 

the power of the United States would end, since 60 million dollars of 

the 95 million dollars exported by the .United States in 1838 came from 

24 cotton. The cotton income gone, America would no longer be a viable 

competitor. 

24Letter to James McHenry from Martin Adamson, April 26, 1839, 
found in F.O. 50 Vol. 131 No. 26, April 27, 1839. Also a letter from 
Samuel N. Williams to Robert Lee Dawson, December 1, 1838. Williams' 
letter is presented to ~almerston to enlighten the Foreign Secretary 
to the history of Texas, and Williams as Secretary of State to Austin, 



Palmerston, impressed with the diplomatic success of Henderson in 

France and Hamilton in the Netherlands, 25 was ready to discuss recog-

~iti~n. lq 184o, he began serious discussions with Hamilton for a 

treaty of co111111erce and a treaty prohibiting the slave trade. During 

the negotiations Palmerston demanded that the end of the African slave 

trade had to be a condition for recognition; Texas agreed because of 

the 1 necessity of English recognition and the possibility of English 

loans. 

°WnEln :Palmereton began official discussions pf the problem of 

recognition, Pakenham became more involved in the negotiations of 

solving the 'l'exan ... Mexican conflict. Early in 1839 Texas sent Secretary 
I 

· of State Barnard E. Bee to Mexico, with the authority to offer the 

Mexican Government as much as five million dol[lars if it would recog-

nize ~e~as' independence and the border of the. Rio Bravo del Norte 

(Rio Grande). 26 Bee, a native of South Carolina, was a member of the 
! 

first Texas Cabinet and ~resi4ent Houston's seicretary of War. He had 

was ccmsidered qualified to assess the importa;nce of Texas, and also 
the benefits that Fngland could attain by recognizing its independence. 
Williams' .letter contained the reason~ for Fnglish recognition. 

25 . 
Hamilton found the European leaders, and eventually Palmerston 

receptive, since it no longer appeared that Te~as would be annexed to 
the United States. 

26 
f\O. 50 Vol. 126 No. 74, "Pakenham to Palmerston, September 12, 

1839, 11 pp. 180-186, and F.O. 50 Vol. 134, No. 2, 11 Pakenham. to Palmerston 
December 12, 1839," pp. 5-7. ln both of these dispatches Pakenham 
reports that he had communicated with Mr. Bee in New Orleans and hoped 
a cessation of hostilities would .be possible, while Bee was given his 
orders in Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, 
"Commission of Barna;rd E. Bee as Agent of Texas to Mexico, :February 20, 
1839, II, p. 431. 
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accompanied Santa Anna after the battle at San Jacinto, and was the 

obvious choice to remind Santa Anna of his promise to recognize Texas. 

The Texas agent in the United States discussed the matter with 

John Forsyth, the United States Secretary of State in President 

Van ];luren' s Adm:lnistration. As a result Powhatan Ellis, the United 

States Minister in Mexico, was instructed to act as a mediator in any 

Mexican-Texan negotiations. Sensing some competition from the United 

States, Pakenham went beyond the role of a neutral bystander. He 

stepped into the Texas~Mexioan situation and became a liaison between 

the two parties. He corresponded with several agents in New Orleans 

and was given the assurance that Colonel Bee would first seek aces-

sation of hostilities with the Mexicans, and eventually pay a sub-

stantial sum to Mexico for recognition. After receiving this news, 

he suggested to the Texas agents that Mexico would probably lend a 

willing ear to a cessation of hostilities, but if Texas proposed full 

sovereignty as a condition for peace, or even worse, a demand for the 

boundary at the Rio Grande, the Mexicans would never accept and any 

atte~pt at peaceful negotiation~ would be futile. 27 

Indeed, these Texan proposals were bold, but they did impress 

upon the English agents t~at Texas was trying to establish itself 

wit~in the international sphere of nations. As Texas continued to 

27 . 
F~O. ,50 Vol. 1:;!6 No. 74, "Pakenham to Palmerston, September 12, 

1839," pp. 180~186, and F.O. 50 Vol. 134 No. 2, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston 
December 12, 1839, 11 pp. 5 ... 7. In both of these dispatches Pakenham 
reports that he had communicated with Mr. Bee in New Orleans and hoped 
a cessation of hostilities would 'be possible, while Bee was given his 
orders in Diplo1matic Correspondence of the Republic 2, Texas, "Com­
mission of Barnard E. Bee as Agent of Texas to Mexico, February 20, 
1839, '' II, p. 431. Bee was given specific orders that Rio Grande was 
to be the bord~r. 
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press for these proposals England became more involved and began to 

use its good offices to influence Mexico of the necessity of a peaceful 

settlement. Inqeed the E;nglish realized that a peaceful settlement 

would also insure a greater opportunity for British trade and invest-

ments, in both countries. 

Colonel Bee, the first Texan agent, was not successful in his 

attempt to negotiate a peace with Mexico. In fact, he never visited 

Mexico City. His successor, James Treat, although he never succeeeded 

in signing a treaty spent ten months in Mexico under orders to handle 

confidentially all questions that pertained to a treaty with Mexico. 

Treat was not a Texan, he was from New York, but he was sympathetic to 

the Texan cause, and more importantly, he knew a contact close to 

Santa Anna. Hamilton and the Texan Secretary of State, had met Treat 

and learned that Treat had received'a letter from a friend in Mexico, 

who intimated that Santa Anna was ready to conclude a peaceful settle~ 

ment of the Texas dispute. Naturally, then Treat was the obvious 

28 
choice to replace Bee. 

Treat's arrival in Mexico becomes even more important, because it 

marked the beginning of overt English involvement in the Mexican situ-

ation. Even before Treat met with Mexican officials he saw Pakenham 

and asked for British mediation. Besides mediation, Treat requested 

28 
George L. Rives, The United States and Mexico (New York, 1913), 

Vol. 11, p. 529. Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas 2 
"Bee to Webb, Vera Cruz, May 24, 1839," II, p. 4A7, also "Burnet to 
Treat, Houston, August 9, 1839," pp. 470-472. These letters all re~ 
late to the necessity of appointing James Treat as special envoy to 
Mexico. 



·29 that England guarantee any peace signed between Mexico and Texas. 

Palmerston after receiving news of this offer instructed Pakenham that 

he approved of his language, "but instruct you that Great Britain can­

not guarantee any arrangement between Mexico and Texas. 30 Pakenham 

replied that Her Majesty's Government hoped for a peace but at this 

point he believed, as he expressed to Bee earlier, that a cessation 

of hostilities had to be the first step in any agreement. Any 

guarantee, he emphasized, would have to come from the Foreign Office 

and would be very unlikely. Treat informs Pakenham that Burnet wanted 

an amicable settlement, and that he was under orders to meet with a 

properly appointed agent from Mexico. Treat's mission was given the 

full support of both the Texas President (Lamar) and the Texas Congress, 

which passed a resolution granting Lamar the authority to appoint a 

commission whenever he felt it necessary to enter into an amicable 

negotiation with any person properly accredited by the Mexican Govern-

31 ment. Once Treat reached Mexico City he met with the Mexican 

Secretary of State Canedo and laid be~ore him the Texas' plan for 

peace, 11 '.L'he recognition of Treat marked a breakthrough," Pakenham 

29Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, "Treat to 
Lamar, Mexico, · February 8, 184o, 11II7P°p. 560-562-.- Also F .o. 50 
Vol. 1.34 No, 20, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, February 9, 1840, 11 pp. 170-
175. 

3°F.O. 50 Vol. 133 No. 24, "Palmerston to Pakenham, May 14, 1840, 11 

p. 73. 

31piplomatic Cor:respondence of the Republic of Texas, "Burnet to 
Treat, lfouston, August 9, 1839, 11 p°:- 471. Treat informs Pakenham 
that Burnet wanted an amicable settlement, and that he was under 
orders to meet with a properly appointed agent from Mexico. F.O. 50 
Vol. 134 No. 20, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, February 9, 1840," p. 172. 



stated, and believed the issue was negotiable, at least the Mexicans 

were willing to talk. 32 

Cane~o stalled for time; an habitual trait of the Mexicans, 

25 

throughout the period according to the British ministers. Even though 

Mexico procrastinated, Pakenham remained optimistic and constantly 

pers~aded Treat to remain in Mexico and continue discussions for peace. 

In March, 184:o, Treat was officially recognized by the Mexican Govern-

ment as the Confidential Agent of the Government of Texas, and for the 

first time it seemed that Mexico was ready to discuss the problem. 

Throughout the period Treat remained optimistic and along with Pakenham 

did not press the issue because they realized the delicate problems 

33 Canedo faced in his discussions with government leaders. 

Politically, Texas was a delicate issue within Mexican politics, 

and Canedo, afr~id that he would be criticized for negotiating with a 

State in the midst of revolution, presented the problem to the Mexican 

Congress. The resolution as introduced by Canedo called for aces-

satio:n, of hostilitie~, but even met forceful opposition in Congress led 

by Manuel Eduardo de Corostiza. He, along with others in Congress, 

32Treat was introduced to Canedo by Pakenham who arranged the 
first meeting between the two. Treat however was instructed to 
negotiate th,e boundary (Rio Grande) and that a "full, unequivocal un­
conditional acknowledgement of the absolute independence of Texas is 
a sine qua non, beyond and exclusive of which, you will not discuss 
a s:Gi°gle proposition." Found in Burnet I s instructions to Treat, 
August 8, 1830, in Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, 
II, p. 470. - - -

J 3Diplomatic Correspondence of the ~epublic of Texas, "Treat to 
Lamar, Me~co, March 27, 1840, 11 II, p.587. Mr. Treat was able to 
meet with Canedo and did discover that Mexico would assent to an 
armistice but not a recognition of Texas. Also F.O. 50 Vol. 134 
No. 42 "Pakenham to Palmerston, April 30, 1840," p. 156. 
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would not accede to any accommodation with Texas as an independent 

country, arid successfully led a move to send the issue to committee for 

discussion, which in Mexican politics meant the issue was dead. 34 

The :British government pressed Pak.enham to work for an armistice 

which would at least end the killing along the borders. 35 Treat 

accepted Pak.enham•s approach because under his orders he was to seek 

a truce for one to three years, terminable at the pleasure of either 

party, if negotiations for a peace treaty failed. 36 

It is possible that Mexico was only stalling for time, in order to 

increase the size of its army and hopefully attack and re-claim Texas. 

But while Mexico stalled Texas acquired a substantial Navy and regu-

larly patrolled the Gulf of Mexico. Texas, so concerned with her 

boundaries, even instructed Treat that as long as negotiations remained 

open, the Navy would never attack Vera Cruz, but if negotiations failed, 

and~ marked increase in the Mexican Army was evident, Texas had no 

recourse but to defend her honor and her interests. 37 

Treat continued to press for a Treaty and even requested Pakenham 

to present another memo to the Mexican Government. If the memo was 

34F.O. 50 Vol. 134 No. 6J, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, July 5, 184:o, 11 

p. 202. See also, Diplomatic C~J;"respondence 2.f th.e Republic 2.f Texas, 
pp. 579 ... 646. 

35F~O. 50 Vol. 1J4 No. 6J, "Pakenham to Palmerston, July 5, 1840, 11 

p. 202. 

36Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, "Treat to 
Lipscomb, Mexico, August 21, 184o,ii JI, pp. 684-488. · 

37F.O. 50 Vol. 137 No. 82, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, August 22, 
;t84o, 11 p. 82. Also Richardson, Texas The Lone Star State, p. 156. 
Atso Justin Smith, The Aqnexation of Tws~w~k, 1911), p. 168. 
Also Diplomatic Cor~pondence of the Republic of Texas, "Memorandum 
to Mexican Government," II, pp."""688-689. · -- · . 



ignored he would be forced t~ leave for Texas. The memo stipulated 

that the Texas Government would accept an armistice, but the border 

would have to be the Rio Bravo del Norte. The Mexicans immediately 

replied that this was unsatisfactory and would not in any way accept 

that river as the border. Treat's mission therefore ended, but 

Pakertham intervened, and persuaded Treat to remain one more week, 

because he feared as soon as Treat left, full scale war would erupt. 

Pakenham in a final attempt to bring a settlement met with the 

Mexican Minister of War, Almonte, and the Acting Minister of Foreign 

Affairs, Canedo, 38 the topic being the proposed armistice and the 

Texan proposals. The major problem which both sides could not agree 

27 

upon centered on the proposed boundary. The Mexicans, dead set against 

any armistice w:i,th the Rio Grande as the line, demanded that the 

boundary be esta~lished at the river San Antonio, which was one hundred 

and fifty miles north of the Rio Grande. Pakenham, as a result, was 

unable to convince the Mexicans that an armistice was necessary, and 

when he reported to Palmerston he emphasized that Mexico was solidly 

against any boundary, at the Rio Grande, while Texas refused to accept 

the San Antonio. Therefore, both governments, Texas and Mexico, could 

only blame themselves for failure because neither gave any sign of 

compromise. 39 

38F.O. 50 Vol. 138 No. 89, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, October 7, 
184o, 11 p. 56. 

39F.O. 50 Vol. 139 No. 96, "Pakenham to Palmerston, October 26, 
184:o, p. 67. Diplomatic Correspondence..£!. Texas, "Treat to Pakenham 
remained in touch th.roughout the period in hopes of settling the 
problem," pp. 704-726. 
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Treat's mission definitely ended, but Pakenham again attempted to 

maintain peace in a final interview with Treat before he left for 

Texas. »e emphasized and received assurances from Treat that Texan 

troops would not go beyond the Rio Grande unless it was absolutely 

necessary. Pakenham convinced Treat that Texas had to continue a 

policy 0£ forbearance, because any attack would only encourage a huge 

drive in Mexico, to reconquer Texas, and negate any chances for a 

peaceful settlement. rf Texas remained quiet and passive, it was 

doubtful according to Pakenham, no matter how vociferous the Mexicans 

were, that they would ever seriously undertake an expedition against 

Texas. Treat agreed with Pakenham and assured him that such a proposal 

4-0 would be presented to the President of Texas. 

Pakenham, being actively involved in Mexican-Texan relations, had 

suggested in August, 1840 that Her Majesty's Government appoint a 

consul in Texas, because British interests in Texas required that pro-

tection, and the necessity of peace between Texas and Mexico would be 

aided by a British minister in Texas who could work in cooperation with 

41 
his Mexican counterpartr While Pakenham became more and more in-

valved in the Mexican~Texan controversy, the Foreign Office slowly 

realized that the recognition of Texas and a commercial treaty was 

necessary to protect British interests. The increase in the number of 

40 F •. O. 50 Vol. 138 No. 97, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, October 26, 
1840, 11 also No. 107, December 19, 1840, and No. 108, December 19~ 1840 • 
.All of these dispatches outline Pakenham's actions prior to Treat's 
withdrawal. Diplomatic Correspondence of The Republic of Texas, 
II Pakenham to Treat' Mexico' November . 5 '1840' II II • 

41F .o. 50 Vol. 137 No. 77, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, August 22, 
1840, II P• 35 • 
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ships in the Texas Navy frightened many British merchants who were 

afraid of possible seizures by Texan ships. One such case concerned 

the British ship the Little~ which had been taken by Texan of­

fici~ls. Pakenham tried to solve the problem but was stymied in his 

attempt because he was the Mexican Minister, not a Mihister to Texas. 

Thus, Texas' bold diplomatic moves in 1838 and 1839 impressed 

Palmerston, and probaqly were a factor in the decision to finally con­

sider th~ recognition of Texas in 1840. 

In Novemper, 1840 Palmerston reported to Pakenhatn that negoti-· ·.· 

ations had led to three treaties between England and Texas. The first 

treaty was a treaty of commerce and navigation and contained the 

ordinary provisions found in commercial treaties. The second was a 

"Convention" which obligated Great Britain to mediate the problems 

between Mexico and 1exas, and the third was a treaty for the sup­

pression of the ~frican slave trade. The latter was so important to 

Palmerston that he insisted on the ratification of the three at the same 

time. Texas immediately accepted the first two, put debated the third 

until January, 1842, when the Texan Senate finally agreed and the 

formal ratifications were exchanged in London on June 28, 1842. 

These three treaties ironed out by Hamilton and Palmerston~ not 

only laid the foundation for British-Texas policy, but also opened the 

door to a British~Mexioan policy that remained intact for eight years. 

English involvement in Mexico grew until the outbreak of war with the 

United States in 1846. Mexico, of course, disapproved of England's 

action, and anti-British feeling was evident throughout the Mexican 

pre as. 



Palmerston outlined his reasons for signing the treaties with 

Texas in a letter to Tomas Murphy, the Mexican Charged' affaires in 

London, and in a confidential memo sent to Pakenham. Palmerston 

realized that it was quite natural for the Goveniment of Mexico to 

want to reconquer Texas but: 

Tpe experiences of the last five years ought, in the 
opinion of Her Majesty's Government, convince the Govern­
ment of Mexico that such hope has now become visionary. 
The population and military resources of Texas, and its 
defensive means of all kinds are increasing every year, 
while means of Mexico to invade and conquer Texas have 
been augmented. Texas already has a naval force superior 
to that of Mexico and a continuance of hostilities 
between the two states would lead probably to an immediate 
blockade of some of the principal Atlantic ports of 
Mexico and would thus inflict upon Mexico great in­
convenience and embarrassment which Mexico would have 
no means of retorting.42 . 

To the Mexicans these reasons were a betrayal and for two years 

various political factions referred to this action as a direct 

violation of the Anglo.Mexican treaty of 1826. Since that treaty was 

one of Amity, Commerce and Navigation, Mexico believed that Great 

Britain did not have the right to interfere, in what they considered 

a civil strife, and an internal matter. Texas to the Mexicans was 

still part of the Mexican nation, and even though they were at odds, 

Texas eventaully would resume her rightful position in the Republic. 

News of the British plans did not .reach Mexico until January, 

1841. Once recognized, a wide-.scale newspaper campaign aimed at the 

intrigue of the English Government and the outright betrayal of the 

42 F.O. 50 Vol. 14o No. 7, "Palmerston to Pakenham, November 25, 
184o, II pp. 33-35° 

.30 



Mexican Government, spread throughout the major cities of Mexico. 43 

these newspaper articles brought a complete breakdown of British-

Mexican relations. The leading journal in Mexico City, Precursor, 

which was also the voice of the government in power, led the attack 

44 
against wnat it considered to be Palmerston's betrayal. 

31 

lhe Mexicans believed that the British wanted to check the west-

ward expansion of the United States, and in the eyes of many Mexicans, 

Mexico was only a tool that was being used by the English whenever 

their interests suited them. 

England recognized Texas according to the Mexicans because of her 

commercial self .... interest. The slave issue, which England championed 

was insignificant. If England wanted to see slavery abolished, the 

Mexicans argued, she would do more than just sign a treaty to suspend 

the slave trade. Slavery would flourish in Texas and the slave trade 

with states in the United States would continue. To the Mexicans 

England was relaxing her principles in order to insure her commercial 

interests. It is interesting to recognize that these criticisms by 

Mexican newspapers, will later be reiterated by United States editors 

when the United States begins to fear British influence in Texas and 

Mexico in 1844 and 1845. Due to this widespread criticism from the 

Mexican Press, Pakenham spent most of his time refuting these stories 

against the British government. He was upset with their tone and 

constantly argued that they were not true. One article printed almost 

43Articles were found in~ Precursor,!!_ Siglo Diez x_ Nueve, 
and Piario. 

44The Precursor articles sparked the most attention, and ;I>akenham 
referred to them constantly in 1841. 
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verbatim a copy of a confidential memo, that Pakenham had sent to the 

Mexican Government. In that memo, Pakenham explained English reasons 

for the Texas negotiation. All of the reasons which Palmerston had 

given earlier to Consul Murphy were included in Pakenham•s memo. 

Of the three reasons, the Mexican Government violently opposed the 

British suggestion that Mexico could not mount and successfully re-

conquer Texas. The article, Pakenham believed was written by Senor 

Juan Almonte, the Minister of War, who outlined Mexico's plans, and 

also stressed the size of the army and the new revenues collected by 

the government which would lead to a successful attack against Texas, 

and a victory that would return Texas to her rightful place in the 

Republic of Mexico. The chances for that were slim, according to 

Pakenha.m, but more importantly, he was violently opposed to the use of 

his confidential memo, which he believed violated his good offices. 45 

Any attempt to settle the Mexican-Texan controversy proved futile 

as a result. Sebastian D. Camacho, the Minister of Foreign Affairs, 

highly respected by many in Mexico according to Pakenham, was incapable 

of settling any foreign problem since the government under Bustamente 

was totally disorganized and corrupt. 

It was at this point that Pakenham conferred with the new Texan 

agent, James Webb, in order to carry forward proposals outlined in the 

three treaties. Camacho, however, reported that Mexico could not 

acknowledge the sovereignty of Texas and as a result, any hope of a 

peaceful settlement was hopeless. 

45 F.O. 50 Vol, 1.44 No. 25, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, February 26, 
1841, 11 p. 168. 
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Fortunately, for Texas, according to Pakenham, the political 

situ,tion in Mexico was so chaotic and confused that another revolution 

was in the making; a revolution which Pakenham believed would bring 

a more favo~able government and one that would settle peacefully the 

Texas question. The revolution was led by General Valencia in the 

capital, Santa Anna in Vera Cruz, and General Mariano Paredes in the 

North. 

After Mexico became independent in 1820 it went through several 

political stages. .Under Iturbide, Mexico experimented with a monarchy, 

but that fell in 1824, when a Constitution was adopted and was pat-

terned after the United States Constitution. Thus, Mexico entered a 

period of Federalism. This weakened and after Texas declared her 

independence a Centralist government was established. As a result, 

Me~ican politics in the 184o•s was chaotic and disorganized as federal-

ists and Centralists vied for power, 

One name that constantly was heard in Mexico during the period 

was Antonio Lopez de Santa Anna. Santa Ann& was in and out of power 

fro~ 1828 through 1855. He was able to capture the attention of the 

people and several times drove foreign troops from Mexican soil. In 

1829 Spanish troops taki11g advantage of the polit.,j.cal chaos in Mexico ,, 
landed at Tampico. They came down with yellow fever shortly after 

the invasion and were forced to surrender to Santa Anna. .The war in 

Texas caused hi~ some embarrassment, but in 1839, when he drove the 

French out, he regained his stature and was in and out of the Presidency 

from 1840-1945. 

After the F),oench were assured they would receive their debts, 

Anastasio Bustamente was head of the government. The revolt led by 



the liberal generals, called for the return of federalism and the 

Constitution of 1824. Bustamente in an attempt to consolidate power 

and maintain the presidency, called for the restoration of the Con~ 

stitution of 1824, but it was to no avail because Santa Anna led his 

forces to ~e~ico City. 46 
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This revolution, although the British stressed that they were not 

involved, saw foreign citizens attacked by the Bustamente goYernment 

because he believed that foreigners instigated and financed the re­

volt.47 One newspaper article, believed that the revolution was the 

result of foreign influence to satisfy particular goals, while Mexican 

independence was thrown to the wind. An editorial in the Precursor 

stated 11 tp.at revolution was begun to convert the Mexican into imbecile 

slaves of a foreign domination. 11 48 . Al though the English during the 

revolt professed their neutrality, it was obvious that Pakenharn wanted 

a n~w government because during the revolt English trade received a 

shot in the arm from legislation and decrees passed by the Bustamente 

government. Additional duties on all foreign merchandise were dropped, 

along with internal regulation of trade in the country. 

The revolution, therefore, produced measures favorable to the 

British commerce, which would have never passed even if Pakenham had 

sent thousands of proposals and petitions to Congress or the President. 

46For a detailed discussion of the period see H.B. Parkes, 
A History of Mexico, W. H. Calcott, Santa Anna (ijorman, Oklahoma, 1936), 
and Justin"-s°mith, The War with Mexico (New~, 1919) • ......,...._ _..,.._.. ~ . 

47 F.O. 50 Vol. 147 No. 98, 11 :l>akenham to Palmerston, October 9, 
1841," p. 64. 

48;rbid., p. 66. 
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Bustamente's government needed money, and by reducing tariffs they were 

also able to increase the size of the Treasury. Pakenham also realized 

that if Bustamente succeeded he would reverse himself and these laws 

would all be revoked. Pakenham therefore favored the rebel cause 

because of liberal·policies expressed by them with regard to the foreign 

element in Mexico, These leaders, called for the establishment of 

religious toleration, and also and much more important to the English, 

foreigners would be allowed to acquire real property. The latter, 

according to Pakenham, would not only aid England, it would also prove 

benefi~ial to the Mexicans be~ause they were in need of industry and 

. t 1 '*9 cap1 a. 

Santa Anna and Paredes were able to march triumphantly into Mexico 

City on October 6, 184:1, and Santa Anna was the "de facto" ruler. 

Santa Anna's rise to power was treated with great respect by Pakenham 

and in his reports to the Foreign Office, he mentioned that when Santa 

Anna came to power in 1628 and 1832 he had a great deal of opposition 

which was not evide~t in 184:1. Success was rapid, troops came from all 

over Mexico, while civil authorities throughout the country swore 

allegiance to their new leader. Santa Anna remained in power for three 

years and controlled Mexican politics with an iron hand. 50 

After his triumphant entry, he suggested names for the Assembly 

49 F.O. 50 Vol. 14:7 No. 93, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, September ll, 
1841, II po 1. 

SOF.O. 50 Vol. 14:8 No. 93, 11Pakenham to Palmerston, October 9, 
184:1, 11 p, 1. G. L. Rives, The l.Jnited $tates and Mexico 1831..-1848. 
LL vols. (New York, 1913), pp':° 1539-546. Pakenham expressed the feeling 
that Santa Anna had a broad base of support, which Rives believes 
is true, but, also Rives mentions that Santa Anna already had expressed 
a willingness to recognize Texas. 
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of Nptables, these individuals given the high honor of choosing the 

next President, immediately appointed Santa Anna as Provisional Presi~ 

dent by a vote of 39 to 5. 51 He had a wide knowledge of his people, and 

was able to masterfully increase the bankrupt treasury with skill. He 

reduced taxes on. J;'eal estate to appease certain elements, while he 

persuaded English bondholders to accept small cash payments which 

pacified the Etlglish creditors along with many Mexicans who were against 

a total repayment. His most important source of money, the church, 

objected to certain laws, but for the most part accepted his proposals 

52 and the treasury was saved. Many objected to Santa Anna's programs 

and corrupt practices but for the most part, Pakenham and the English 

Government accepted him as the Mexican leader and thought that his 

government might solve many foreign problems. 

Sarita Anna may have ruled as a dictator but thii;; did not bother 

Pakenham, who believed that Mexico was not ready for a democratic 

representative form of government and that the form of government was 

not that important, because as he saw it, 11 there was no need for a 

constitution but for a person properly qualified to administer it when 

formed. 53 Santa Anna displayed a benevolent policy toward Great 

Britc\l.in, and he allowed foreigners to buy property. The Foreign Office, 

hoping for more concessions sent orders to Pakenham, which called for a 

51F.O. 50 Vol. 14:7 No. 93, "Pak:enham to Palmerston, October 9, 
184:1, II p. 101. See also Waddy Thompson, Recollections of Mexico 
(New York, 184:7). - . 

52R.ives, 'l'he United States and Me:dc<;>, P• 54:1. 

53 F.O. 50 Vol 0 14:7 :No. 116, 11 Pak:enham to Palmerston, November 8, 
184:1," p. 187. 
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restitution of the 10 per cent duty on all foreign merchandise, the 

full naturalization of foreigners, and above all a re-opening of the 

talks for the negotiation of a peaceful settlement of the Texas-Mexico 

question. In discussions with the new Foreign Minister Manuel ~ornez 

Pedraza, Pak:enham reported that he recognized a sincere willingness 

to at least discuss these problems, and that the general disposition 

54 of the new gove:rnment toward foreigners was favorable, 

Anti-British feelings were evident prior to the revolution, as 

mentioned earlier, but J!hgland did extend her good offices to Mexico 

and Te:icas in settling their problems. These offers of mediation 

and Qeneral counsel were not acted upon by the Bustamente Government. 

In f~ct at one time Pakenham was accused of accepting a bribe and an 

offer of l~nd from Texas, with the condition that he would persuade 

the Mexicans to recognize Texas and settle the boundary dispute. 

Pak:enham, of course, denied the charge and more than likely he was , .. 

innocent of complicity with Texas, but these suspicions hampered any 

move on his part to effect a successful peace treaty.55 The change 

in goveniment, which he had approved, brought an immediate response, 

that the possibility of opening talks existed now that Santa Anna 

was in control. 

Pak:enham believed that once $anta Anna established a sound govern~ 

ment, En1,:fJ.and could begin serious discussions over the Texas problem 

54 F .o. 50 Vol. 1L,i,7 No. 115, "Pakenham to Palmerston, November 8, 
1841," p. 179. 

55F.O. 50 Vol. 145 No. 64, 11 Pak:enham to Palmerston, July 8, 1841, 11 

p. 319~ 
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and above all, Britain could offer mediation in the dispute. But most 

people knew that Article II of the second British-Texan treaty stated: 

••• if by any means of the mediation of Her Britannic 
Majesty an unlimited truce between Mexico and Texas 
within thirty days after the present convention shall 
have been communicated to the Mexican Government by 
Her Britannic Majesty's mission at Mexico and if within 
six months from the day on which that communication 
shall have been made and in such case the Republick [sic] 
of Texas will take upon itself a position amounting 
to one million pounds sterling of the capital of the 
Foreign debt contracted by the Re6ublick of Mexico 
before the lst of January, 1935.5 

This article, once the treaty was finally ratified, was the high point 

of British influence over the Texan-Mexican imbroglio from 1840-18~8. 

Although the British were interested in Mexican affairs, and 

did become commercially involved prior to the period, they did not 

take an active interest in Mexican politics, nor did they offer 

s4ggestiqns to the Mexican Government. The advent of Texas inde-

pendence, marked the beginning, subdued and low key at first, of active 

British influence in the Mexican state of affairs. The necessity for 

a treaty with Texas, the desire to see United States' westward expansion 

checked, a deep conviction for peace, and the peaceful settlement of 

problems, outlined the British policy of active involvement in Mexico, 

from 1840 to 18~2. One discovers in analyzing the Foreign Office 

documents, that England reiterated her offer of mediation throughout 

the period, but at the same time reminded the Mexicans that they could 

not expect direct aid from her in any war. 

56F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. 26, 11Aberdeen to Pakenham, July 1, 18~2, 11 

pp. 58-68. 



Due to the revolutions within Mexico attempts at peacefully 

solving the Mexican-Texan dispute proved futile. Once Santa Anna 
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took command, and even though one would think he would close his ears 

to any peace with Texas, England diligently proposed a peaceful settle~ 

ment and above all the recognition by Mexico of Texan independence. 

The English throughout the period offered numerous plans and 

proposals to the Mexican Government in hopes of persuading them to 

recognize the independence of Texas. These suggestions were proposed 

by Lord Palmerston and also Henry Gordon-Hamilton, the Fourth Earl of 

Aberdeen, who took office in 1841 as Foreign Secretary. Aberdeen 

remained in office for five years (1841-1846). He concurred in 

Palmerston's plan for Texas. He accepted the treaties, which were 

still not ratified, and he reiterated the necessity of a peaceful 

settlement of tµe Mexican-Texan conflict. It was his belief that 

Mexioo had to realize the importar,.ce of a peaceful relationship with 

Texas, likewise Mexico must be warned of the possible United States 

intervention, and finally the loss of British trade. 

British policy was formed around these proposals, and for eight 

years, England emphasized their advantages and disadvantages. 

Bustamente's government refused to accept English interference and 

openly criticized the JIDgl~sh negotiation with Texas. Under Santa Anna 

although corruption ran rampant, and plans for reconquest of Texas were 

heard everyday, the British Ministers were able to at least talk about 

mediation. Talk was cheap but dearer still was the Mexican talk about 

war and reconquest. 



CHAPl'ER III 

WilH A CHANGE OF MINISTRY MORE MOQERATION 

The recognition of Texas and tpe negotiation of commercial 

treaties marked the beginning of English-Texan relations, but it also 

provoked a new policy in Mexico. Palmerston realized that recognition 

was necessary, and that Texas provided a new outlet for British manu-

factured goods 1 but that trade was threatened because of renewed 

atte~pts by Mexico to reconquer Texas. Palmerston concluded that any 

attempt at reconquest was futile, but he did instruct the British 

Ministers to offer their good offices as mediators. 1 However, if Texas 

and Mexico solved their problems a strong independent nation like Texas 

would block further United States' expansion and England could gain from 

the lucrative trade in Texas cotton, which probably was the reason 

2 
for Palmerston's recognition of Texas in the first place. 

Palmerston continued to suggest his plans for peace and he ad-

vised Mexico that any attempt at reconquest would fail and never 

1Texas asked for British mediation as early as 1839, when James 
Hamilton requested aid from R.ichard Pakenham., See Diplomatic Corre­
spcmc;lence of the Republic of Texas "Hamilton to Fox, May 20, 1839," 
p. 867. Pakenham also bel"I";ved Mexico wanted British assistance be­
cause of a, letter he received from Comacho, found in F •. O. 50 Vol. 145, 
No. 56, "Letter from Avila Comacho to R.ichard Pakenham, June 8, 1841," 
p. 2~6, finally Palmerston made clear his policy in a letter to Tomas 
Murphy, see F .O. 50 Vol, 140, 11 Palrilerston to Tomas Murphy, November 25, 
1840 , II p • J 5 • 

2 
A. w. Ward and G. B. Gooch (eds), Cambridge History!:!,! British 

Foreign Policy, PP• 254~256. 

40 



41 

succeed. 3 The English desire to mediate was a futile attempt since 

treaties signed by England and Texas were not finally ratified until 

1842 and the fact that Mexico was in the process of a revolution, which 

presented problems not only for foreign affairs but also for domestic 

issues. As a result, Palmerston's policy never got off the ground. He 

recognized Texas but was unable to assist in the Mexican-Texan conflict 

due to a political change in 1841 that brought in the Conservative 

Peel, and marked the end of Palmerston's reign as Foreign Secretary and 

brought into the position Earl of Aberdeen~ 

Aberdeen was npt a stranger to the Foreign Office because he had 

been Foreign Secretary under the Duke of Wellington in 1828-18JO, and 

had been involved in foreign matte~s during the Napoleonic years. Even 

though ~lmerston was a aapable Foreign Secretary and was admired by 

many for qis bold policies:.:in defense of English interests, he left 

behind many problems. Aberdeen, therefore, faced the problems in 

France, the Vnited States, South America, Mexico and Texas. 4 

As Foreign Secretary, Aberdeen became the architect for British 

foreign policies during the Peel administration. Under Wellington in 

1830, Aberdeen remained passive and t;he Duke, whom he considered much 

more qualified, handled most foreign problems. Under Peel, he was 

relaxed, Peel was an equal, a lifelong friend, and above all, Peel was 

3F.O. SQ Vol. 126 No. 56, 11 Pakenham to Palmerston, August l, 1839, 11 

p~ .33 and F.O. 50 Vol. 126 No. 36, "Palmerston to Pakenham, November 
25, 184o, 11 pp. 115.• ll6, and F.O. SO Vol. I4o, "Palmerston to Tomas 
~urphy, November 25, 1e4o, 11 p. JS. 

4wi!bur D •. Jones, ~ AlJ.e:r;,deen ~ ~ Americas, p. 2 and 
Arthur Gordon, The ~..21 Aberdeen (London, 1893), PP• 152-153, and 
Algernon Cecil, Queen Victoria fl,nd Her Prime Ministers, p. 32. ----



limited in his underst~ding of foreign problems, so Aberdeen ener-

getically assumed the leading role in handling British foreign pro­

blems during the years 1841~1845.5 

In that position Aberdeen displayed a sincere conviction and 

d.esire to settle peacefully the foreign problem of England. He 
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enjoyed hi$ work and his son reported that he enjoyed, and considered 

these years as the happiest and most successful of his entire life. 6 

As foreign Secretary, Aberdeen was mainly concerned with the settlement 

of problems with the French Government. He also faced the problem of 

boundary negotiations with the United States and the relations of 

Me~ico and Texas. 

While Aberdeen was Foreign Secretary under Wellington he had 

established diplomatic relations with France and thereby recognized 

Louis Ph,ilippe. During Palmerston's tenure in office relations with 

France had been strained and Aberdeen immediately after assuming office 

tried to mend the wounds brought about during the Palmerston years. 

Actually nothing major occurred during those years, but Palmerston 

believed so much in the British Empire that he ignored France in any 

5 Aberdeen Papers. Correspondence and Papers, off.i.c:i,al and private 
of George Gordon, afterwards (1818) Hamilton-Gordon, 4tn Earl of 
Aberclei;m, K.G.K.T., Prime Minister (b. 1784- d. 1860). British Museum, 
London, Series 4JOJ9-..4JJ58. "Correspondence with Prime Ministers 
1827 .. 1860 11 series 43056 ... 53072. In these volumes, one discovers a 
mutual friendship between Peel and Aberdeen, and also the farmer's 
acceptance of Aberdeen's policy. See also Francis Balfour, The Life 
of GE:lorge (J.i'ourth ~rl of Aberde.en (London, 1874) 11 vols., ~l~ 
';i'd Arthur Gordon, The Earl of Aberdeen, p. 155. ~........-~ '' . 

6 Arthur Gordon, The Earl of Aberdeen, p. 155. Other authors also 
belie~e that Aberdeen enj'o'y;ihis years in the Foreign Office. See 
Wilbur Jones, Lord Aberdeen.and the Americas, p. 84, and Algerson 
Cecil, Queen Victoria and He~; Ministers, p. 38. ---
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important foreign matters on the international scene. 

Aberdeen immediately established an "entente cordiale" with 

France cUld was proud of the fact that during the 184o 1 s England and 

France were able to wor~ together in matters of international im-

portahce. Their "entente cordiale" almost led tea joint declaration 

of support of Mexico during the Mexican-Texan conflict.? 

Aberdeen was also successful in his negotiations with the Unitec;l 

States. Boundary disputes erupted in Maine and Oregon. In the first 

he was able to successfully present a program which culminated in the 

Webster-Ashburton Treaty in 1842, and in the latter Aberdeen presented 

a treaty which was accepted with no amendments by the United States 

Senate for the boundaries in Oregon. Finally, and probably third on 

his list, Aberdeen presented a policy to Mexico, which he believed 

woulq settle the Texas question cUld prevent a war. This desire to 

maintain peace is evident throughout Aberdeen's life, and "if Aberdeen, 

himself, h~d been asked te designate his best quality, he would un-

8 
c;loubtedly have answered that it was his love of peace." 

When Aberdeen took office in 1841 he concurred in Palmerston's 

program in Mexico and Texas. He believed that it was in the interest 

of Great Britain to recognize the independence of Texas and also to 

establish commercial relat;ions with that independent state~ He also 

' 
?Aberdeen Papers. "Correspondence with Francois Pierre Guizot 

l'foveipber lf343-0ctober, 1960." Vol. XCVI., series No. 4,3, 134,. Peel 
and Guizot were close friends which made Aberdeen's job much easier, 
and there was an attempt, which will be discussed later, to participate 
in a joint guarantee of the Mexican ... Texan conflict. 

8 
Arthur Gordon, The Earl of Aberdeen, p. 154,. ---



believed that Great Britain, as a mediator, could settle the Mexican-

Texas conflict. Finally, he accepted the fact, as did Palmerston, 

that any attempt by Mexico to reconquer Texas would prove futile and 

in the long run, a failure. On July 1, 1842 Aberdeen outlined his 

belief that Palmerston's policy in Mexico was correct and that England 

wanted the Mexicans to recognize Texas1 because any war with Texas 

would have peen disastroqs. 9 It was in this spirit that Aberdeen 

entered the Foreign Office. Aberdeen presented a program for peace. 

He realized that British relations, political and commercial, with 

Texas and Mexico depended entirely on a peaceful resolution of their 

differences. IO 

For the first two years of Aberdeen's term as Foreign Secretary 

he presented the idea of mediation. In the three treaties negotiated 
0 

by P~lmerston England agreed to offer her offices as a mediator in 

negotiations of peace between Mexico and Texas. 11 That offer was 

presen.ted to the Mexican Government in 1841. It was refused by the 

Mexican Government, but as Pakenham outlined since the ratification of 

the treaties were not final the refusal of the Mexican Government was 

9F.o: 50 Vol. 152 No 0 26, 11 ,A.berdeen to Pakenham, July I, 1842, 
pp. 58-6,8., 

10 
Wilbur D. Jones in his Lord Aberdeen and the Americas, believes 

that Aberd.eer:i' s policy not only called for peace between Mexico and 
Texas, it also called for the mutual cooperation of France and England~ 
which would serve as a WE;!dge in the F:ranco.-American friendship, p. 35. 

11Ernest Wallace and David M. Vigness(eds), Documents of Texas 
History (Austin,. 1960),. pp. 135 ... 138. Also Diplomatic CorreTPondence 
2£ the R.epubli c ~ 'l'exas, !llfumilton .to. Lipscomb, December .3, I84o," 
p. 919~ and Jaspar Ridley, Lord Palmerston (New York, 1971), p. 267. 

~ .. , 



not important because fresh overtures would be necessary when the 

t t . t"f" 12 rea 1es were ra 1 1ed. · 

The treaties were not ratified until July of 1842. The Texans 

wanted the first which called for co~mercial agreements, while F.ngland 

demanded the last, which mea.nt the second (the most important one for 

this study) which stipulated that F.ngland would serve as a mediator, 

could not be cited and used by the British Ministers during the years 

1840-1842, had to be postponed for two years and final ratification. 13 

Once these treaties were finally ratified, Aberdeen sent special 

instructions to Pa~enham. He outlined in those instructions that due 

to the peculi,ar political circumstances of the years, 1840 and 1841, 14 

he had not been able to offer mediation to Mexico. Since that treaty 

was complete and Mexico had a stable government, Pakenham made a 

12 F.O. 50 Vol. 142 No. 4-0, "Palmerston to Pakenham, August 16, 
1841, 11 pp. 98 ... 99. 

lJCharles Webster, The Forei§ln Policy of Palmerston 18JO-l841 
(London, 1951), pp. 990 ... 991;'... W. Baring Pemberton, Lord P~r"ston 
(London, 19?4); Brian Connell, Regina V. Palmerston, The Correspondence 
Between Queen Victoria and i.fer Foreign-Ministers 1817-1865 (London, 
1962) 1 and Jasper Ridley,, L~ Palmerston, P• 267 and Joseph W. Schmitz, 
Texan Statecraft 18J6-J8, 'p. 150. · Palmerston's decision that all three 
treaties had to 'be ratified before any went into effect, was fortunate, 
because Hamilton realized the sensitivity of the Texans over the slave 
issue. Therefore he did not send the third treaty until he was able 
to prepare a defense for it and emphasize that the other two were more 
impo:i;-ta.nt than the third. For further discussi,on of Palmerston's 
anti-slave fe.eling.s. see, Charles Webster, ~ Foreign Policy £! 
Palmerston .!!!lQ.-1841 (London, 1951), pp. 490-494, w. Baring Pemberton, 
Lord Palmerston .(.Lon.don,, 1954), p. 160 1 Brian Connell, Regina V. 
Palmerston,.~ Correspondence Between Queen Victoria ~ Her Foreign 
Ministers, l!!J.Z.-~ (London, 1962), p. 220, and Jasper Ridley, ~ 
Palmerston, p. 267~ 

14Pakenham presented the idea of F.nglish mediation as early as 1840 
and 1841, but the revolutions led by Santa Anna prevented ar).Y response 
from the Mexican government. 
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formal offer of Her Majesty's good offices. Pakenham was instructed 

to point out to the Mexican Government, "That it is the earnest desire 

of Her Majesty's Government to see peace permanently established 

15 between Mexico and Texas." 

Peace was necessary, Aberdeen stated, "because of the support 

Texas would get from the people [of the United States], not the 

Govel1nment pf the United States, and the unlimited means available to 

her." He went on to say: 

Her Majesty's Government also recognizes many difficulties 
that Mexico would meet if she attempted to recover the 
possession of the area. Even if the army was successful, 
fresh troops would constantly have to be pushed into 
Texas, and the struggle, either successful or unsuccessful, 
would be disadvantageous to the Mexican system. 16 

If Mexico recognized Texas, she would not have an enemy to her 

North, but a friend, and a populous and powerful nation would be inter-

posed between Mexico and the United States. Texas would become an ally 

to the Mexicans, either against the United States, or against those 

states near Texas which might secede from the United States. By 

following this proposal Mexico would be spared from a war, while c::om-

mercial ties with Texas would grow. Aberdeen concluded in his in~ 

structions to Pakenham that, "Her Majesty's and the. enlightened heads 

[Santa Ap~a] of that gov~rnment disposed to listen with a willing ear 

· 17 to a friendly counsel sincerely offered. 11 

15F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. 26, "Aberdeen to Pakenham, July 1, 1842, 11 

pp. 58 ... 68. 

16Ibid., P• 59. 

l?Ibid,, p. 68, 



Thesie proposals were sent in July, 1842 and they form the nucleus 

for British~Mexican relations during Aberdeen's term as Foreign 

Secretary, indeed during the entire period 184:0-1848. England had no 

desire to coloni~e Texas. She had no desire to further any controls 

or take control of the Mexiqan system. She hoped for a peace between 

Mexico and Texas and in that hope suggested programs of peace~ 

These suggestions and these proposals offered by Aberdeen caused 

great consternation in the United States. rn the eyes of some, these 

suggestions were considered a d;irect interference, and they proved that 

Great Britain wanted coIJtrol in 'l'exas, Mexico, and probably California. 

However, the official Britisp position throughout the period shows 

that Great Britain wanted Texas to become a successful independent 

nation, which would insure British commercial interests in Mexico and 

Texas. 

These offers and suggestions confidentially sent or transm;itted 

to the Mexican Government might have been construed as overt English 

aid in the Mexican nation, but the evidence points in another direction. 

The conferences between the British Ministers and the Mexican Govern­

ment caused some Ameriqan respresentatives to fear British influence. 

It is possible that during the discussions Mexican officials misunder­

stood the British position, and it is also possible that some British 

citizens offered aid to the Mexican nation, during the struggle, but it 

does not seem probable in light of the correspondence from the Foreign 

Office. 

Great ~ritain was not ready to directly aid the Mexican nation 

during the period 1840.1848. Several times Aberdeen instructed the 

British Minister to state emphatically that Great Britain would not at 
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any time come to the aid of the Mexican nation. 18 Aberdeen also in~ 

structed Pakenham to remind Mexico that if the United States were to 

enter the picture, it would be impossible to maintain any hope of 

success, and as long as Mexico continued to fight Texas she had to 

contend with the United States either directly or indirectly. 

The British Government by September, 1842 tried to logically 

explain the difficulties that Mexico would encounter in another 

struggJe with Texas. The proximity of the United States increased aid 

for the Texan cause while the distance of Texas from Me:xrico City worked 

to the Mexican disadvantage in terms of supply and comnrunications. 

Mexico did have a suitable army, but as Aberdeen emphasized a victory 

which would involve immense hardship would drive the Texans to the 

United States in search of aid and even annexation. 

While counseling the Mexican officials, Aberdeen made it clear 

that Her Majesty's good offices would always be open to aid in a recon~ 

ciliation of the Mexican"Texan conflict. The British Ministers were 

constantly instructed to use their good offices wherever possible, but 

also reminded that in the event of an armed conflict Great Britain 

had to remain "strictly neutral. 11 ],. 9 

Both Charles Elliot, the English charg~ ~· affaires in Texas, 

and Richard Pakenham reiterated the British position and constantly 

offered thetr offices and their positions as mediators in the conflict. 

18F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. J4, IIAberdeen. to Pakenham, S.eptemb.er. 15, 
1842, 11 p. 86, and Merk, Monroe Doctrine and American Expansionism~ 
P• 31. Merk cites Aberdeen I s letters in """"tE"e British Museum as bis 
sollrce. 

19F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. J4, 11.A.be:rdeen to Pakenham, September 15, 
1842, 11 p. 86. 



Even though England made these statements and emphasized that they 

would not aid Mexico in any military encounter with Texas or the United 

States, certain events in 1842 led many people in the United States 

to conclude that England was directly involved in Mexican affairs. 

Early in 1842 in a circular for the diplomatic corpsj Waddy 

Thompson, the United States Minister in Mexico City reported first, 

that an agent of Mexico was in England negotiating for the sale of 

the mortgage of Upper Califo;rnia for a loan of $15,000,000 and that 

two large steam frigates were set to sail from England for Mexico with 

Engl.ish crews and English officers. These ships were to be deployed 

in the war against Texas and one of these ships was to be actually 

commanded by an officer in tqe British Navy who retained his commission 

in that Navy and received a furlough to enable him, with the consent of 

his government, to take that commission. 20 

Thompson believed that this was direct intervention and he asked 

whether "England would be allowed to engage in a war on this cont"i~ 

21 nent?" T)lompson further repo;rted that General Santa Anna talked 

freely of war with the United States and Texas and said that within a 

few days he would receive affirmation of aid from England. These 

reports could not be taken lightly, according to Thompson, because 

English influence in Me~dco was very pronounced. 

Furthermore, all of the principal commercial houses were Engl,ish, 

and the principal mines were in the hands of English companies. This 

20nispatches from United States Ministers to Mexico 1823-1906, 
Nation~l Archives ~Research Service, Washington, D.C. ~y~a 
Circular for the Diplomatic Corps, July JO, 1842," pp. 68-69. 

21 Ibid. 
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commercial interest averaged around $15,000,000 annually for the 

British treasury. A trade which Thompson believed the United States 

could enjoy if the Texas question was solved. The Mexicans at that 

partic~lar time, according to 'lb.ompson, hated the United States and were 

very bitter in their outlook. Great preparations were in process for 

an invasion of Texas and that invasion could come, according to 

Thompson, as early as the fall of 1843 if funds were obtained, which 

Thompson believed would come from England. Thompson's observations 

however, aroused antagonism in the United States. 

It must be noted that Waddy Thompson was an ardent supporter of 

annexation. He introduced the question of annexation in the House of 

Representatives in August, 1837. Thompson also changed his mind about 

English interference when he returned from Mexico in his work, 

Recollection~, he stressed the English commercial involvement in 

Mexico, 1:;lut concluded that England's interests in Mexico were not 

enough to bring about direct aid in any Mexican War. 

That England desired a port in California cannot be denied, plus 

the ~ccusation over the steam frigates from England to Mexico could 

not be denied. Many British merchants and citizens were interested in 

California. 'Ibey were afraid that an unfriendly power would control 

the valuable Pacific ports, which would h~rt British commerce. 

California, however, would become more important later. 

Regarding the two ships being built and outfitted in English 

harbors, l21gland admitted that they were being built for the Mexican 

Government. As a result, Texas accused England of being directly 

involved in Mexican affairs. Aberdeen in discussions with the Texas 

, 
charged' affaires in London, pointed out that these ships, the ..,.. 
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11Quadelupe 11 and "Monterrey," were being built under a contract with 

the Lizardi and Company, business firm. He emphasized that these ships 

were not being out~itted for war. 

Indeed, he instructed the British Minister in Texas and informed 

, 
the Texas charge!!_' affaires in London that orders were sent to 

Lizardi and Company that these ships could not be outfitted with guns 

and al!1!11unition. Aberdeen conducted a thorough examination of British 

law and searched the British archives for a precedent in the case; 

finding none he made the ruling that declined authorization to arm 

vessels, but continued by saying: 

• although arming of vessels by private individuals 
in British ports is prohibited by law there is no such 
prohibition against the purchase or export of arms by 
private individuals. The trade in arms is free, although 
the placing of those arms in ~2position of offense on 
board of ships is prohibited. 

These ships were not the property of the Mexican Government and would 

not become the property of the Mexican Government until they were 

trani;ferred to that government in Vera Cruz. Nevertheless, •Texas and 

the United States were still alarmed. 

As to the British sailors c;U1d British officers on board, Aberdeen 

, 
in several discussions with Ashbel Smith, the Texas charge ..1' affaires, 

related that these English sailors were no longer in the service of 

22F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. 4:7, ".Aberdeen to Pakenhain, July 15, 184:2, 11 

p. 92. For further discussion of the affair see Hansard' s Parliamentary 
Debates, ';[lhird Series Vol. LXV, f;r,om July 12-August 12, 1842. (London, 
1842), pp. 964~965. Also see F.O. 50 Vol. 154: No. 79,,August 29, 1842, 
p. 304:; F.O. 50 Vol. 155 No. 82, "Ward to Aberdeen, September 10, 184:2, 11 

F 0 0. 50 Vol. 154 No. 4, ''Aberdeen to Pakenham, July 7, 1842," pp. 186-
189; F. o. 50 Vol. 157 No. 2, "Aberdeen to Murphy, May 31, 1842, 11 p. J8; 
F.O. 50 Vol. 157, "From Admiralty, October 27, 184:2, 11 pp. 90-91; and 
F .o. !50 Vol. 155 No. 82, "Ward to Aberdeen, September ~o, 184:2, 11 pp. 
10-lJ. 
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the British Navy, that they had given up their commissions in the 

British Navy and that they had resigned in order to assume a more 

23 lucrative position on board these Mexican steam frigates. British 

officers mentioned in the Thompson report were on leave from the British 

Navy, but they were given express orders from Aberdeen's office through 

the Admiralty that they could not take commissions with the Mexican 

Navy without losing all their rights as British citizens. Aberdeen 

further argued that he considered it inexpedient for British officers 

to take command of Mexican ships because of the state of affairs be-

tween Great Britain and Texas. 

tte allowed the leaves of absence to continue as long as the ships 

were unarmed. If they were armed these sailors had to consider their 

leaves of absence as cancelled and must give up their respective em-

ployments. The officers involved in this, Thomas Cleveland and Charles 

Charleswood 1 both were on board the Guadelupe when the Admiralty in 

1842 ordered them to retu;r-n to England as soon as Pak.enham and 

Aberdeen discovered that the Guadelupe and the Monterrey were armed 

ships of war. Smith protested that tne mere recall of the officers 

still fell far short of the policy of strict neutrality, but Smith, 

however, does concede that the constant attempt by Aberdeen to offer 

medi~tion to the Mexican government, does represent a sincere attempt 

to carry out the policy outlined in the Second Treaty. 24 

23Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas, "Smith to 
Jones, May 17, 1842, 11 p. 957. ~l-;;- ii"s;i th to Jon;;, June 3, 1842, 11 

p. 960; "Smith to Jones, July 3, 1842, 11 p. 972 amd "Smith to Jones, 
August 13, 1842, 11 p, 999. 

24Ibid., "Smith to Jones, October 17, 1842, 11 p. 1028. 
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The ships were delivered to the Mexican Government, as Pakenham 

reported, and their appearance in the Gulf of Mexico did strengthen 

the Mexican position and furthered the Mexican cause in their struggle 

with Texas. The incident, however, did little to aid the English cause, 

and her hope for a peaceful settlement of the Mexican-Texan conflict. 

Texas threatened to blockade the Mexican coast after they heard 

of the two ships in England. Pakenham believed that a blockade was 

possible, but with the addition of the two ships that threat diminished 

and the trade would remain free and open. Aberdeen probably realized 

this and as a result never acted harshly on the construction of the 

ships. In fact he mentioned to Smith that if Mexico can contract for 

the sh:ips, the Texans also had that privilege. 

Likewise, the ships caused a great stir in the United States. 

Newspaper articles, particularly in 'l'he Daily Picayune, stressed that 

Englfmd was not directly involved in the Mexican~Texan difficulty and 

. 25 that England was directly aiding the Mexican cause. If England 

wanted to militarily aid Mexico in her struggle with Texas, it seems 

doubtful that she would continue her efforts for an unconditional 

recognition of Texan independence. 

Aberdeen faced another problem in 1842, with the rise of Santa 

Anna~ After successfully defeating the Bustamente government, Santa 

Anna ruled with an iron hand, and in order to maintain power, Santa 

Anna increased the size of the army, and the number of recruits in 

three months increased by 18,000 which meant that he could boast of an 

25Daily Picayune, November 27, 1842, p. 2. 
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army qf 30,000 men. The reasons for the increase, Santa Anna argued, 

were for the long march on Texas and rucatan. 

Yucatan, like Texas, was isolated from Mexican affairs due to the 

distance from Mexico City. During the revolutions of 1840 and 1841, 

Yucatan had declared its independence, and Santa Anna promised to 

reconquer both areas. Yucatan agreed to rejoin Mexico in a Treaty 

signed in 1841, but it was able to retain its own sovereignty. Santa 

26 Anna ignored the treaty, and sent 1500 men to reconquer the area. 

Santa Anna planned to be; independent of any constitutional congress 

and with a large army he could dissolve Congress whenever it suited 

his purpose and rule as a dictator. These military maneuvers compli-

cated the :problem as Mexico prepared for war. European guns were pur-

chased andmo~nted at the castle of San Juan de Ulloa. San Juan 

de Ulloa, was the fortress in the Vera Cruz harbor, and it presented a 

barrier ag~inst any foreign invasion. Puring the French invasion in 

1839 the fort fell, so Santa Anna took steps to refortify the fort in 

1842. 

Pakenham reminded the British Foreign Office, that even the 

strongest guns and the largest guns in Europe could not defend the 

Mexican nation because other things were required besides a mere 

arma~ent and huge weaponry. Unless a corresponding improvement was 

noticeable in the state of military science and discipline in Mexico it 

was~ vain hope that the Mexicans could protect themselves with these 

huge caliber guns. 

26w. H. Calcott, Santa Anna, p. 178. 

27F.o. 50 Vol. 153 No. 29, "J?akenham to Aberdeen, April 7, 1842, 11 

p. 221. 
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Santa Anna led several attacks against Texas and in March of 1842, 

he moved against San Anto~io and Corpus Christi, but in both cases he 

retreated south ot the Rio Grande River. 28 These raids were carried 

out because Mexican officials were afraid that the Texans were already 

tired of their independence and they would gladly annex themselves to 

the United States. 29 Annexation could not be tolerated by most Mexicans 

and only reaffirmed their desire to see Texas reconquered by the Mexican 

Army. 

While Santa Anna realigned his forces and carried on border raids 

in Texas, n~wspapers in the United States suggested that Mexico was not 

only being encouraged in a war against Texas but also a hostile policy 

against tbe United States. In fact,~ Daily Picayune, in an editorial 

openly accused the aritish of encouraging a war between Mexico and the 

United States. England, according to the article, guaranteed a loan of 

$6,000,000 with the condition that a war of extermination be carried on 

by that government. 

Pakenham was perplexed by the article, especially since he had been 

instrumental in aiding the American Minister in his quest to satisfy 

American claims and demands. These claims were met and ~hompson of-

ficially thanked Pakenham for his assistance in settling the claims. 

Yet, Pakenham did recognize an anti~American feeling in Mexico and 

went on to say; 

28 
George L. Rives, The Vnited States and Mexico, p. 485 • ........,_.. '. . . -- ..,._ 

~9F.O. 50 Vol. 153 No. 29, 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, April 7, 1842," 
P• ~21. 



The feeling of the Mexican Government towards the 
United States is at this moment certainly not friendly 
on account of the sympathy manifested in that country 

' in favor of Texas, and because the government seems to 
.be convinced that in the event of active hostilities 
with Texas the United States would afford to the Texans 
every possible assistance short of an open rupture with 
Mexico. 

Under these circumstances I am satisfied that with 
the. least encourag,emi!!ht of expect'a'tion of supp~from 
'ifri'g1and the Mexican Government would setthe Unite-;r-­
States at defiance.,. which conviction ~es it necessary 
for me to observe great caution in my language with the 
~b~s~f that gove:mment whene;;rthe subject~t~r 
relation~with ~ United States~ ~ught for~d.30 

[Underlining is my own] 
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Pakenharn did report that a ~etition by the Mexican Government was 

made for a loan in England. The loan was to be for $Jo,ooo,ooo, half 

paid in bonds and half in money, and the interest on the loan was to 

be paid by duty on articles of cottom manufacture which were at that 

time prohibited in Mexico. The loan was to be guaranteed by the 

aritish Government, but Mexico had to enter into a solemn agreement for 

repayment. When this loan was first suggested, Pakenham believed it 

deserved some attention, since new trade in cotton manufacture would 

aid English trade. 

Mexico, by adopting such a policy, erased a manufacturing system 

that was totally unsuited in Mexico, and the Mexican bonds in England 

could be repaid from interest from the new loan. Exports from Mexico 

to England would have increased by $2,000,000 annually, plus capital-

ists and investors could reap a good profit in England by supplying the 

money. 

The problem, once the project was announced in Mexico, came from 

JOF.O. 50 Vol. 154: No. 57, "Pakenham to Aberdeen, June 21, 184:2," 
pp. 86 .. 87. 
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Mexican citizens who immediately argued that the loan placed Mexico 

as a tributary to England. Pakenham stated that if the transaction had 

taken place the money probably would have been used against Texas. 

Thus, British money would have been used against the policy of moder-

ation and peace which they were advocating. 

The problems over border raids between the two caused great concern 

on the part of the English because President Santa Anna constantly 

talked of reconquering Texas which hurt the cause of peace. In June 

of 18~2, Santa Anna spoke to the constituent assembly and in that 

s.peiech he stated: 

The colossus [ The United States] has placed one foot 
on Texas and nothing but an energetic and individual govern­
ment can check his further advance. We will change strength 
for weakness, union for division, harmony for discord. My 
earliest attention is directed toward the territory of 
Texas which has been usurped with a view to facilitate 
further usurpations. the Army is now preparing itself 
for this noble enterprise and on this day, ever memorable 
of the national representatives, I take pleasure in laying 
before them the wish of my government, the desire of the 
army, and the wish of the people.31 

Talk such as this hindered the English government and as Mexico 

threatened to blockade the Texas coast, English commerce was threatened. 

Pakenham received news of the British~Texan treaties ratification 

in August of 1842. It offered to the Mexican Government Her Majesty's 

mediation. The Mexican Foreign Minister was quiet about mediation with 

Texas. He did say that in the event of any country recognizing the 

independence of Texas a strict policy will be adopted by the Mexican 

Government. As a result, Pakenham believed in August of 1842 that 

31F.O. 50 Vol, 154 No. 57, "Pakenham to Aberdeen, June 21, 1842," 
p. 160. 
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mediation would not come. At the end of his dispatch on August 28, 

1842, he said, "The Mexican Government continues to give out, that in 

the course of the approaching winter preparations already in progress 

for an invasion of Texas will be completed and that early in the 

.32 following spring the campaign will be opened. 11 

The antagonism between Texas and Mexico negated any attempt at 

mediation, While Mexico under Santa Anna fanned the fires of war, 

Texas maintained a large army and several raids were carried out by 

Texan volunteers who wanted to maintain the Rio Grande River as their 

southern bor~ers. One of the most publicized raids was carried out by 

the Texas army against Santa Fe, New Me:x:ico. 

Since Mexico was divided between centralist and federalist sup-

porters, and since there was in the Texas revolution itself a rebellion 

against centralist ideas, President Lamar believed, with good reason, 

that the bulk of the population in Santa Fe, New Mexico were opposed 

to the centralist forces in Mexico City and that these citizens would 

welcome a chance to separate from that oppression. 33 

33Mirabeau B. Lamar, born in Georgia of a distinguished family of 
statesmen and military men. He had served in the Georgia state legis­
lature and ran unsuccessfully for Congress. He was also an editor of 
the Columbus Enquirer. His wife died in 1830. It was a great tragedy 
for him, and in 1835 he sold hi~ newspaper and went to Texas. 

Initially, he hoped just to visit Texas, but on his arrival, he 
threw himself into the life of the Mexican province. He was one of the 
first to urge that Te:x:as declare its independence from Mexico. After 
the news of the Alamo and of Goliad, Lamar joined Houston's army as a 
private. 

At the battle of San Jacinto Lamar personally, through his 
actions, saved the cavalry, who at that time were surrounded by the 
enemy. Lamar was then commissioned a colonel and was placed in charge 
of the Texas cavalry. With the cavalry he was instrumental in a charge 
on Siinta Anna during that important battle at San Jacinto. Lamar, 
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Lam?tr also hoped to establish lines of commerce and political 

alliance with the citizens of Santa Fe. In 1839 he had been given the 

authorization to open a trade with the Mexicans on the Rio Grande. 

With this resolution he decided that it encompassed not only the 

citizens along the Rio Grande but also the settlements in New Mexico. 

He advocated an expedition to Santa Fe primarily for purposes of trade, 

and because the value of any commerce between Santa Fe and Texas would 

be immense. In 184o he urged citizens to seriously think about an 

expedition to Santa Fe. In 1841 he issued a call for volunteers. The 

purpose of the expedition was to open trade and entice the Mexicans 

into an alliance with Texas or even to become a part of the Texas 

t . 34 na ion. 

In reality, the expedition itself was military. The problem, 

however, was that Manuel Armijo, the governor of New Mexico, was able to 

stop the advance party. One member of that advance party turned 

himsel.q' was against the release of Santa Anna after the battle, and 
demanded the execution of Santa Anna. 

The President, Edward G. :Sl\rnet, later appointed Lamar as major 
general of the Texas Army and commander-in-chief. The Texas army at 
that time was in a hectic position, and when Lamar arrived to take 
command, he was asked at an informal meeting of the officers not to 
take command as m?tjor general, Lamar later put the question to his 
troops, and they voted 15 to l ·against his taking command. Lamar re­
mained, somewhat uncertain as to his plans. He again asked his of­
ficers their opinion, and on the following day he retired. The army 
was still in a confused state, and Lamar was forced to resign and leave 
i;he cqmp. 

Later Lamar 
administration was 
public's history. 
he gained stature 
multiplied. 

was elected President, and for three years, his 
perhaps the most important one in the young re~ 
He advocated greater European alliances, but while 

in world affairs, the domestic problems in Texas were 

34Joseph Schmitz, Texan Statecraft, pp. 170-l?l· 



traitqr. Armijo, being an astute general, used Captain William G. 

Lewis, and he convinced the rest of the Texans to lay down their arms 

without firing a shot. 35 
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The Mexicans were able to take as prisoners the entire expedition, 

and Armijo ordered that they be sent to Mexico City. They tried to 

convince Armijo that the expedition was peaceable, but Armijo would 

not listen. The prisoners were handed over to the Mexican officials 

at Perote. Castle, a small castle outside Mexico City, which became the 

prisoner-of-war camp. Some of the Texan prisoners from the Texas-

Santa Fe expedition, were able to escape; others died from yellow 

fever and exposure while being held captive in Mexico. The harsh 

treatment given these prisoners sparked a great deal of response from 

the foreign diJ:!lomats in Me:icico City. 

Pakenham approached the question of this expedition very 

cautiously. His first response was to ask whether any aritish subjects 

t d . th a·t· . 36 If h th t tf 1 b were arres e in e expe i ion. so, e was en ac u, ecause 

he w~ted to investigate and find out if the situation was entirely 

peaceful and whether or not the Texan citizens went on the trip to hurt 

or destroy Mexican property. 

In a discussion regarding the prisoners of war held at Perote 

Castle, Pake~hclJll and Duff Green asked Santa Anna to pardon and release 

the prisoners. General James Hamilton, who was still in Europe 

atte~pting to negotiate the $4,ooo,ooo loan to Texas, was concerned 

35Joseph Schmitz, Texan Statecraft, pp. 170-171. 

36 , 
F.O. 50 Vol, 152 No. lJ, "Aberdeen to Pakenham, May 2, 1842," 

and F.0.•50 Vol. 142 :No. 17, 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, February 17, 1842,1' 
p. 149. 



about the prisoners of war and in a letter to Richard Pakenham ex-

pressed his interest in the prisoners and asked that Pakenham deliver 

a confidential letter to General Santa Anna. 37 

In this confidential memo, Hamilton stated, 

I take the liberty of proposing to Xour Excellency, 
if you think it consistent w:i,th the honor and interest 
of Mexico, tpat a treaty of peace and limitation should 
be entered into with Texas upon the basis of an indemni­
fication of $5,000,000, together with $200,000 which will 
be se§8etly placed at the hands of the Mexican govern-
ment. . 

Hamilton was ready to bribe Santa Anna into a treaty of peace and 

limitation, a bribe which had precedent, and was not beyond the means 

of any expectation of hope, since Santa J\.nna 'in the past was known to 

enter into such agreements. The problem was that this note was pre-

sented by Richard Pakenham. 

Pakenham, when he heard of the contents of the note, was very 

upset and extended his extreme apologies to President Santa Anna, and 

asked that Santa Anna limit his discussion with Hamilton, and also 

denied any knowledge of the contents of the letter. 39 Santa Anna, 

after receiving the note, seemed to take it almost as a joke ar:J.d said 

he would forward an answer at a later date. That answer never came, 

and Pakenham was very glad that it did not, but the incident caused 
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some concern, not only in England but in the United States, because it 

37F.O. 50 Vol. 152 No. 18, 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, February 17, 
1842 11 p. 143. See al,so London Times, April 22, 1842, p. 5. 

' 
38:F.o. 50 Vol. 153 No. 18, 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, February 17, 

1842, 11 p. 143. 

39Ibid. 
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seemed to further suggest that Great Britain was influencing Mexican 

policy toward Texas and the United States. 

Pakenham in several letters to the British Foreign Office, re~ 

iterated his ignorance with regard to the content of Hamilton's 

letters. He delivered them purely because he felt that Hamilton might 

be able to settle the quest\on of the prisoners of war held at Perote 

Castle. 

Meanwhile, Texas was very concerned over the statements by Santa 

Anna that Mexico would reconquer their lost territory. The government 

was in the process of establishing a sizable army, which they hoped 

would compel the Mexicans to acknowledge their independence and main-

t . 4:o ain peace. 

Interestingly, Texas was concerned about the English involvement, 

because many Texans became so proud of their military achievements that 

they argued that the only way the Republic of Texas could maintain 

itself would be if England interfered. 41 Otherwise, Texas would attack 

and conquer the Mexican nation. These threats from the Texan government 

probably were mere statements of propaganda on the part of Texan 

citizens, because in reality Texas suffered from confusion, governmen-

tal problems, lack of money, and a general disruption and dissatisfac­

tion within their army. 42 Neither Texas nor Mexico was in a position to 

40 F.O. 50 Vol. 153 No. 18, 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, February, 17, 
1842, 11 p. 14J. 

41 LQndon Times~ June 15, 1842, p, 6. 

42Joseph Schmitz, Texan Statecraft, p. 174. 



hurt the other much. Both limited themselves to small attacks along 

the frontier in 1841 and 1842. 

Mexico seemec:l content to make a few scattered moves ip order to 
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prove to her citizens that Texas would be reconquered. In September of 

1842 she moved on San Antonio where 18 Mexicans were wounded, one 

killed, and 62 prisoners taken. Mexico could not attack in a full 

scale offensive so she harassed and alarmed the citizens on the fron-

tier, while she maintained at home the idea that war was still in 

43 process. 

At the end of the year 1842 Texas troops crossed the Rio Grande 

River and committed acts of violence and sacked the city of Laredo 

and dissension within the forces prevented actual victory. The troops, 

700 in all, were under the leadership of General Alexander Somervell. 

It had been his orders to harass the enemy, and, if necessary, follow 

them across the Rio Grande River, if he thought it was advisable. The 

Mexican troops, however, were really unable to combat Somervell, but 

did put up a staunch defense at Laredo. 

During the month of December, 1842, Somervell.and his troops 

marched up and down the valley near Laredo in an attempt to break any 

Mexican attack or any Mexican force. However, Somervell then ordered 

his forces back to Texas to be disbanded. 

Some of his tropps, however, did not want to go back yet, and a 

group of about300 organized themselves under the command of William S. 

Fisher, Fisher and his men, al though they were engaged in outright 

mutiny, moved across the Rio Grande and down river to the small town 

43Joseph M. Nance, After San Jacinto (Austin, 1963), pp. 481-498. 
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of Mier, They were able to take from the town supplies and money. They 

took as hostages the local priest and the alcalde, and then withdrew 

across the river to ma.l<;e camp. During this time the centralist Mexican 

general, Pe~o Ampudia, slipped into the town of Mier with about 2,000 

men. Fisher, realizinQ that the town was being reinforced, decided to 

attack. 

With a force of about 261, he began the attack on December 26. 

The Texans, though outnumbered, put up a good fight and the battle 

went on into the night and began again the next morning. During the 

battle the Mexican forces under ~mpudia were almost broken, and he 

sent up the white flag. He demanded the surrender of the Texans, as 

prisoners of war, and in hopeless desperation the Texans, outnumbered 

' by about 15 to 1, decided to capitulate. 

lf the Texans had not surrendered~ the Mexican forces might have 

i;;urrendered tllemselves becaq.se the Mexican forces lost about 600 men to 

only JO for the Te:icans. If Texas had held out just a 1i ttle longer, 

the huge victory would have been taken by the Texans at this particular 

battle. The prisoners were taken, and Ampudia had promised to give 

them all constderation possible, but as soon as the Texans laid down 

their arms they were immediately sentenced to be executed. Ampudia 

did commute their sentence to imprisonment, and they were marched to 

Matamoros, and from there to Mexico City. 

The$e prisoners in 181±3 were able to overthrow their guards and 

escape, most of them scattering in any possible way in the hope to 

recross the Rio Grande River. Many of them lost their way; some of 

them died from starvation and eXPosure, but they were finally forced 

to surrender again, many individually and others in groups. The final 
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toll was 176 surrendered and recaptured by the Mexican forces. Santa 

Anna immediately ordered that all 176 be executed. 

At this time the British minister, Pakenham, decided to intervene 

and ~rgued that tnis action would definit~ly bring constant criticism 

from the rest of the foreign governments throughout the world. Santa 

Ann.a com~uted the sentence and stated that he would not execute all 176 

prisoners, but would execute one out of ten. Seventeen, therefore, 

were ordered to be executed. The 17 men to be executed were chosen at 

a small village known as Salado, and the determination of who was to be 

exec~ted was carried out by mixing 17 black beans into a pot with 159 

white beans. Then each prisoner filed past the jar, reaching in to 

pick a bean. The 17 men were led into a courtyard; all were blind-

folded and all shot. 

This execution startled the civilized world and there was a great 

deal of resentment againS.t the Mexican forces and further evidence of 

Santa'Anna•s butcnery, which inflamed the Texas citizens. The remainder 

of the prisoners were taken to :Pe;rote Castle, where they remained in 

cells along with many of the prisoners previously taken in 1841. Some 

were able to escape, otpers died of starvation and disease, and not 

until September 16, 1844, were the prisoners released by Santa J\nna 

under the pressure of foreign diplomats, particularly the British 

.. t 44 minis e;r. 

This particular military encounter did spark a great deal of 

enthusiasm, however, in Mexico. The·Mexicans werie assured now that 

44F.O. ,50 Vol. 161 No. 13, "Pakenham to Aberdeen, February 24, 
1843," P• 40. 
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they could defeat Texas. They felt that this military encounter 

proved that Texas was weak and disunited and Mexico could, if possible, 

win a military victory, Mexico as a result would not entertain any 

accommodation with Texas. 

After the failure of the Texas-Santa Fe expedition an.d the Mier 

tragedy, President Lamar attempted once more to bring about a peaceful 

settlement with the Mexican nation. He appointed James Webb, his 

Secretal;'Y of State, as a special agent to Mexico with the express 

orders of trying to bring about a peaceful treaty between Texas and 

Mexico. In that treaty Webb was to argue, as Barnard Bee and James 

Treat had argued earlier, for a complete recognition of Texas, and was 

not to give up the ~io Grande as the boundary. Webb sailed to Vera 

Cruz, but was not able to land. He asked Pakenham to intervene and 

come to his aid. Pakenham, however, was not able to discuss the 

matter witn the Mexican Government, and in 1843 it seemed as if media­

tion was hopeless and any peacemission by Texas was impossible. 

By 1843, Texan representatives in England, and the British 

Ministers all agreed that mediation was not possible. The Mexicans 

under Santa Anna rejected all the British suggestions, and it was 

necessary according to Aberdeen to seek other methods to solve the 

conflict between the two. 

England's policy as outlined in the second treaty in 1842, did 

not materialize, due to the constant border raids of the two and the 

fact that James Webb was not allowed to land or even to discuss an.y 

of the problems between Mexico and Texas. By the end of 1842 the 
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problem had reached an impasse and new proposals were necessary before 

any mediation would succeed. By 1843 England had to reassess her 

pl1:1ns for a peaceful Mexican-fe~an frontier. 



MORJi; OF 'l.'HE SAM!l: MODEAA'l'lON l,TRGED 

BY BRITAJN AT fULL SPElp) 

In March, 184J Santa ,Anna again assumed the Presidency, As 

always, his administration and conduct caused great consternati011, in 

Mexico, and presented many problems for the foreign diplomats in 

Me;x:ico City. The military victory at Mier prompted many in Mexico to 

call f<>r wa:r, while Texi;ts agents, ell!pecially James Webb, called for 

war sin~e Mexico re;t'uijed to discuss a peaceful arrangement, 
1 

In Narch, 18~3 Richard Pakenham left Mexico City on a leave of 

absence and Will:i.am ·Ward -the charse ..!!,' affaires, took over until the 

arriyal of Thomas Doyle. Before leaving Pakenham had a special meeting 

with S$11ta .Anna, and discussed the state o, affairs in Mexico. Santa 

Anna hinted that he was willing to negotiate an armistice with l'e~as 

but that ne wanted G~eat Britain to supervise the negotiations. 

P~enham cQnsidered this a breakthrough and he wabted to iron out 

details with Santa Anna before he returned home in March, 184.J. Santa 

-Anna became ill, however, and even Thomas Poyle, Pl:lkenham's replacement 

1 
F.O. 50 Vo;t., 161 :fio. 8, "Pakenham to Aberdeen, Feb;ruary 26, 

1843, ". p~ ~. 'l't!.e Me!X!iqans by 184.3 beUeved that. if· they judiciously 
planned an attack against l'exas, they could reconq,uer the area, Also·. 
F,Q. 50 Vol. 16l..No. J.4, ''P~entiam to Aberdeen, March 22., 1843," 
p. 80. 
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was unable to meet with him until May 24, 1843, a month and a half 

after his arrival in Mexico City. 2 

69 

In their discussion, Santa Anna stated that he was not adverse to 

buying a settlemrn1t from Texas, and tllat he would send his terms to 

tlle l>resident of Texas thrqugh a Texas prisoner of war, James Robinson. 3 

Finally, and most important, Santa Anna said that he would acc;;ept an 

armistice ~nd a peace if Texas acknowledged the sovereignty of Mexico. 4 

Doyle believed that Santa Anna was serious, and immediately 

corresponded with Charles Elliot, the English charged' affaires in 

Texas. Doyle and Elliot, without instructions from the Fo~eign Office 

pressed for an armistice and an end to the hostilities along the 

border.5 

Doyle knew that .England wanted an armistice. Since Santa Anna 

said that he wanted an armistice, Doyle went ahead with plans for 

negotiations, This activitiy started more rumors i~ the United States, 

when it was discovered that the British Ministers were actively involved 

in negotiations. Indeed, Santa Anna stipulated that the armistice could 

not end until one of the British Ministers was informed of such action. 

'2 . 
F.O. 50 Vol, 161 No. 20, "Pakenham to Aberdeen, March 23, 1843," 

p. i;6. In this dispatch :Pakenham reports his meeting with Santa Anna, 
but •lso his fa!lure to follo~ :i,t through d1,.rn to $ant,;1 Anna's illness. 
Ward, the temporary replacement, also reports the illness in F.O. 50 
Vol. 161 No. ;I. 11 Ward tQ Aberdeen, March 25, 1843, 11 p. 142. Finally 
Doyle after his arrival on April 5, reports that he was unable to meet 
Santa Anna, in F.O. 50 Vol. 161 No. 1, 11Doyle to Aberdeen, April 24, 
1843," p. 151. 

3F.O. 50 Vol. 162 No. 24, !'Doyle to Aberdeen, May 25, 1843," 
pp. 96 .. 101 an<;l Wilfred Calc;<;>tt, Santa Anna, p. 190. 

4 F.o. 50 Vol. 162 No. 24 "Doyle to Aberdeen, May 25, 1843, 11 p. 96. 

5Ibid., P• 97. 



The Foreign Office expressed some concern over the energetic actions 

by the ministers, but the fact that Santa Anna had expressed a desire 

to talk overshadowed the British Minister's unwarranted action. 6 

Santa Anna gave Adrien Wall, a French soldier of fortune, full 

power to negotiate an armiatice with the Texas delegates. That 
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Arlllistice contained four stipulations. First, the armistice would last 

as long as there was a chance of peace between the two. Second, while 

there were negotiations all fighting would end. Third, during the 

negotiations both armies would stay in camp, but if citizens crossed 

the borders the truce was not broken. Finally, the two Texan agents 

responsible for drawing up the armi~tice would be recognized as being 

empowered to conclude the peace negotiations. 7 

'rhe armistice was drawn UP by Don Antonio Maria Jauregue and 

Colonel Manvel Maria Laderas, while Texas was represented by G. W. 

Hackley and~. M. Williams. The latter two were given the responsi-

bility of negotiating a treaty once the Armistice went into effect. 

The Foreign Office was glad to hear of Santa Anna's change of 

heart because negotiations were now possible, but Aberdeen was still 

conc~r.ned over the aove;re;i.gnty issue, and he reemphasized in his 

instructions to :Poyl e: 

••• assuming the propositions to have been made 
in pe:r;fect since:r:i, ty, tllat as the independence of 
Texas, although not formally recognized, is thereby, 
to all :i,ntents and purposes, virtually admitted, 
it would be much wiser and more conducive to the 
true interest of Mexico, if the Mexican government 

6w. D • .Jones, Lord Aberdeen and the Americas, p. 34. F.O. 50 
Vol. 163 No. 51, 11:Poyle to Aberdeen, July 30, 1843," pp. 64-69. 

7London Times, May 15, 1844, p. 8. 



inste~d of clinging to the vain shadow of a mere 
nomin~l sovereignty or see~ing to satisfy a barren 
point of honnour [ sic] WOllld go one step further, 
and determine to ackno~ledge at .once the entire 
independence of Texas. 

lf Mexico acknowledged the independence of Texas, Mexico might 

reap the benefits of greater concessions from the Texans. Aberdeen 

true to his British interests, probably wanted recognition because he 

saw a chance for the abolition of $lavery in Texa$. If Texas was 

recognized, and if a boundary was delineated, by Mexico, the Texans 

in response might unilaterally abolish slavery and benefit all man~ 

kind. 9 
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The l3ritiah representatives, Elliot in Texas, and Doyle in Mexico, 

worked diligently during the armistice discussions. Elliot was 

convinced that Texas wanted to maintain her independence, and the surest 

way to that goal was a calm and peaceful border with Mexico. Elliot 

the;J;"efore stressed the importance of negotiations, and the hope of 

compromise which meant that Mexico would recognize independence. Doyle 

on the other hand, recognized the need for an armistice, but was not 

certain whether Santa Anna really wanted peace or was stalling for time. 

Aberdeen was also concerned about the actions of the Santa Anna 

government, and the since;ri ty of their programs. Doyle was confronted 

with case after case of Mex;i,can chicanery and outright corruption which 

led to a severe anti-.t,h;ndcan feelin,g among the British delegation in 

8 
F.o. 50 Vol. 160 No. 10, ''Aberdeen to Doyle, July 1, 1843," 

pp. 75..,78. 

9 rbid 0 Also Hansard'$ Parliamentary Debates. On August 18, 1843, 
Lprd Brogham believed.that if Mexico recognized independence, Texas 
would abolish slavery, and present a good example to the United States 
and E. D. Adams, B:ri ti $h lnterests and Activities in Texas 1836 ... 181*8, 
p. J9, . .. - - --



72 

Mexico C;i.ty. 10 

Shortly after Santa Anna took office he called for a new tax on 

all ore deposits, gold, and silver exported from the country. Needing 

money desperately he called for the collection of these monies im-

mediately, and confidentially told the American Minister, Waddy 

Thompson, that the revenue from these taxes would be used in a war 

11 against England. 

At the same time Santa Anna requested aid from the United States 

if England made a move to acquire California. These rumors were trans-

mitted to the British ministers who considered them as outrageous 

12 
manifestations of the Mexican political system. A war on &,gland 

was mentioned to alleviate the huge English debt in Mexico, wqile 

Califo~nia became a prime topic for British adventurers in Mexico but 

never a serious matter for Aberdeen and the Foreign Office. 

The California question played a part in the minds of government 

leaders, during the Mexican-Texan dispute. Some historians notably 

Jesse Reeves in American Diplomacy under Polk and Tyler believed that 
--r--

the United S~ates went to war because of California. English designs 

and ,mbitions in the area were questioned, and even though British 

merchants, ~d speculators wanted a Pacific port, there is no evidence 

that the·F?reign Office ever contemplated any aggressive action in 

1°F.O, 50 Vol. 165 No. 79, 11Doyle to Aberdeen, October JO, 1843," 
p. 15. 

110iseatch,es from Mexico, "Waddy Thompson to A. P. Upshur, November 
l, 1843,'( p. 48, and F.O. 50 Vol. 164 No. 75, 11Doyle to Abei;-d,een, 
September 29, 1843, 11 pp. 198,..255. 

12:F.O. 50 Vol. 164 No. 75, "Doyle to Aberdeen, September 29, 1843, 11 

PP• 198 ... 255, 
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Calif'~rnia. Mexico did fl.ttempt to sell it but that proposal came too 

late because Peel and Aberdeen both were against any :English involve-

t . th 13 men ~n e area. 

Santa Anpa•s gove;rnment was full of corruption, and hundreds of 

stories originated during his years in office. These stories hindered 

any objective analysis of the period. Doyle did report that the 

difficulties in Mexico were caused primarily because of the dis-

organized state of the Treasury. The government went out of its way 

to seize money, and considered paying back that money as a minor 

det~il •14 

Money was essential to the ~anta Anna government, because he in-

creased the size of the army, and needed new revenues to pay the 

salaries of his troops. He purchased new cannons from Europe ~nd 

plac~d them at the castle of San ~uan de Ulloa, just as he had done 

when h~ came to power in !8~1.15 After enlarging the army and bol-

stering the defenses of Mexico, Sarita .l\nna attacked the political 

syst~m in M,exieo City and established his office as the most powerful 

16 
in Mexico ¥ith a Congress that served as an advisory body. 

1~Aberdeen Paper!i!, 11 Correspondence with Si:r Robert Peel," "Peel to 
Abe:i;-(Jeen, October. J, 1al.t5, II :PP• 7 .. 10. Peel's unwillingness to pursue 
a bolq pol}cy in California is expressed in this letter, while the 
Britt~h merchants proposal is discussed in F.O, 50 Vol. 179 No. 3, 
"Al>e:r;deen 'f-o Barrow, :Oecember 31, 184.3," P• 10. 

l't . 
F.O. 50 Vol. 164 No. 75, "Doyle to Aberdeen, September 29, 184:3, 11 

pp. 198~24.4. See also u. s. Cong. Senate Documents, 28th Cong. 1st 
Sess ~ 11 Th.bmpson to de l3ocanegra., September '24, · i843, 11 Document 1, 
p.30; a.ri.d Wilfred Calcott, Santa Anna, pp. 190-191. ··-15 · w~ C~lcott, Sa:pt~ Anna, p. 191~ 

. --..,..-

16 Wilfred Ca.lcott, Santa Anna, P• 196; F.O. 59 Vol. 164: No. 75, · 
"Doyle to ,Aqe;rdeen, ~epi;!.em'her29, 184:3," PP• 22-23. 



These dictatorial maneuvers, although added to the confusion, 

during the period did not upset the foreign diplomats in Mexico. 

Representative government in Mexico, to foreign diplomats, only added 

to the confusion and disorder. Under a single leader the chances for 

improved trade, better tariff rates, and simpler commercial decrees, 

were much better if the foreign delegates concentrated their actions on 

one man, or an elite group of men in Mexico City. 17 In fact most 

British merchants realized that a tariff was necessary. They only 

objected to the number of changes in the tariff laws after each Mexican 

revolution. 

Doyle's conclilrn for Mexican corruption and trickery reached an 

impasse in 1843, when Santa Anna's government embarrassed the British 

delegatioq by displaying a British flag as a trophy of war during a 

1 bl" d" . M ' c·t 18 D 1 d d th . "d t ga~a pu lC 1nner in ex1co i y. oy e regar e e inci en as an 

unfriendly act, and defiantly led his British delegation from the 

dinner, asking for a public apology and the return of the flag. Santa 

Anna refused, and he further infuriated the acting British Minister by 

opening the castle to the public, while the flag remained in place.19 

Doyle angered over the event, ceased all diplomatic relations with 

Mexico, until a public apology was given and the flag returned to his 

f -i:,• 20 o ~1.ce. 

17F.o: 50 Vol. 165 No. Bo, "Doyle to Aberdeen, October 30, 1843," 
PP• 22 ... 23. 

18w. D. Jones, Lord Aberdeen~ the Americas, p. 32. 

19Ibid. 

2°F,O. 50 Vol. ;I.65 No. 78, 11Doyle to Aberdeen, October 30, 1843," 
pp. ,;3.•5, and Daily :Picayune, J1:1.m1ary 17, 1844, p. 2. 
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Santa Anna never gave Poyle the satisfaction of an apology, and 

Aberdeen opjected to noyle's brash and uncalled for cessation of 

relatio~s, especially over such a minor issue. Doyle was instructed to 

re\ax in his ener;etic diplomacy and await the arrival pf Pakenham's 

replacem~nt, Charles Bankbead, 21 

S~ortly after the flag incident Santa Anna resigned and appointed 

~ene:i;-a;L Valentin Cana;Lizo as l?res~detit ad-intevim. Santa Anna again ---·---
cited his health, and also tpe necessity of protectin9 the national 

interest along the Gulf Coast as a reason for his resignation. tte 
! 

retreated, therefore to his country home at Magno de Clavo, a small 

villa, 1e miles south of Vera Cr~z. 22 

Santa .Anna was still in tune with the Mexican political system. 

ffe realized that federalist and ~entralist forces were battlinQ for 

power during his reign, so as was his custom, he .absented himself fro~ 

the gove:i;-nment, appointed his successor, and then retreated to his 

home, where he could wait out the period of \Ulrest and eventually 

return to power. 23 

Canalizo i11Unediately faced a predicament. The treasury was empty, 

and the public sentiment was qnleashed against tlle government. 

21F .o. 50 Vol. 170 No, 10, "Aberdeen to Doyle, . Pec(;)mber 1, !84J, 11 

p. ~; Aberdeen seolds Doyle fo~ his uncalled for decision; Doyle 
e:ic:presijed llis a~olqgy in F.O, 50 Vol. 171 No. 15 1 ":0oyle to Aberdeen, 
January 29, 1844," p. 72, See also W, n •. Jones, Lord Aberdeen and th.e 
Ame1."icas, p. 32. -- - --

22 8 -Wilfred Calcott, Santa Anna, pp, l 9~202, Dona Ines, Sap.ta 
Anna's w:i,. fl;!! died Ol;l ,August ·23, ""'i'a7tJ, and this along with the strain of 
the -Presidenoy forced him to retire temporarily. Many, as Calcott 
pointed out, thgught he nfrnded time to "~cheme and plot." 

~3;rbid~ 
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Opppsition grew, and even the passage of a law to exclude 1\mericans 

24 
from California failed to unite support for the Canalizo government. 

As a result Congress called for the return of Santa Anna, who 

hesitated at first claiming his health prewented the move, but he did 

not decline the offer, and was able to return in 1844, with the largest 

public following of hi.s career. Santa Anna within a year, had led the 

country into bankruptcy by stealing taxes. Nevertheless, Santa Anna 

was admired by many, Foreign visitors commented about his personal 

charm and strong sense of leadership. Even Waddy Thompson felt that 

Sant, Anna was misrepresented. 25 

Meanwhile, as Charles Bankhead became British Minister to Mexico, 

Pakenham was appointed to Washington, D.C. Pakenham assumed the task 

of assessing the Xexas question and he served as British negotiator 

in the dispute over the Oregon boundary. Bankhead's arrival in Mexico 

was also looked upon as important. He was greeted with out of the 

ordinary pageantry, cannons fired and the elite in Mexican politics 

greeted him. He also visited Santa Anna at his private home, Magno 

de Clavo, 

Durin~ that audience Santa Anna emphasized his desire to maintain 

peac~ with F.ngland, and he displayed his intentions by returning the 

~l±f.O. 50 Vol. 165 No. 119 1 "Doyle to Al:>erdeen, December JO, 1843," 
p. 34<>. '.Ille United States Representative, Waddy Thompson, was unaware of 
the iaw for several months, and the reason for its passage puzzled 
Doyle. Canalizo did face many problems, and the move to sway public 
opinion in his favor by th~ decree is not hard to believe, since a 
strong anti~American fe~ling already existed in Mexico. 

25 Mad~me Calderon de la Barca in her Life in Mexico, considered 
Sant~ Anna as the most prestigious of all Mexican leaders, p. 345. 
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controversial flag that Doyle had used as an excuse for the severance 

26 of diplomatic relations. Bankhead, however, was not impressed, and 

in his first report to Aberdeen he stressed, 11 ! need hardly tell your 

Lo~dship that Santa Anna is as little remarkable for the sincerity of 

his professions as he is fol:' the steadiness of his political views. 1127 

Bankhead's initial work centered on the Mexican-Texan armistice. 

He learned on his arrival that the armistice had been accepted and 

that the delegations from both countries were meeting in Mexico City 

to negotiate the end of the Mexican-Texan conflict. 28 After eight 

years of border raids and diplomatic accusations, Bankhead believed 

that the settlement was possible, and that a stable, peaceful re-

lationship would result. 

Bankhead•s qptimism was shortlived because just as the talks began 

in M~xico City, the annexation of Te;xas re ... emerged as the number one 

political question in the United States. Earlier annexation debates 

evoked a bitter sectional conflict in the United States, and Sam Houston 

took back the Texan proposals for annexation. 29 Mirabeau Lamar, 

Houston's sqccessor ignored annexation, and energetically sought and 

at.4ined recoQnition, and commercial treaties from England, France and 

the Netherlands. As a result, Texas established a viable independent 

Republic.and the annexation question assumed a minor role. Not until 

26 F.O. 50 Vol. 1.71 No, 1, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, March 31, 1844," 
pp. 3 ... 5. 

27 Ibid. 1 p. 4. 

28F.O. 50 Vol. 173 No. 8, '':E3ankhead to Aberdeen, March 3, 1844," 
pp. 18 ... 20. 

29Rupert N. Richardson, Texas,~~ Star State, p. 326 • 
. . ' 



1843, did the question of annexation become an important topic. In 

December, 1843, PresUlent John Tyler in a message to Congress, em­
~ 

:phasized the importance of Texas and the threat of European involve ... 

ment in North America. 30 

Based on correspondence from Edward Everett, the United States 
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envoy in London, PJ;"esident Tyb;r, bf,ill:i,.eved that :England was supporting 

the Texan cause, while she stressed the need for the total abolition 

Jl of slavery in the independent state of Texas. 

ln :his message he openly wa;rned Europe and &lgland, even though 

he neve~ mentioned them by name. 32 That Tyler was referring to England 

was k;nown to all and the result was an i1I1R1ediate response from Aberdeen, 

who openly denied the cllarge that F.ngland sought any gain in Texas or 

Mexico. 

Aber4een shoQked by the speech, immediately sent' orders to Richard 

.Pakenham in Wa!:lbinQton, D,C., stating 11 that many errors and many mis-

representa~ions existed over Her :Majesty's feeling with regard to 

Texal!:'·" The :ar;itieh Ji'or~ign SecJ;"e;:ary wanted to clear up matters. 

l'hus, ne sent duplicat~ messages to all Bri. tish Ministers and in,, .. 

strl,lcted t.he111 t~ c:,onvey the Britis'.jl position in Te;x;:as to their re.-

~;pective countries. .'.33 Setting toe record straight he outlined the 

3.0u. s. Coqgress, Gong, Globe, 28th Cong. 1st Sess. "Message of 
~ .. 

the l?J:'~sident to the· Senate and House of Represel;ltatives," December 5, 
1843 1 PP• 6 .. 9. 

31 . . ' W, D, Jones, I..Qrd Aberdeen and the Americas, p. 32. G. ~. Rives, 
l'n.e United Stai;es and Me~ico l, pp-:-";55,.;.584 •. Smith, Annex;:i.tion of 
t~X.af, ~· lJ~ and Robert Seager, and Tyler, Too (New York, 196J)-;--p. 216. 

32 ·· U. $. Congress, Cong. Glqbe, 2Rt;:p Cong. 1st Sess., p. 7. 
~ 

JJF.O. 5 (A.merica) Vol, 390 No. 9, "Aberdeen to Pakenham, December 
~6, 184.-J, II P• lJ9o 
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British position in Texas a~ follows: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

Great l3rita:i.n has recognized the independence of Texas. 

S:i.nce doing it, England wants to see Texan independence 
firmly established, especially by Mexico. 

There was absolutely no self-interest in Texas. 

Recognition by Mexico was conducive to Both countries, 
and 9oth countries would benefit. England, therefore, 
tried to persuade the Mexicans to accept independence. 

No ulterior designs exist either in the area or with 
regard to Texas. 

We wish to see slavery ended in most areas of the world, 
and this can be seen in our treaties with nations 
throughout the world. 

We will counsel, but we will not compel or cont:rol 
either Mexico or Texas. 

Our objectives are purely economical and commercial. 

34 
We will not act direc.tly or indirectly in any polit:i.cal way. 

Tyler belieyed that Great Br:i,tain had interfered in the discussion 

of ar:i.nexation, and he 1;1.rgued that th:i,s interference was unjustified. 

Texa~ as an :i.ndependent power had every right to annex itself to the 

United States, and England had no right to influence that decision. 

Tyler's arsuments infuriated the British Foreign Office, and provoked 

wide editorial comment from the English press, exemplified by the 

article in the London Times; 

On this point British policy has been at once so cautious 
and so open that Mr. Tyler's message conveys a most 
unwarrantable aspersion on Her Majesty's government. Lord 
Aberdeen's dispatch to Pakenham on the 26th of December, 
1843, states in the most precise and explicit terms that 
Great Britain aspires to no dominant influence in Texas, 
that she presumes not to u~e any undue authority over 

34F.O~ 5 (America) Vol. 390 No. 9, "Aberdeen to Pakenham, December 
26, J,843," pp. 140 .... 1'*2. 



foreign states in her opposition to slavery, and that 
with reference to the slaveholding states of the 
Union, she has even treated them with the same respect 
and forbearance as the other members of the federal 
community. The answer, the public official answer, 
of the President to this most temperate assurance is 
an assumption that the designs of England are such as 
to justify him in his work of plunder and the extra­
ordinary injustice of this measure is, if possible, 
surpassed by the match35ss impudence of the arguments 
used in defense of it. 

Meanwhile, Santa Anna, delighted that England and the United 

States were in disagreement, made plans for an invasion of Texas. 

More than likely he assumed that England would assist him in his 

struggle to restore Texas to its rightful place in the Mexican 

Republic. 36 

Aberdeen found it hard to believe that 

••• under the present circumstances of the relations 
between Mexico and the United States and with the 
full knowledge of all that had lately taken place in 
the United States with regard to the annexation of 
Texas that General Santa Anna could ever have enter­
tained a serious intention of attempting in such a 
manner the reconquest of Texas.37 
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He continued by saying "that this would be equivalent to a deliberate 

challenge to the United States and could scarcely be doubted that such 

a chqllenge would be forthwith accepted by the United States. 1138 

Nothing could be gained, but everything lost, by engaging in such a 

wild undertaking. 

35London Times, May 18, 1844, p. 5. 

36wilfred Calcott, Santa Anna, p. 190. 

37 F.O. 50 Vol. 172 No. JO, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, September JO, 
1844, 11 pp. 73-79-

38rbid. 
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After e~nsiqering the position of Mexico with relation to both 

the United States and Texas, and having taken into account all that 

had passed with regard to the proposed annexation of Texas to the 

United States, th~ :eritish Government was of the opinion that the only 

rational policy for Mexico was to acknowledge without delay or hesi­

tation the full ;independence of Texas. Recognition appeared to be more 

promising in 1844 than when it was first recommended in 1840. There 

was no danger to Mexico from Texas as an independent state. 

On the contrary, Aberdeen reasoned, Mexico and Texas could unite 

in bonds of amity, but if Texas was part of the United States, the 

most serious dangE;i:rs wo1,.1ld accrue to Mexico. Me:x:ico already witnei;;sed 

the ~:roblem of her neighbor to the north; the loss of Texas was in 

fact ai;;qribable to the contiguity to the United States, which alone 

gave rise to the gradual encroachment of lawless United States citizens 

who merely had to cross the frontier between their country and the 

Mexican provinces, settle anywhere upon the Texan soil unsettled by 

Mexica.ri citizens and without any opposition from the Mexican govern­

ment! 

If Texas was annexed to the United States, the program of en­

croaob,ment would be repei:i,ted by the outlying and adventurous population 

of the United States, pressing forward with that restless and roving 

propensity which characterized them, implanting themselves within the 

undefined and unguarded limits of the Mexican territory. If Mexico 

continued to refuse to acknowledge the sovereignty of Texas and allowed 

the events to continue as they were, they would not find any state of 

peace or tranquillity, ln other word.!:i, an unceasing and hopeless .!:itate 

of hostility would be established between them and the United States. 
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According to Aberdeen, if Mexico recognized Texas as a sovereign 

state, lexas would in all probability end discussions of annexation. 

lhey would not throw away their independence if they realized and were 

assured of a peaceful condition along the Mexican-Texan frontier. 

~ecure on their :Mexican bo;rder, 1:;he Texans would seek to consolidate 

their independenqe, and improve their internal condition, extend their 

commerce, and establish friendly relations with other nations of the 

world. To the English this was the only policy open to Santa Anna, and 

in offering this advice :England sought only the good of Mexico. 

Ban!Qlead was also instructed to clearly point out that if the 

President, contrary to the English hopes and beliefs, was to take the 

rash sitep of invading Texas, and by doing it find himself involved in 

difficulties with pther countries, "he must not look for support of 

Great l3ritain a;iding him to extricate himself from those diffi­

cul t:Les. 11 J9 

Santa Anna, nevertheless, wanted to reconquer Texas and alleviate 

the embarrassment of San Jacinto. li'.ngland, pe~plexed and concerned 

over Santa Anna's threats of war, decided to formulate a new plan for 

the peaceful s~ttlement pf the Mexican~Texan conflict. The new plan 

was outlined in a confidential dispatch from the Foreign Office on 

June J, 1.844. 

The annexation proposal forced Aberdeen to re~examine his plan 

and his proposais to the Mexicans and the Texans. He did not want to 

see Texas as part of the United States because he felt that the balance 

J9F.O • .50 Vol. 172 No. JO, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, September JO, 
:L844," p. 79. 



of pqwer would be at stake on the world scene if Texas or i;my other 

part of Mexiqo became part of the United States.4o At first he be~ 

lieved that anne~tion coll.Id be prevented if Texas was recognized by 
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Mexico, Me:x:~co how~ver was reiluctant to grant recognition without some 

asl;!urances f:rQm Ji;ngland that her territory would be safe, 

Aberdeeq, although he wanted reco~nition, alsq reali~ed that 

England CQUld not unilaterally guarantee any agreement between the 

41 two. · Furthermc;,re, the economic crisis in England and the debate over 

the Corn Laws prevented any unanimoµs foreign policy, especially if 

that policy threatened the trade with the United States. 42 Most 

EngUsh merchants wanteq to de;> business with. America and even tb.ougb 

:&!.glish jou111a~s stirred the anti~United States feeling in England, the 

English economically were not prepared for a war with any power. 

Aberdeen, persisted in his endeavor to maintain the independence of 

Texas, and defided to test th.e entente cordiale with!France. 43 He 

began serious discussions with Francois Guizot, the French Foreign 

Ministe~, aimed at a joint a~reement between the two to mediate the 

• WW, P. Jones,· Lord Aberdeen and tp.e Americas, p. 33. Jones 
~Al···f·,i·,~~ .. 

believes tllat Aber4een was afraid <:>f the United States' power, and with 
tex~~ she would have inereas~d her size and potential~ 

41 Abe;r'deen Pa;ee:rs, "Cclr~espE.>ndence with Sir Robert. Peel, 11 '. 11 Pee1 
tQ A~E;)r1d~ei,, Feb1r4,µ,yp:3,3, 184-,5,ir Vol, 36 43064, pp. 178.,.181. 

4.2 . 
.. Peel's Papers, 11Ge1;1eral Correspondence," Peel received a report 

in 184.,3' that trade with the TJpited States was cut in half dur:i,ng the 
deppession year.e; 18J6 ... I84J. and he wanted to discu.e;s within th,e cabinet 
methods o~ restoring that lucrative trade. 

4J . 
. Abardeen Pa ers, Vol, :X:CVI (43.1-34), "Correspondence with 

li':ran(eois Pierre · 1.d2.9t, November 184,3-.0ctober 1860~·" 



84 

Mexican-Texan conflict, but even more important he wanted Britain and 

France to guarantee any agreement reached by Mexico and Texas. 44 

The discussions were carried out and a sliQht ray of hope existed 

for the success of such a plan. As soon as discussions with Guizot 

were begun, Aberdeen informed the MexiGan minister in London, Tomas 

Murphy that a possible solution to the problem was in the making. Both 

men worked on a memorandum that would stipulate English policy toward 

Mexico and Texas, that memo also stated "that England and France would 

go to tne ;Last exi;remity. 1145 

Not qnly did Aberdeen discuss the matter with Murphy, he immedi-

ately sent instructions to Bankhead, which stressed the hope that 

Mexican recognition of 1,'exas would come, and once it was official, the 

Ji'nglish and the French would guarantee the agreement and would prevent 

f ' h t ' t M ' T 4:G any ore~~n encroa~ men in o exico or .exas. 

Aberdeen's desire to end the Mexican-Texan dispute and his belief 

that Texas had to remain independent, led him to this bold diplomatic 

maneuver in 1844~ His diplomacy has been analyzed by many including 

Justin Smith, E~ P, Adams, and W. D. Jones, and all agree that 

Aberdeen's language, especially in the memo to Murphy that England 

"would !iJO to the last extremity" was the strongest language and the 

44 
Aberdeeri. Papers, Vol, CCXXXVII, 43, 275 "Lord Aberdeen to 

Lord Cowley~,January' ~4, 1845; F.O. 50 Vol. 174 No. 16 "Confidential" 
"Aberdeen to Bankhead, .,July 22, 1844," pp. 33-37. 

45F •. O. 50 Vol. 174, "Aberdeen to Murphy, July 1, 1844, 11 p. 6. 
See also Smith, Annexation of Texas, pp~ 387-388. 

46 
F.O. 50 Vol. 174, "Aberdeen to Murphy, July 1, 1841,i,, p. 6. 
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boldest policy outlined by the Jmglish in the 184o•s. 

Smith argued that J!)J.1.gland was ready for war. Adams concurred 

except that he re.emphasized Aberdeen's personal aversion to war. 

w. D. Jones also suggests th&t war was possible, but that it did not 

fit into the picture with regard to Aberdeen's desire for peace. 47 

Whether or not it meant that l!hgland was ready to militarily aid 

Texas or Mexico is speculative. Aberdeen's language without a doubt 

was strong, and possibly Aberdeen was thinking of military aid, but no 

matter how nruch one analyzes the documents the only conclusion that 

could be forniulated centers around the fact that England never prepared 

for a war, nor did Aberdeen call for a military budget, and finally 

the French dragged their feet and prevented any immediate action by 

the English Foreign Office. The Foreign Office was also worried be-

ca1,1se tney real:i.zed that any strong British move would def;i.ni tely kill 

any chance for Henry Clay in th!:l Presidential race of 184.4. 

Aberdeen informed Bankhead of all transactions and the memo with 

Murphy, mainly because Murphy would and did report to the Santa Anna 

government his discussions with the English. Bankhead was again 

instructed to seek t-fexican rec9gnition, but Aberdeen's ;hopE:! for peace 

reqeived1another blow when Santa Anna decided to present the Murphy 

memo to a secret session of Congress for their consideration. 48 

47Smith, Anne~ation of Texas, p. 388. E. D. Adams, British 
Interests and Activities in Texas 1838-1846, pp. 171-172, and ........,.,. .......... ' ' ~ ------w. D. Jones 1 Lord Aberdeen and the Americas, p. 36. ·~ ~........,.. 

48F.o. 50 Vol. l.75 No. 66, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, A.ugust 29, 
184'*," p. 208. 



Bankhead then did not lose a moment in sending his friend 

Don :Rafael to Taoubaya with a message for the President. Bankhead 

emphasized the extreme inprudence and want of good faith in giving 

publicity to what was stil~ in embryo status, and also the embarrass~ 

ment he would create in any fµrther arrangement of the question. In 

fact, that action might bring the total abandonment of any of Her 

Majesty's proposals. Bankhead insisted that the communication not be 

presented to Congress. Santa Anna agreed to withdraw the memo. 

But his aetion caused Bankhead to report again. 

I regret to lay before your Lordship an illustration 
of the total want of good faith which exists in the 
government of this country. Gene~al Santa Anna's 
sole object in ma!:dng pul;>;I.ick [ sicJ the contents of 
this confidential communication was to induce the 
Congress without further delay to grant the supplies 
already urgently asked for by the government, for in a 
eonversation he said to a deputy, 1 I shall send this 
communication to the Congress, show them that England 
will stan'd by us, and they must now give the money.' 
And he added to Don Rafael, 'The English government 
says that we must either' conquer Texas or grant4its 
indepenclence. What will Congress say to this? 1 9 

Propably the real object of Santa Anna's intended communication 
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to Congress was to use the commUl'!,ication, so that Congress would grant 

the supplies which he asked for and also to obtain some graft. 

Bankhead went 01'!- t9 say "so inteni,e is.,. [Santa Anna 1 sJ love of 

money, that he wa~ wil~ing to endanger the success of a plt:m for the 

future benefit of the country, r~ther than by delay to retard the 

operation of h~s scheme o:t; a temporary financial contribution."50 

49F~O. 50 Vol~ 175 No. 66, ":Bankhead to Aberdeen, August 29, 
184'4," P• 208. 

' 
50rbid. 



Aberdeen concurred in the swift action taken by Bankhead to 

dissua<;le Santa. Anna from sending the Murphy Memo to Congress.51 

Aberdeen realized that any publipity would have hindered his chances 
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for iruccess, and also would have aided the proponents of Texas annex~ 

ation in the United $tates.52 Aberdeen was also amazed that Santa Anna 

still talked of reconquest, and he instructed Bankhead to emphasize 

that annexation was dangerous, but that danger could be avoided if 

recognition was freely given. Aberdeen was frustrated over the fact 

that a joint declaration was not possible, but he continued to offer 

his fl.dvioe and later sougnt French approval for the joint "moral 

influence" of: the two in the Mexican controversy. 

Santa Anna ignored the British pleas, and he sent 6,000 soldiers 

ta G~lveston and 8,000 to San Luis Potos{. However, the rains in 

October, 184:4 prevented further troop movements, and Santa Anna was 

content to ~rill and dii;;cipline his troops in preparation for war with 

Texas. Tyler earlier argued that a.l'J.Y Mexican troop movement into 

Texas would not be to~erated during the discussion of annexation, but 

Mexico was confident and was in a coitision course with the United 

States. ~anta Anna continued his bold maneuvers and asked Congress for 

an iqunecliate vote of $10,000,000 and an Inciativa (or petition) whicn 

if passed would confer extraordinary powers in the presidency. 53 

51F.Q. 50 Vol, 172 No, 34, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, October 13, 
1844, 11 p. 88. 

52Aberdeen Papers, Vol,. XX!I £43,060) 11 Cor;respondence with Duke 
of Wellington,'' Mai-ch i, 1844, pp. 370.,.375. 

53F.O. 60 Voi. 175 No. 53, "Ban~head to Aberdeen, July 3, 1844,, 11 

pp. 137..,140. 
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If the Congress declined the Inciativa, Pakenham believed that 

Santa Anna would announce his retirement to his country house and wash 

his hands of the whole affair. Bankhead, however, believed that he 

would only go to Puebla and then maybe to the Castle at Perote, and 

at the Castle he would be i~vited back to Mexico by a Pronunciamento, 

which would be made by the garrison at Perote. He would then assume 

extraordinary powers and settle the question of money as he saw fit 

without the aid of Congress.54 

lhe threat of a revolt and the takeover by Santa Anna did not 

bother the people of Mexico. There was no rival capable of giving any 

competition. And for many, there would be personal benefits from 

S.antl:l Anna,' s lead!;!rship and the dissolution of the Congress. 

!he Mexican gove:rnment in 1844 was in a terrible state. There 

had been a new :Law to gain $4,ooo,ooo with a tax of 20% on all house .. 

holds~ 15% on properties, 6% on tenants of houses, and a tax on landed 

property. All were necessary because of the projected campaign against 

Texas. '.l,'wenty~two million dollars was necessary in any war effort, 

but, as Ba,nkhead :reported, "Not a ;farthing was yet raised. 1155 

Mexico was able to recruit men; approximately 32 1000 arrived 

daily, but ~ost of these recruits arrived chained together, because the 

desertion rate was so high. There was a large contract for 30,000 

suits of clothing and tents for as many men. There was also another 

contract for 40 1 000 pounds for supply of arms and ammunition, which 

many said would come from England. Whether or not the money could be 

54F,O. 60 Vol. 175 No. 53 1 "~nkh~ad to Aberdeen, July 3, 1844, 11 
PP, 1)7•140. 

55Ibid, 



raised in ta.~es was hard to say, because forced loans were hard to 

peal with, and the ordinary resources of the Mexican government were 

not enough, 

In an annual statement in 1643 the Minister of Finance stated 

that the revimue in 1842 was $30,ooo,ooo. The expenses around 

$281000,000, whioh meant that there was little left in the Treasury. 

Most o.;f the federal or govern111ent employeel:i' paychecks we;re all in 

arrears, and public credit was at the lowest in the history of the 

Me:icican state. 56 Tll~s fi:nanoial, crisis developed ;from the most bare .. 

faQed oorru~tion in every branch of the Mexican government. Even with 

the corruption Mexican politicians were able to maintain control be .. 

cause ot the strong anti~Ainerican feeling in Mexico, and the great 

na1;:1.onal desire to reconq:uer l'exas. 

To the Mexicans, Alnerican adventurers were responsible for the 

te::ii;as. J;'evQlution, and unless Texas was reconquered those same American 

adventUJ"ers would move on Mexico~ Th~se accusations were refuted by 

the United States minister, ~;ff Q~een, ip a letter to the Mexican 

Secretary o;f State, Jots~ :Bc;>canegra~ Green argued that th.e natives or 

ci ti:ziens c,f the lJni ted ~tat es went to 'l'exas upon invitation and under 

the laws of Spain and Me~ico. They left their country. They carried 

with th.em their families, tnei~ fortunes, and settled in Te~as, not with 

a view of usu~pation, but upon the invitation Qf Mexico and for the 

Me:x:i'cMS I benefit~ They gave up ttiei:i:- rights as citizens of the 

United State~, and they actually became co,l.on;i.sts of Mexico. They went 
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to Texas under a confederated form of government, and when a con-

solidated government was substituted, they declared their independence. 

Many natives o;f the l)nited States went to their assistance, but this 

was nothing pew in American history. Many doubtless left the United 

States for ~e~as for the purposes of gain, but most of those who went 

to her assistance were led there by the same spirit which rallied 

Commodore Porte:i:- c:tnd other countrymen of the undersigned round the 

standard of Medco in her contest wit:\1, Spa:i,n. 57 

Green went on to say that in international law a nation has·the 

right to take an immediate place in the great society of nations if it 

mak;es its own laws. "Mexico sc:1-ys that Texas has no right to J:rnr 

independence, but why? Because she :Ls a revo],ted colony." Green 

answered, "',l.'he argument wa~ unfortunate, and it was certainly the first 

time that the undersigned has even heard it advanced on the American 

continent, and ~Y a republican minister. 1158 

Continuing, Green said that Mexico had the right to throw off her 

dependence upon Spain; the United States had the right to do the same 

with regard to England. Both were revolted colonies, one of Spain, 

thf;! othe:,; of Great 1;:lritain. "The right to independence was too clear 

to ne~d any argument to support it. 1159 It is not only unnecessary but 

57senc:1.t~ Executive Pocuments, 28th Cong. 2nd $ess. "Correspondence 
w;i,th Mexico,'' Dec.·l,Vol.l, pp. 53...,89. Dispatches from United States 
Ministe:r1i;i to Mexico 182.3 .... 1906, Vol,. XU, "Green to Bocanegra, July 4, 
1844; also found in f.O. 50 Vol. 175 No. 52, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
July 31, 1,844, 11 :PP• 121.·,124. 

58Pispatches from United States Ministers to Mexico .!.§31_ .... 1906, 
Vol. X;rl: ~ 11Gr~en ta ~ocariegra, Jtily 4, 1844. 

59Ibid. 
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improper for a l'epresentative of one of the American Republics, all 

of -which were ori~inally revolted colonies, to undertake to refute 

an argument which denies anyone's right to independence and which 

calls this right an usurpation. 

Texas' right was as clear as the noonday sun. It needed only to 

be stated to be admitted and Green expected that a Mexican minister 

would be the last to call it in question, for it was already a settled 

question, settled by the example of his own country and o:f Mexico. The 

Mexican argument reduced to absurdity, would bold that the United 

States in dec,laring their independence, usurped the dominions of the 

Kin,g of England, an,d that Hidalgo, Morelos, and Iturl;>ide, in achieving 

the independence o:f Mexico, violated the divine rights of the King o:f 

Spain and usurped his territory. Thus, according to Green, Texas was 

free to decicl.e its own :future. Presi.dent Tyler had already agreed. 

If a foreign power interfered, it was the Uni.tecl. States' duty and 

right to prevent such an action. En9land, however, disagreed with 

Green anct Bankhead answered tnat annexation was being pushed by the 

poH ti.cal machinations of Tyler's pa;i;-t.y and that pressure was being put 

60 
on Texas to accept that proposal. England wanted to stop annexation; 

her tactic was not a military control but a plan whereby Mexico would 

recognize the independence of Texas. England proposed the recognition 

of ~exas as early as 18J9~184o, Mediation and recognition were pro~ 

poseq several times but by 1844, due to the discussion o:f annexation in 

the United States' Congress, En~land was ready to jointly discuss an 

60London times, July 1, 1844, p. 5 and August 14, 1844, p. 4. 
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~(;)land and France wer!;! ;in the process of settling the details in 

the Mexican~~exan coqflict. Aberdeen and Guizot agreed that an in-

dependent Texas would benefit their interests and also restrain the 
I 

westward e~pansion of the Un;i.ted States. Mex;i.co did not go along with 

the r,na·jor powe:rs bec;ause Santa Anna persisted in his plans to attack 

Texas. Nevertheless, he faced many difficulties beqause the Congress 

refused to act on the Inoiativa making h;i.m a dictator and the Congress 

did nqt appropriate the $10,000,000 for the army. 

Santa J\nna was so upset that he announced his intention of reff 

tiring, He could then return to J~lapa, where a large army was 

quartered, and eventually the people would call for his returnp Again, 

revolution was in the offina, Several British cit;i.zens thought that 

Santa .l\nna would work the emotional trick and proclaim the impossibility 

61 of r4;1cc;,nquering l"exas I because of the lukewarm spirit of Congress. 

Bankhead stUI beUeved that even with all of his boasts of the invasion 

of Texaf and the promise to restore the glory of Mexico, Santa Anna 

was not again~t a r~alistic proposal for the limited or more extended 

acknowledgement of the Te~a~ independence. 62 

aut, matters becam~ more complex as the United State~ Gove~rtment 

openl)'I 111ad,e pl,.ar:u; to annex 'J:'exas. .This took much tac::t on :Bankhead' s 

GlLo 'd "'" A t 10 18'· '· 6 · n on :i.imefil, . U.QU.S , ':t':t' p. • 

6~F.O. 50 Vol. 174: N<>. 53 1 11:Banknead to Aberdeen, August 14:, 184:4:, 11 

p. '*°· 



When the news first arrived here of the intention of 
the United States towards Texas, I thought it best for 
the moment not to urge as I had hitherto done, the 
question of independence, for with the remnant of 
Spanish pric:le and obstinacy still belonging to this 
people, I felt ;r could do no good by di.scussir1-9 it 
with them. l have, however, on every o'ccasion since 
continued to press upon the Mexican government that 
theip sole hope of preserving a frontier of strength 
to the United States is to be found in giving that 63 
element to T~:x;as by acJmowledging. her independrnce. 
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Bankhead further reported that the expedition to Galveston, which 

was to be led by the President himself, was also delayed, and it did 

not look at that time li~e there would be allY marqh, maybe not even 

until March, 1845. General Canalizo was in command of the Corps at 

San Luis Potos!, and even in that area operations could not possibly 

have been carried out until October, 1844. The army of the west was 

in utter chaos, and the town of Matamoros was without supplies, which 

meant the possibility of any army maintaining in combat outside of 

The re9ruitment of the army was still carried on in the most 

unsqrupulous manner. The system was so defective and arbitrary that 

even if a corps of men left their respective headquarters the desertion 

rate would be half of the men. Thus, no expedition could reach Texas. 

Mexico was in no position to carry on an offensive against the former 

. 64 province. 

As a re1:1ult, Bankhead thought that Me;x:ico would have to evf;!ntually 

ack:nowled!jle Texas• independence. Manuel Rej~n, the Foreign Secretary, 

63ll',O. 50 Vol. 174 No. 53, "l;lank:head to Aberdeen, August 14, 
184..4," P· '*°• 

64~nli th., War with :Mexico .!., p. 86 and Calcott, Santa ~, p. 205. 



reported that Mexico cQuld not originate any such plan, but he would 

at least listen to any proposition from Great Britain and France, 

especially from the former power with a view to the settlement of the 

question upon the basis of independence. Rej6n wanted to present a 

bol4 front to ';I.'exas. Bankhead considered that a mere display of pride 

and not really a serious thought entertained by the government, because 

member.s of the government who wanted to settle the question met with 

Bankhead in Mexico City. 

BankJ:iead aclclowled$Jed to the vaJ;"icrns representatives pf tne 

Mexican Coun~il that Great B~itain wanted to see the question settled 

on an honorabie iiUld amicable principle. 65 In reply to RejJn he re~ 

ported th~t Great Britain and France were ready to discuss and ready 

to talk 'of a possible 9uarant~e .or a joint discussion of the problem of 

peace, Annexation wae not evident, even though the United States 

diseussed it, '!'1\e fact that Texas had agents in Mexico negated the 

i<;lea that tne Texan nation would be immediately annexed to the United 

66 
State$. 

Cbafles g11iot, the aritish Minister in fexas, believed that the 

Te~~n agents were waJ;"mly received in Mexico and were trying to negoti-

• ate a peace. ae told to the government in 'l'exas under express orders 

f~om the British Foreign Office that by remaining independent, Texas 

would gain tremendously, arid &lgland would do all she could to mediate 

the problems between Mexico and Texas. England still objected to the 

A.!ne~ican ~esigns a9ainst Texas •. The aTitisp told the Texans that their 

6'F.O. 50 Vol. 17.5 No. 73, "Bankhead to Abe:,:-deen, August 29, 
1,844,, 11 p~ 25,3. 

66~ndon Time,, ~uly 16, 18~4, P• 5· 
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only concern and only hope was for a recognition by Mexico. News that 

the United States considered Jingland as totally involved irritated 

news~aper editors in LQndon, and in the Londan Times one editorial 

stated that the project of annexation took its origin as we frequently 

had observed in the electionary intrigues of Mr. Tyler's party rather 

tllan in any serious app:reheJ1sions of :foreign influence or any profound 

system of national policy. 67 

Tne London Times also baeked the Mexicans against the Americans. 

'l'he 'l'irQes sai.d tnat i! Me:dc<;> pad to Fesort to arms because of T,Ini ted 

States' designs, Mexico might possibly bring about a reconquest of 

Texas. '.fliey cited the requisition for $5,000,000.and recruitment of 

4o 1qoo meri, Santa Anna's determination to take the field, and finally, 

~e~ico•s long miJitA;ry history~ Mexici=Ul politicians were more than 

~ikely impressed with articles in the London papers, and may have been 

embold~ed in their stand for reconquest. 

One· •rticle in the Times said: 

We 1 lngland, recogni,ze Texas as an independent state. We 
wish her to remain so, but if she be unworthy of the des~ 
tinyi to which she once a~ired, we had !ar rather she 
were reunited to the free pop-u.lati,on of ttie Mexican 
~epuhlic than classed among the slaveholding states of 
the Union, who already regard her with more terror and 
jealousy than they will acknowledge, since they impute 
to Gre~t ~ritain those !ears wJl,ich are really excited 
by the fijture resources and freer institutions of Texas 
it:ielt ~ 

Later, in a.r.iother article printed in the London Times, Santa Anna 

was 9escribed as a noble, generous, and gallant ~eneral. He wa~ an 

G7Londo;n 'l'ime4S, July 1, l844, p. J. See also F •. o. 7 (Texas) 
".Aberdeen to E;J.liot, JW1e a, ;i.84:4," p. 88. 

68London T~mes, Au~ust 15, 1844, p. 4:. 
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able stai;esm~, and a man capable of the noblest actic;ms and the 

most chivalrous generosity. 69 Here was the misleading hint of British 

support. 

Santa Anna, nevertheless, was full of surprises and in September, 

1844, in the midst of his fight with Congress to finance a Texas 

campaign, he reijuested a leave of absence because of ill health. 

General v,1entin Canalizo was selected to fill his shoes, but Canalizo 

was the personal choice of Santa Anna and as a result Santa Anna still 

:ran the gc:>vernment :(rom behind the throne. Congress chaUenged the 

new president but there was no suppression of Congress. The democratic 

GorpiJt:i. tutf on c;,f 16~4, stilJ. stood~ 

Preparations continued for the campaigns in Texas, even though 

Santa :Ann, had ~eft office, and the official word from the government 

was an all ... out attack on Texas was in the process. The troops were not 

ready to cross the Rio Grande, according to Bankhead, and there was an 

element in Congress that was agaiqst any with Texas.7° 

The Vnited States continued to worry Mexico over annexation, and 

on October 10, 1844, General D.utf Green arrived with special 'in-

structi~nl!I for the Uni,ted States :Minister, Wilson Shannon. Green and 

Shannon told Mexico that Texas had a right to decide whether or not it 

should be annexed tQ the United States. Tne Mexican Secretary of State, 
~ 

Manual ~e.jon announced for thE;i last 20 yE;iars tne United State$ had been 

69:London l'ime13 1 September 14, 1844, · P· 6. 

70 . . F.o. 50 Vol. 176 No. 85, "Bankhead to Aberdee:q," September 29, 
18lr41 11 PP• 170 .. 172. 
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anglin9 for the annexation of Texas. 71 Rejon's note was very moderate 

and free from the bombastic style which generally characterized such 

official correspondence of the Mexican government. Shannon, however, 

accepted it as an all.-out attack on the United States, and demanded 

that Rejon &polo9:i,ze, 72 

This exchange prompted Bankhead to report in November, 184-4-, that 

the government of the United States was trying to pick a quarrel with 

Mexico.73 The Mexican government tried to line up Bankhead on its side 

in the dispute with the United States but he refused, and reported to 

the Foreign Office: 

:i; cease not, however, to recommend a rec;:ognition of 
the independence of Texas as the only means of producing 
pea,ce, and I am pot without hope that I may succeed, but 
the initiative will be expeqted from us, and France, and 
any moderate sugiestions from your Lordship will, I think, 
be listened to. 7 

In the midst of all thel:ile discussions there was a Pronunciamento at 

Gua4alajara by General Mariano Paredes. 75 General Santa Anna was 

9iven the responsibility of leading the army to put down Paredes' 

revolt~ 

Bankhead then met with Santa Anna and discussed the problems over 

British claims and also the ~erious problem in Texas. It was during 

7l:Oispatchea from United States; Minist(;:lr:;; in Mexico 1823"'!'1906 
Vol. xu; "Rejon t~ Shannon'~. November 8, 1844. 11~ ..---- ...,......,._ 

72Ibid., ''Shannon to Rejon, November 12, 184-4-. 11 

73F.O. 50 Vol. 176 No. 94-, ''B&nkhead to Aberdeen, November 12~ 
184-4, 11 P• 78. 

?4-Ib;i.d. 

75 · ;F.O. 50 Vol, 177 No. 102, "Confidl;:lntial, Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
Novembe:r 12, 184-4-, 11 p. 53, 



this discµssion that Santa Anna stated "out of deference to the British 

government he wou;t.d forego any intention ••• of invading 'l'exas. 1176 

Not on,ly was Santa Anna rec;tdy to E'lnd hostilities witl;l Texas, b,e was to 

the surprise of Bankb,ead, ready to discuss the conditions upon which 

Mexico would CQnse1,1t to acknowledge the independ(;lnce of Texas. 77 

Sc;tnta. Anna's conditions were what the British had been working for 

up to this late hour. Regardin~ the all important matter of the 

boundary,. $c;tnta agreed to the Rio Grande River. 

But, there were some difficult conditions for the British to meet. 

Santa Anna wanted: 

The guarantee of ~glc;tnd and France united that under 
no p;rE)te:x;t wh,atever shall tl;le Texans eve:r Ji>ass the 
boundaries marked out, the same nations shall also 
guarantee to Mexic;o the Gali;fornias, New Mexico, and 
the other points of the northern frontier bordering 
on the United States, according to a treaty, tc:, be 
drawn up for tna.t purpose. If tne United States 
carried into effect the annexation of Texas to the 
North Ame:rican Union, England and France will assist 
Mexico in the contest f ••• 78 

Sant~ Anna requested any counsel Aberdeen might think fit to offer 

fo:r the b¢n,efit of the Me;x'.ican nation and out of deference to the 

:!3ri ti~h government he would su13pend any intention of invading Texas. 

l;lan)\:head, in E)Xamining tne conditions drawn up l:)y Santa Anna, 

mentioned that the crucial reference to France and England's guarantee 

was entirely up to aer Majesty's government. He also refrained from 

76 · F.Q. 50 Vol. 177 No. 102, "Confidential, Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
November 24, 184:4," P• 78. 

77lbid. 

78:roid. 
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any counsel on tbe post;iibil:i.ty of a,ny problem with the United States. 

'l'be aritish minister was glad that Santa Anna was willing to stop 

bor~er raids until a treaty could be worked out with lexas. 

These proposals therefore were a beginning but aankhead in no way 

committed the Jri_tish government. Mexico, he felt, was yielding as 

much as they could, and he doubted that further modifications could be 

ob~ained in IUI.Y negotiations. He pressed for secrecy with regard to 

this matter, and Santa A.n~a promised to accede to his request and not 

even allow any of his ministers or members of the Cabinet to hear or 

see any of the p:,ropo~als.79 

~ankhead•s discussion with ~a.nta Anna, however, never got off the 

g~ound b~cause of the revolution in Pecember, 1844. President Canali~o 

had issued a law or a presid~ntial decree on Decembe;r 6, 1844,, whic:b 

suspended the future meetinQs of Congress and required the officers 

of the gove:i;,n,ment and the army to subscribe to this decree. It was 

definitely unconstitutional, and it brought about an extreme danger for 

Canalizo•s govel;'nment and Santa Anna. Santa Anna's popularity suffered 

as a result of this• and arrangements were made by his enemies and the 

people wb,o haq been inJured during his regime to overthrow it, and 

if possible, to ~egain tbeir prestige and stature within Mexican 

l •t• 80 pol l~S• 

The revolt was Ci;i.r;ried on w:i,th the Qreatest at secrecy to insure 

the support of the Mexican army. The rebels were well orgc:!,llized 

79f.O. 50 Vol. 177 No. 102, "Confident:i,al, l3an~head to Aberdeen, 
November 24, 1844, 11 p. 78~ 

80 Wilfred Cal.Gott, Santa~' p. 207. 
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bec~use within a half hour after the President issued his decree a new 

Pronunciamente was issued. Caiializo must have b$en shocked because he 

had just sent a note to ~anta Anna that everything was in hand and that 

he ~as about to drive Congress out of the convent of San F.ranoisco.81 

At this point 1 R;reside~t Canali~o's troops deserted·him, piaced them~ 

selve.e on the side of ~c:mgress, and General Jose flerrera seized the 

palace and depolSleq the President. 

The S~nate immediately nominated Herrera as President, ad interim • ........... . 

That same ev~nin~ Con~ress resumed their ordinary meetings and dis· 

cussed the propriety of going in a qody to ask for the spiritual aid 

Qf the "Nuestra Senora de Quadalupe, '' the protectoress of Me::x;ieo, whosie 

spirit was house~ in a chapel near Mexico City. The revolution itself 

was a very bloodless ()ne, and it was, to say the lE;iast, carried out 

with every precaution to prevent the interruption of public tran~ 

quUUty. 82 

The population of the small barrios, the poor districts of 

Me~ico City, were out during the revolution, but they contented them­

. 8J 
eel, ves with c:rying, "death to the lame man." . 'l'bey broke two statues 

which had been erected in honor ot qeneral Santa .A,nna, and a group of 

people or~ated some havoc when they went to the cemetery of Santa Paula 

an,d dug Uf Santa A.nPa•s leg~ and dragQed it through the streets of 

Hexieo City 1,U'l.til it finally was ~~scued by an officer and qonveyed to 

81Wilfred Calcott, Santa Anna, P• ~07. 
'~ 

82rbtd. ~ P~ 208. 

83::i;bid. 
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84 
a secure ~lace. Santa ,Anna's power was, for all practical purposes, 

at an end, and for the first time in many years his influence was in 

t(l)tal eclipse. He would mak.e a comeback but not until the war against 

the United States.85 

The revolution of 1844 was dist:i,nguishable, however, from those 

that had preceded it in Mexico, mainly because of the favorable public 

sentiment. The public supported and even joined the revolt, whereas 

in for~er revolutions and on similar occasions the revolution was 

oarried o~t entirely by the military. 86 The expectations ran high and 

many felt the new government would succeed but tb-;th9se well acquainted 

with the political character of Mexican politics, tne possibility of 

a~y government lasting seemed remote. There were to9 many people in 

Me~ican politics who were poles apart and it was hard to put anything 

lasting together. 

Already there was a coal:i,tion of opposi.tes. One faction, the 

Esco•ses, or ~panisn and Cnurch Pa:rty, d:i,sliked foreigners and usually 

attached themselves to the idea of centralization, running the whole 

col,.\ntry from Mexico City. The ot;her part, ~omposed of Yorkinos, was 

the party favorable to the idea of federalism, or what is known in the 

llnited States as "states' rights." This latter party was incli:ned more 

tow~rd aiding the foreign element in Mexico and Me;x:ico City. They were 

. 84Th· er much discussed leg was lost in the French attack at 
Vera Cruz in 1839, and after ~anta Anna's return to power he brought 
the leg with him, and a massiv: funeral with all the pomp and circum­
stance took place in Mexico City in honor of their leader. 

85calcott, · Santa Anna, p. 210, and B,ancroft 1 History.£.! Mexico, 
p. 443. 

86 
Calcott, Santa ,Anna, p. 210. 

l~ 
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liberal in their coimnercial decrees and negotiations with foreign 

natic;ms. The system of federation, however, had been abolished in 

18J4, and many believed it was impractical in the Mexican nation. The 

contusion of making and enforfing contradictory laws and pegulations 

: . 87 produced what was close to anarchy throughout Mexico. 

However, it was believed by many in Mexico and was observed by 

most of the foreigners that gettins rid of Santa Anna was a big step 

forward, especially for the federalists. Many hoped for the end of 

sa graft. The new goveniment also professed high regard for Great 

Britain. They stated their determination to cement and do justice to 

tbe relations whi<::b existed between the two countries. There was little 

giscusf'!ion over the question o;f Texas, but it was beHeve!i that this 

new gove:rruneµt wou.ld be ;i:-easonable and realistic. 

Bankh,ead wanted the new gove:rnment to accept the proposals 

adv<;u::ated by Santa Anna in December, 1844-. However, he believed the 

new gove;n1ment might place 1rance in a more prominent position in any 

t;ra:nsaction. 

Aberdeen was perple~e~ over the news of the 1844 ~evolution, 

of Santa Anna's proposals, immediately sent a messenger with a copy of 

hi1;1 proposals~ He asked, Guh:ot to send instructions tc;, the J!rench 

cbats,e !!.' .affaires in Texas, so that he and l!;lliot could jointly sh(')W 

87Justin ~mith, The War Wjth Mexico, Vol. I 1 pp. 55~56. 

BSJ;bid.~ Po 57• 
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Texas that they viewed the entire problem as a unit, france agreed 

and said that they would send a note to their minister, and Aberdeen 

reported to :aankhead that ,1;1ince Santa Anna was out of power, the 

discussion should not end, and he should not admit that the proposal 

or the suggestion was dead. 

Aberdeen also told Bankhead that due to the problems of com-

mupication and the lack of knowledge he possessed, that he, Bankhead, 

had the right to use his own judgement; but that the communication 

which he ~eceived from President Santa .Anna was to be considered a 

fo?'lllal and valid act of the Mexiqan gove~ment, and as such would b~ 

th b . ff th ~f· i 1 t• t" 89 ~h B 't" h e asis o _ur J,er o~ ic a nego ia ions. ~ e ~i is were 

moving to save the situation for themselves, Mexico, and Texas in spite 

of Me~ican politics. 

$anta Anna valiantlr tried to maintain control, and with a force 

of 12,000, wnich at that time was superior to any in Mexico, he marched 

tow~rd Mexico City. He never attacked, spent time at Pµebla, and then 

return~d to Vera Cruz. In Vera ~ruz he asked Congress if he could 

embark fqr a foreign country with full pensiqn and a rank of general 

for the rest of his life. The government deni,ed his request, and said 

he was to, place himself at their disposal. 

Santa .A,nna then fled, but was later captured. »e agai,n asked to 

reitire and placed p:i,s property and all of his belongings at the dis-

pqsal of the gove;rnm~nt in order to meet his demands. He was brought 

late:,:, to the Castle at Perote to dec;ide cm his fate, and even though he 

89F,O. 50 Vol. 183 No, 6, ''Aberdeen to Banknead, F~bruary l 1 

! 8/,i,5 ! II p • ll ., 
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was very unpopular at that time in Mexico City, th,e government decided 

to spare his life, 90 They were puzzled as to what to do with him. The 

country was quiet, the new ministers were confident and united, but 

foreign diplomats were concerned over the direction of the new 

government. 

Bankhead believed even after the revolution that Santa ,Anna was 

the only ?ne able to head Mexico but unfortunately, Santa Anna had 

failed to listen to astute advisers within his Cabinet. General 

Paredes, who started the revolt, and wh,ose career would have been cut 

short if Santa Anna had acted quickly enough, arrived in Mexico City 

and was named Commandant-General of the anny 1 with a force of 22,000 

strong. On January 29, 1845, .Bankhead reported that the new govern-

ment's ~anguc:1.ge was moderate. There was an army of 22,000 men1 at the 

disposal of the gc:>ve:rnment, but Bankhead believed in January of 1845 

that war with Texas wc:1.s unpalatable, both with the officers ai;id the 

soldiers. 

If war should come, there were 20,000 men who could be sent to 

Te:icas., '!'his was a huge army for those times. Finally Bankhead re-

ported that he reveived assurances that,no plans existed for a war or a 

hostile action in Texas. 91 Senor Cuevas, the Foreign Minister, ha.d 

access to Counsel Murphy's memorandum and Bankhead gave him a copy of 

SM ta Anna's proposal which outUned Mexican conditions for the 

recognition of Texa;;;. Cuevas passed these letters on m.d told Bankheap 

90Bancroft, Hi~to;ry of Mexico, p. 44J. 
,,··~ .· 

91J;<\Q. 50 Vol. 184 No, 7, "Confidential, Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
January 29, !845," PP• 39-47. 
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that MexicQ was gratified tQ England for its interest in the area and 

that the Mexican President wanted to maintain a strong and friendly 

relationship with Great Britain. 

Since the new government was on shaky grouud, Cuevas could not 

discuss the Texas question, put he did add he could not obtain a 

re~ognition of Texas from Congress without some assurance that the 

plW!, had previously received the sanction and supp9rt of the British 

and French governments. He felt no doubt that, armed with such an 

assqrance, the influence possessed by the present government in the 

Congress would be successfully employed in obtaining recognition. 92 

Banknead agpeed that recognition not guaranteed by England and 

France was impossible and that if recognition was not guaranteed, the 

United ~t~tes woµld go their merry way. He also believed that the 

Uni.ted atrtes WQ1.lld adjoum as early 2!.S March without annexing Texas 

to the United States, so there was time for some reflection and some 

in MexicM affiidrs~ ~kh19ad 1 a 'prediqtion, however, proved fall;'.!e, 

NeW!il r~ached Mexico that the House of :Representatives passed the . 

anpexation bill just before adjournment. 93 

Cuev~s immediately sousht advice from Bankhead and asked what 

poltey Me~ico should follow. Bankhead advised him that caution and 

modtration were tµe pnly paths Mexico could follow, because the United 

States Se~at~ still had to aot. The S~nate in :March, 1844 had 

92F.o, 50 Vol. 184 NQ. 7, "Confident:Lal, Bankhead to Ab~rdeen, 
.;ranua:i;'Y 29, 1845, _I' PP· 39"'1'*7 • 

93 F.O. 50 Vol, 184 No, 19, 11&:tnkllead to Aberdeen? March l, 1845, 11 

pp. 1,7, ... 17.5, 
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overwhi,llmingly defeated annE):1eation and perhaps they wo'l,lld do it again 

only a year later. Cuevas failed to follow his advice and newspaper 

articles appeared in Mexico, which bl"Ustered about the honor and rights 

of Mexico and the necessity of sending a strong force to sustain the 

Mexican rights in Texas. When asked by Cuevas for his opinion of an 

article, J;3ankhead frankly sitated that he disapproved of it, that a 

st;rong language would increase i:r:ritation, that the boast o;f an army to 

a :(rontier was ridiculous since it could not be fulfilled, even if the 

Senate passed the bill? it was a far better path for Mexico to make a 

solemn protest to her allies against the measure, hoping for some 

co"Unsel and support from England and France. 94 

Eanl.Qle~d went on to say: 

••• it was u$eless to put off a discussion of Texas' 
il!ldependence at this time. Each day that Me:dco delayed 
only aided the annexation movement in the United States. 
Tnese delays were also reasons why, tlle friend.s of Mexico 
CO'Uld not come forward to assist her in her struggle, and 
as proof of that Great J;3ritain, her first and steady ally, 
has been compelled to retreat, what in an earl:i,er period 
she was willing to do for her.95 

Justin Smith, the most nqted historian on the Mexican war con-

eluc;lect thiit Mexico expected English aid.. Some of that expectation 

may have come from this dispatcn •. Bankhead implied that England was 

ready at one time to go beyond mediation. That it might have come 

d'UrinQ the dii;;cuss;ions between England and Fr.ance over a aomj:)ined 

mediation. 

94 F.O. 50 Vol. 184 No. 19, "J3ankhead to Aberdeen, March 1, 1845," 
pp. 17:3,.,175. 

95Ibid., p. 175. 
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Cuev~s repeated that the simple plan to recognize Texas without 

a~y assur~ce from $ngland and France would be rejected immediately. 

He said if assurances were given, victory would be his result. 

BanlQlead replied, England could probably only give moral assistance. 

Wh,atever may have been the case earlier, it was not possible now. 

Mor~l assistance qould be granted, but he did not ~now what France 

would do. He then told Cuevas that he did not know the British 

position and would pave to wait for new orders. Thus, the Mexicans 

were now out on a limb. 

Those orders arrived in May of 1845 and did not rescue the 

Mexicans. Aberdeen, after learning about the action of the United 

States Congress to annex Texas, asked France to join with Britain to 

bring acc~mmodation between Mexico apd Texas. Both would offer medi~ 

ation to assist Mexico and fexas in adjusting their differences, but 

11 th_e free recognition of Mexico of the independence of Texas must be 

the condition for 1;1uch mediat;i.on. 1196 However, Britain was unwilling 

to go beyond moral influenee to force or enforce any agreements be-

twe,n the two countries, The French agreed to these proposals 

initiated by the British Foreign Office. Bankhead was instructed to 

move quickly, and press the need for full recognition because "without 

unf~tte;red recognition, nOtlling will be gained, and Texas will annex 

itself to the United States. But 1 with recognition, Texas will, it 

is pelieved, remc;i.in independent, and a barrier will be established for 
i 

97 :t,iextcai;,. secud ty." · 

96 f.O~ 50 Vol. 18,3 No. 15, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, May 1, 184,5," 
pp. 1.37 ... ;i.li2. 

97Ibid., p. 142. 
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The British kn.ew that the ~nited States would opject to English 

interfe~ence, Tp.us, ~an~ead was instructed to tell the United States 

minister that the aritish Foreign Office was not hostile to the United 

States. The British Government was only offering a practical policy 

for Mexico, If Mexico refused the Anglo-French mediation, and 

annexation took pla~e, Great Britain and France would absolve them~ 

selves from being med.iators. France and England, in other words, 

'Were willing to mediate the frontier problems of Texas and Mexico, but 

not the Vnited States and Mexico. 98 '.l'he fate of Mexico was sealed. 

'l'IJe ~nnexation moves on the part of the United States terrified 

the ~exic.ms. ~ecovering from a revolution and in the process of 

est~blishing a new government, Mexico went into shock. Moderation and 
1 

ooo\ thinking were out. The new government was acting too late. Wben 

Mexico received wqrd of the United States Senate's action, President 

Herrera deqided that Mexico would resist the acquisition of Texas by the 

United Stf1,tes. 

'!be Brii;isp fea.red that ~ven with tneir limited ineans the Mexicans 

~iQ~t COntlllit an overt act, which would bring war. Ba.qkhead therefore 

urged ~oderation, and emphasi~e~ to the Mexican ~overnment that the 

questiOJ'l was s1dll a Mexican .... ',l'e:ii:an matter and not yet with the United 

States, ~ankll,ead and the French minister, Baron de Cyprey, met with 

Cuevas on M~rQh ~2, 1845. !heir pu~pose was to find out the Mexican 

government's po~ition. 

98,.o. 50 Vol. 184 No. 31, "Bankll.ead to .A.be:rdeen, March 31, 
l845 1 ' 1 P~ 229~ 
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Cuevas told them that orders had been given to troops to hold 

themselves in readiness, and to strengthen the corps at Matamoros. He 

said there was no hostile act intended. The French and English 

ministers were relieved. With regard to the United States, both 

ministers UPQed Mexico to use caution and moderation in all letters 

sent to the United States. The French minister even asked for a 

declaration in writing of Mexico's intention with regard to Texas. 

Cuevas then protested the United States' action and showed the note to 

bot:b Bankhead and Cyprey. Both considered the note moderate and very 

cautious.· 

At the same meeting the French minister and the British minister 

SUQgested sending a secret agent to Texas, who would receive any 

declaration from the Texas president. He would place himself in the 

con!'iden.tial conum,m:ication with Captain Elliot. This might head off 

the move for annexation. Even though the United States had passed the 

annexation act, it did not become legal until Texas accepted it and 
; 

voted to join the Vnion. However, the Mexicans later turned down this 

sum1esti.on for the secret agent. 

: The pace was pick!ng up. The Br:i tish and French constantly urged 

immediate action~ especially since the United States had already acted, 

but the Mexican ministers always turned a deaf ear. Prqcrastination 

therefore, was the reason fQr most of the difficulty the Mexicans faced 

during the first few months of 1845. 

Until annexation became a fact, England and France instructed 

their ministers to continue in-pursuit of an amicable settlement be-

tween Mexico and the Republic of Texas. Captain Elliot in Texas dis-

cussed Mexican recognition with President Anson Jones, Elliot and 



Jones agreed that if Me:xico recognized Texas, there would be a 

possibility that 'l'exa$ wquld reject the annexation proposai. 99 In 

110 

reporting Jones' proposal, Elliot noted that Mexico must recognize the 

independ~ce of Texas and leave Texas alone. 

Frantically, '.6«;:tnkhead hoped he could persuade Elliot to get some 

concessions from Tex~s, so that a settlement could come quickly. He 

pointed out that the problem was still one which involved Mexico and 

Texas, not the United States. 

But the United States was bearing down. In A,pl;"il, 1845 an 

American naval squadron arrived off Vera Cruz, and their appearance 

sent chills tl~roughout the country. Bankhead thought there was no real 

significance to tp.e .American naval move, but part of the United States 

policy was to show strength. Th.e United States minister, however, was 

trying to persuade the Mexicans that the only reason Great Britain 

was int~rested in Texas was in the hope of buying the area at a later 

date. 

E~~k in Texas, ~lliot discussed the possibility of Texan in~ 

depE;indence, and President Jones reported that Texas would not annex 

itself to any other power. Bankh,e~d and the French mini$ter, Cyprey, 

were waitin~ in Mexico City for this and a council of ministers was 

immediately convened and the Texan proposals discussed. However, a 

problem in negoti~tion immediately arose in Mexico, because in the 

Mexican constitution an article existed which forbade the executive 

from entertaining any p:roposition that alienates any portion of 

99"Charleip ~~Uot to Anson Jones, ;anuary 10, 1845," in 
Correspondence ,2! Anson Jones, p. 102. 



territory. Cong:,:,ei;si.Qnal au1:;hority, therefore, was necessary. 

Bankhead ;and the Ji'rench minister then instructed Cuevas to address 

100 
~ Inci,51:ti1va to C<mgress~ · This initiative petition would ask for 

authority to enter into a negotiation with Texas. 

111 

'.l'h(;l paper was d!,t"awn, up under the tutelage of Bankhead and Saligny; 

botn read the paper and made suggestim;1s as, to :i, ts content, and when 

' "' d t Co • t ~ . bl · d 101 1~ vas rea o ngress 1 was ~avora. y receive. Cuevas believed 

the measure would pass, but Bankhead was afraid that the present 

gove:rnm~tal leaders lacked the moral courage and the resolution need~d 

at this p~rti~ular time. The slightest opposition would ~ause delay 

and concern on the part of the government, and Bankhead constantly 

had to point out the immediacy of the problem and the crisis in which 

~e~ico was placed, ~ankhead and the French minister reite~ated their 

betief that if T~~as joined the Union, the United States would continue 

s9uthward until all of ~exioo was taken, 102 

l'he Mexican Congress eventually agreed to allow, the ~esident to 

enter into negotiations with Texas, but the Congress naturally re-

103 i;erved the right to a~pr~ve the a~reement. Bankhead and Cyprey 

breathed eali;iier 'but not for loQg. The news of this negotiation 

prolJlPtf!ld :immedili:lte re~l4E\ls from Federalists who denounced tlle Texa,s 

100, .o. :;;o vo:i., 18.5 Nch 4;, "Bankhead to Aberde~n, ApJ;'il 29, 
!84.5," PP• 7l ... 79. 

,lOltbid~, P• 74, 

102lbid., p. 79. 
!OJ L . L 

Daily P;l,~ayune, J'uly 16, 18+.1;5, p. ~ and F .o. 50 Vol. 185 ;No. ':1:8, 
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question and criticized the Eerrera government for selling out to 

]µlglish gold. 'fl;ley tried to impress upon the people England's efforts 

in this matter were a cloa~ only for their ambitious plots. 

Given this immediate response by Cuevas' opposition, Bankhead was 

again called in to discuss the problem, and again, both Bankhead and 

the French minister had to urge and persuade Cuevas to remain in 

office, because he wanted to resign as soon as he heard of the op~ 

positiQn. The Mexicans continued to delay negotiations while Cuevas 

receiyed constant encquragement from Bankhead and Saligny. 

The condition~ set by the Texans were simple--recognition of their 

independence and further details to be negotiated or arbitrated. 104 

As soon as these proposals were known, Bankhead and .Ji;lliot called 

full speed ahea<;l (or negQtiations. Me:x:ico accepted, but with one 

reservation aimed at stopping the United States: 

It is understood that besides the four preliminary 
articles proposed by Texas, there are other essential 
and important points which are also to be included 
in the negoti~tions~ and that if this negotiation 
is not realized on account of circumstances, or 
because Texas, influenced by the law passed in the 
United States Qn annexation, should consent thereto, 
either directly or indirectly, then the answer which 
under tnis date is given to 'fexas by the undersigned 
mini~ter for forei9n affairs shall be considerrg 
as null and void. (signed) Louis G. Cuevas. 5 

Capt~in ~lliot became so involved in the proposal that in April 

of 18~5 h~ secretly proceeded to Mexico with the plans for a Mexican-

Texan ne9~tiation. England approved of the diligent work that Elliot 

104F,O. 50 Vol. 185 No. 4'8, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, May 20, 1845, 11 

pp. 107--ll4. 

105oaily Picayune, July 16, lij45, P· 2. 



llJ 

carried on wi tb reaard tQ the p;rob+ems o.f peace between the two, put 

Aberdeen cjlld tpe Foreign Office did not approve of Elliot's secret 

mission to Mexico, Even Prime Minister Peel emphasized that this 

secrecy could give ;rise to erroneous notices and false interpretations 

of F.nglish motives and ;English intentions, especially on the part of 

106 the United States. The policy of Great Britain, always, Aberdeen 

replied, was clear and open and never required concealment. England 

wantE:id Texas' independence ctnd felt that Mexico would gain by it, but 

"the:re was no speci fie British interest apart from the general interest 

of peace and good will, 11107 Elliot was reprimanded for his action and 

told that hE:l jeopardized the entire negotiation. 

Mexico finally agreed to recognize the independence of Texas, but 

it was too late. In June, .1,645 Te:M:as considered both annexation and 

the Mexican p:t'oposa;l., and on Jµne 16 1 1845 the Texans accepted annexa-, 

tion l,,y t:tw United States and rejected the Mexican proposal unani-

108 mously. . 

~eady for the bad news, Cttevas reported that i;f Texas accepted 

anne:icati<m, tne M:e:Xica,11 nation would immediately sen<'! 15,000 men to 

the Rio B:.ravo, and on the slightest pretext carry on war with Texas. 

The~e statements ca~e even after ~ankhead warned the Mexican ministers 

106.A,oE;lrdeen Paper$, Vol. XXV:U, 43065 "Correspondence with Sir 
Robert lleel,, 11 ''Peel to Aberdeen, May 12, 1845," pp. 209 .. 210. 

l07:F.O. 50 Vol. 183 No. IO, 11,1\be:.rdeen to Elliot, June 2, 1845," 
p • l,O • 

108 
Seymour Connor, Adventure in Glory (Austin, 1956), p. 234. _,......,.,,_ ........ _ ............ 



th,at "it is perfe<:;tly cleav that the lJn;ited States seeks but a very 

slight pretext to engage your country in a state of hostility J09 

l'el!'.as, thel1efore, became part of the United States. The Te;x:as 

Ninth Congress approved of a convention to meet in Austin on July 4, 

an appropriate date, and at that convention there would be a proper 

and public acceptance of anne:x:ation, plm;i the convention would draft a 

Constitution for the State of l'exas. 110 On July 4 that convention met 

and adopted the ordinance of annexation at their very first meeting, 

and ;for two months wrote a Constitution, fov 'J,'exas. 

Later in 1845 the annexation ordinance was submitted to a popµlar 

vote; howelver, the outcome was certain, and the turnout at the polls 

was light, Four thousand two hundred and fifty-four people voted for 

annexation; ~97 opposed it; while 4,174 voted for the new Texas State 

Cqnstitut;ion and 312 voted against it. The constitution was immediately 

forwarded to President ~olk and on December 29, 1845, Texas became the 

JOth state in the Union. 

:For the Mexicans, the worst had happened, and worse was yet to 

come. l!:ngla.nd had used every means available short:of direct involve-

ment. But, they were unwilling to lay anything else on the line. 

The Arneri~ans were and so were the Mexicans, The moderation urged by 

Eriglan4 failed to sto~ the wa:r. But, Ameri~a's move was prec:i.pated 

because of her fear of ~glish involvement. Was that fear justified 

or was it a myth? 

109:i,;1.o. 50 Vol. 185 No. 70, ''Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 29, 1945," 
P• ~49. 

110 Connor, Adventure in Glory, p. 235. ,--



CHA.Pl'ER V 

AME~ICA SEES BRITAIN AS IMMOD~TE 

AND MEDDLING AND TH::iJ; SH:OWDOWN 

For three years England tried to persuade Mexico that the best 

policy for her was an immediate recognition of the independence of 

Texas. 'lhat independence vanished in June, 1845, when Texas accepted 

the United States' treaty of annexation. In the United States, 

annexation was necessary because several prominent Americans were 

afraid that ~ngland would gain a foothold in Texas. Andrew Jackson, 

Lewis Gass, James K. Polk, Jolm Tyler, and John c. Calhoun are some of 

the leading politicians who were ~oncerned about English motives and 

actions in Mexico and !exas. ijepresentative C. J. Ingersoll, Chairman 

of the House Committee on Foreign Relations, said that, "English and 

French meddling in Central and South America is so extensive that those 

European masters seem to consider America their possession, to be 

regulated as they qeal with Portugal, Belgium, and l'urkey •• 

Annexation, however, was not a new topic and as early as 1836, 

Texa,,s i;n ~ popular vote sought to be a part of tQe United States. It 

was proposed to the United States Congress in 1837, but it was blocked 

from further discussion by a filibuster by John Quincy Adams. 

1 
F.O. 5 (America) Vol. 1.±07 No. 87 11 Pakenham to Aberdeen, July 25, 

1~44," p. 81. 

ll5 
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Pr~sident ijouston, upset with politics in the United States, withdrew 

the offer, and a Texas Congress ratified his action in 1839.2 There-

fore, there was no further discussion of annexation until President 

Tyler in 1843 brought the matter up again for consideration. 

Tyler after ~arrison's death cautiously approached the question of 

annexation. He realized that his Secretary of State Daniel Webster 

was against annexation, and he did not want to hurt W~bster' s chances 

for a successful treaty with Englanc;'l over the Maine boundary. Once 

the Webster-Ashburton treaty was ratified, Tyler decided to press for 

the annexation of 1exas. Webster unable to work in that atmosphere 

resigned in 1843, and left the door open for Tyler's new Secretary 

Abel P. Upshur to begin serious discussions of annexation. 3 

As a result, Secretary of State A. P. Upshur conferred with Isaac 

Van Zandt, the Texas minister in Washingt9n, and gave him a letter 

which called for the annexation of Texas. 4 By 1843, Tyler believed 

that the United States would accept the measure and that both branches 

of Congress would agree to a treaty of annexation if it was drawn up 

and presented in proper form. 5 

The United States was afra~d of English influence in Mexico and 

throughout the period rumors erupted that England had ulterior motives 

2Joseph Schmitz, Texan Statecraft, p. 62. 

3see Allan L. Benson, Daniel Webster (New York, 1929), pp. 238 .. 
239 and Claude M. fuess, :Oaniel Webster, 11 vols. Vol. 11, pp. 91-129, 
and Daniel Webster (New York, 1902), pp. 255 ... 283. 

4 
Smith, Annexation of Texas, p~ 11±7, and "Upshur to Van Zanc;lt, 

October, 1843, 11 in Diplo~tic Correspondence of~ Republic~ Texas, 
p. 888. 

5smith, Anne~ation ~ Texas, p. 147. 



in Te~as. However, Aberdeen outlined as early as Pecember, 1843, ~he 

English position in Texas and Mexico. 6 He advocated peace, but the 

diplomatic activity pf the aritish ministers in Mexico and Texas con~ 

v~noed many tpat England was secreUy supporting Te!X:as, 

P~esident Polk, after his election, also referred to problems in 

l'e:,x:as and Me:!ll:ic;o which were instigated and caused by J1Xiropean intri1;1ues. 

He never mentioned England, but the English ministers in Washington 

and Mexico were unanimous in their feeling that Polk was referring to 

fngland. In Polk's inaugural addresl;l he said, "They [ the United States 

and Texas] are independent powers, competent to contract, and foreign 

nations have no right to interfere with them, or to take exceptions to 

their reunion."7 'fhat Polk was riefe;rring to England was ol;>vious, and 

Pakenham too~ e~~eption to the speech. 

United States citizens in Mexico who witnessed the activity of 

Charles a~khead and the :French minister, Baron de Cyprey, were con-

vio:ced that En111land desired more than just a peace!ul reconciliation 

between the two republics. They were concerned because of Bankhead's 

con,ta11t involvement i11, Mexican politics. Many reported that tile 

Me:x:tcan FoFeign Minister :;;pent many hours in private consultations 

Charle~ aankhead qonferred with the Mexi€an government on a 

routine basis but in his reports he emphasized that he never 

6F.o·. 5 (America) Vol. 390 No, 9, "Aberdeen to Pakenham , December 
26, 1843," p. 1;38, and Aberdeen Papers, Vol. XXVII, 4306J - 11Aberdeen 
to Peel, December 9, 1843," p. lll. 

7 . ' u. s. Congress, Congressional Globe, 28th Cong. 2nd Sess. 
Vol. XIV, 11 Pres;i,dent Polk's Inaugural Address, 11 P• 399. Also 
London limes, January 8, 18~5, p. 6. 
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compromised his position and never offered direct assistance to the 

Mexican nation. His urgent appeal was for the recognition of Texas by 

Mexico. 

Many thq~ght England would come to the direct aid of Mexico in any 

struggle with the United States. The Picayune was the most concerned 

newspaper, and any English involvement was construed as direct as­

sistance and given front page coverage. 8 Several other papers, in 

Richmond, Atlanta, and Philadelphia were instrumental in publicizing 

English activity in Mexico and Texas. Others warned the Mexicans that 

England was stringing them along until they were able to gain a foot~ 

hold in the Northwestern boundary dispute. 9 Many American citizens 

monitored England's involvement in North and South America, and were 

concerned because English commercial interests in South America, 

particularly Mexico, were quite extensive. Joel Poinsett after he 

arrived in Mexico in 18~6, was astounded, and probably jealous, when 

he discovered that H. G. Ward, the British minister, had already ne-

gotiated a commercial treaty. Waddy Thompson later reported that 

England engaQed an annual trade of fifteen to twenty million dollars. 

Added to this the British interests in Mexican mining valued at 

$50,000,000 and also the pµrcha~e of Mexican bonds far surpassed the 

rest of the world in commercial investments in Mexico. 

England not only maintained a lucrative trade in the area, she 

also enjoyed the favor of most Mexican politicians and was received 

warmly by most Mexican citizens. When Mexico needed assistance, she 

8Daily Picayune, March 27, 1845. 

9Daily Picayune, March 28, 1845, p. 2. 
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usually turned to the British Minister. 

The Finglish influence dated back to the early days of independence 

when George Canning went out of his way to assist the newly emerging 

countries of South America. Canning, in the eyes of Latin Americans, 

was the single most importapt individual in recognizing the Latin 

countries • As a result, Mexican politicians turned to the British 

. . t 10 m1n1s ers. Richard Pakenham was instrumental in settling the dispute 

with :France in 1839, and the settlement of French claims. When Texas 

separated from the Mexicans England offered her advice, and even went 

so far as to seek a joint agreement with France to insure Mexican 

tranquillity. 

This involvement and influence in Mexico, coupled with the 

Americans' natural distrust of :&,glish activity, led to many rumors 

about English desires and designs on the North American continent. 

When Texas was finally annexed to the Union and Mexico reacted with a 

call to arms, it was only natural for those who already suspected 

England to surmise that England would come to the aid of Mexico in any 

war with the United States. 

Aberdeen and later Palmerston, who returned to'the Foreign Office 

in 1846, steadfastly adhered to a policy of neutrality and only offered 

her good counsel to Mexico during the period 1840-1848. Why did the 

United States suspect England of aid? Where and how did all of these 

stories originate? 

In analyzing this problem, one must reassess, and re-examine the 

;English position prior to annexation. England steadfastly supported 

10Richardson, Texas The Lone Star State, p. 26. 
--"I"- .....,.__ --· -.. 
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Texan ing,ependence. As a result, England adopted a policy which she 

believed would guarantee that independence. England sought Mexican 

recognition of Texas, but many politicians in the United States were 

afraid that England had ulterior motives. President Tyler, after 

receiving information from the United States' minister in London, 

Edward Everett, that Great Britain had designs on Texas, decided to 

present a treaty to Congress for the annexation of Texas. This treaty, 

although many favored anne:X:ation, was written because the United States 

was afraid of English designs in Mexico and Texas. 

After Webster resigned Upshur discussed annexation with the Texan 

minister, Y,an Zandt. Upshur was stymied ~owever, because Texas wanted 

the United States to send more troops into Texas during the ne-

gotiations in order to prevent a Mexican attack. Upshur hesitated and 

it was not un,til his untimely death as a result of a cannon explosion 

aboard the~-~·~· Princeton and the appointment of John C. Calhoun as 

Secretary of State, that the formation of a treaty became a reality. 

James Pinckney Henderi,on and John c. Calhoun drew up the treaty, 

but in June, 18~4, the United States Senate rejected the treaty by a 

vote of 35 to 16, more than two~thirds a~ainst, 11 Even though the 

treaty was not ratified, it did begin the discussion of the merits and 

demerits of annexation and, above all, the extent of British influence 

on the· American continent. 

Several prominent Americans believed that annexation was necessary 

bec~use of British interest in the area. Andrew Jackson argued that 

llu. S. Congress, ConQressional Globe, 28th Cong. 1st Sess. 
Vol. XIII, p. 698, June 8, 1844. 
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milttarily, Texas was very important to the United States. 12 Great 

Britain already had treaties with Texas and he believed that Great 

Britain never made a move that would not have some military advantage. 

Militarily, according to Jackson, important to Great Britain because 

she could enter into an alliance with Texas, send approximately 20,000 

to )0,000 troops into Texas, declare war over the northwestern boundary 

dis~ute, control the entire Mississippi Valley, incite the slaves, and 

capture New Orleans. Meanwhile, she could move into Canada, and with 

the cooperation of the Texan army, spread "ruin and havoc from the 

Great Lakes to the Gul:f;' of Mexico." 

Another prominent politician, Lewis Cass, believed that Mexico had 

given up Texas, and annexation was necessary, not only because of its 

contiguity to the United States but also from a military point of 

. 1) 
view. If Texas was taken by a European enemy, the whole south-

western border of the United States would be laid open to the depre-

dations on the part of an enemy. English involvement in the area was 

the main reason for Cass supporting annexation. 

On a trip to England he read an article in Frazer's Magazine which 

14 
called for war against the United States. A war that could be won, 

by organizing and training, with the aid of British troops and an army 

of runaway slaves,in the West Indies. Once this force was organized, 

it would be landed on the southern coast of the United States. These 

12Daily Picayune, March 29, p. J. 

13Ibid. 

14 
London Times~ October 23, 1844, p. 4. Cass at that time was 

United States minister to France and he kept in constant touch with 
the French and their feelings toward annexation. 
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black soldiers would carry on operations, gain the support of black 

slaves in the South, and the result would be total chaos in the United 

States and a complete collapse of the southern states in the Union. 

If rexas were independent or under England's thumb, it would fit 

beautifully into this picture, because it could become the depot for 

border raids and army excursions into the Southern states, and the 

entire war could be rationalized by British officials as one of 11 philan-

tl?,ropic enterprise," and the complete emancipation of slavery in the 

United States. 

President Tyl,er also played on the fear of English involvement and 

in a message to the House May 16, 1844, he reiterated Jackson's plea 

"that the present golden moment to obtain Texas must not be lost, or 

Texas might from necessity be thrown into the arms of England and be 

forever lost to the United Statf,:!s. 1115 Tyle:r also was upset after the 

Senate rejected the treaty and in another message to the House on 

June 11, 1844, in which he called for prompt action because he was 

assured from letters of Edward Everett that instructions were already 

sent by the Texas government to enter into a treaty both offensive 

and defensive with Great Britain. 16 

English reaction to the stories was prompt and to the point. 

Aberdeen, as stated earlier, instructed Pakenham to explicitly point out 

that Engl'c;tnd had no desire to control Mexico or Texas. The Foreign 

Office refrained from refuting most of the stories, because they 

15Messages and Papers of the Presidents, Vol. V, p. 2172. -....----~- - -. -. -. ·-
16u. s. Congress, Congressional Globe, 28th Cong. 1st Sess. 

Vol. XIII, p. 709. 
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considered them preposterous. Nevertheless English journalists ac-

cepted the challenge and the London Times, after reading Jackson's 

reasons for annexation, considered them absurd, and emphatically stated 

that if a war came with the United States, there would be no reason 

17 to attack the uncivilized areas of Texas and Oregon. 

To think that Texas and Oregon would become the principal military 

stations was ridiculous according to the London Times. There were far 

greater advantages in England's hands--command of the Great Lakes, 

the St. Lawrence Seaway, Halifax, Bermuda, most of the West Indian 

Islands, and above all, the terrific war cry of Negro emancipation, 

also the London Times pointed out that the whole coast of the United 

States is defenseless, and to argue that the annexation of Texas would 

insure America's independence is beyond reason. Finally the editorial 

emphasized that the project of annexation took its origin in the 

electioneering intrigues of President Tyler's party rather than in any 

. h . ~ ~ . . ~1 18 serious appre ens1ons oi iore1gn 1ni uence. 

The concern for English activity was also enhanced during the 

Calhoun-Henderson negotiations in Washington. Henderson emphasized 

in his discussions with Calhoun that if the United States Senate failed 

to support the treaty he was under instructions to set sail for England 

to sign a treaty which would for all practical purposes, place Texas in 

the British empire. Henderson further argued that Texas no longer 

could preserve itself as an independent nation and if the United States 

refused, he would have to turn to England. 

l7London Times, October 23, 1844, p. 4. 

18 Ibid. 
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Indeed, Texas faced many political and economic problems during 

her ten-year period as an independent nation. Jackson agreed with 

Henderson and argued that Texas would be driven into the hands of a 

f ' . f t. f 'l d 19 oreign power i annexa ion ai e. Many politicians, as evidenced 

by the Senate vote, were not in favor of the treaty. The North-South 

split in Congress prevented full support, along with the concern by 

many that annexation would lead to a war with Mexico, and probably a 

foreign power. 

Henry Clay said it best in a speech to the Senate: 

that I consider the annexation of Texas at 
this time without the consent of Mexico as a measure 
compromising the national character and involving us 
certainly in a war with Mexico, and probably with 
other foreign powers, dangerous to the integrity of 
the Union, inexpedient in the present financial con­
dition of the country, and not called for by any 

l . f bl' . . 20 genera expression o pu ic opinion. 

The treaty failed, but the important concern and discussion over 

European interference in Texas, primarily England, set the stage for 

further discussion of Texas' annexation and also set the stage for 

inevitable war between the United States and Mexico. 

The Daily Picayune, the New Orleans paper, throughout 1844 and 

1845, mentioned the possibility of English aid to Mexico in a war with 

the United States. In July, 1844, the correspondent from the New~ 

Journal of Commerce reported that he had traveled with an English 

gentleman from New Orleans, who had lived in Texas for five years. He 

discovered that the Englishman was a personal friend of Captain Elliot, 

19n 'l p· A 'l 2 18'·'· 2 ai y icayune, pri , ~~, p •• 

20n 'l p· M 5 18'·'· 3 ai y icayune, . ay , . ~~, p. • 
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the British charge i' affaires. 21 During their conversations the 

Englishman unwittingly revealed a piece of British diplomacy. Ac-

cording to his account, the Foreign Office advised Mexico that under no 

circumstances were they to acknowledge the independence of Texas. 22 

They were to maintain an armistice with her as long as possible, but if 

annexatipn became a reality, Mexico was to go to war, and England 

would back her in the conflict. 23 

News stories such as this reinforced the idea that England was 

planning a move in Mexico and Texas. When Santa Anna returned to power, 

and began active Qpstilities along the border it was believed that he 

was receiving support f'rom England. The Richmond Enquirer, in 
-, -.-

September, 1844, reported that an agency in England f'inancially sup-

ported Santa Anna with a loan of' $4,ooo,ooo and supplies of arms and 

•t• 24 ammuni ion. 

In December, 1844, the American press reported that a strong move 

was afoot to give Santa Anna absolute power in Mexico. More alarming 

was the belief that Bankhead was heading up the move. According to the 

report, Bankhead even instructed English merchants not to pay any 

duties to the opponent of' Santa Anna during the revolution of 1844, and 

if' they paid taxes to Santa Anna's enemies, Bankhead could not adopt 

any measures to compel a repayment on the part of these agencies. 25 

21 
~ York Journal of <;;ommerce, July 15, 1844, p. 2. 

22Ibid. 

23Ibid. 

24Richmond Enquirer, September 13, 1844, f'ound in Daily Picayune, 
September 21, 1844, p. 2. 

25D · 1 p· D b ,. 18 1· 1· 2 ai y icayune, ecem er~, ~~, p •• 
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The story went on to say that people interested in manufacturing in 

Mexico made a proposal to Santa Anna and agreed to pay him $J,ooo,ooo 

as an indemnity for abolishing the protective tariff. If the pro-

tective tariff was abolished, a loan of $12,000,000 would be negotiated 

26 
in London and guaranteed by the British government. 

The problem in analyzing this story and many others like it, was 

the fact that there usually was an element,of truth in them. Bankhead 

did instruct British merchants not to pay tariffs levied by insurgent 

groups. It had been the pattern in revolutions, and Mexico had more 

than her share, for the rebels to occupy a port city, collect the 

tariffs, and finance their revolt. If the foreign element paid the 

tariff, the 9overnment in power would charge their government for 

aiding a rebel cause. Rather than being implicated in such a charge, 

Bankhead tried to alleviate it before it happened. 

Bankhead also believed that despite all of his faults, Santa Anna 

was the most capaple leader in Mexico and he respected the Mexican 

leader. This respect was construed as aid to Mexico when Bankhead 

issued statements complimentary to Santa Anna. 

Likewise, the Mexican government was always seeking fin~cial 

assistance in Europe and these loans were with private investors and 

not the E>uropean governments. Also, Bankhead may have encouraged lower 

tariffs but that was his job as most foreign representatives worked to 

h th t d f th . t' t . 27 en ance e ra e o e1r respec 1ve coun r1es. In The Philadelphia 

26n 'l p· D b 1· 18 11· 2 . · a1 y 1cayune, ecem er '±, '±'±, p. • 

27F.O. 50 Vol. 175 No. 96, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, November 12, 
1844," p. J. 
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· Ledger, Robert J. Walker, a Senator from Mississippi, and forthcoming 

Secretary of the Treasury in Polk's administration, added to the 

problem of assessing .Englisn activity in Mexico and Texas when he 

reported that: 

Captain Elliot was instructed by his government to 
propose and guarantee that ·independence of Texas from 
Mexico and more important he was to tell Texas that 
Her Majesty's government would appropriate 100,000 
pounds, or $500,000 per year for ten years to defray 
the current expenses of government, and also make 
$5,000,000 available provided that Texas would abandon 
her annexation proposal with the United St,ates and 
enter into a commercial treaty with the British 
government admitting goods free of duty and agreeing 
to a charge of 20 per cent ad valorem on goods from 
all other countries. 28 

The Daily Picayune, in December, 1844, criticized the English for 

their involvement in Texan politics and told them to mind their own 

b . 29 us1ness. After learning of the election of 11Mr. Annexation Polk" 

the Times stated that Polk expected to take Texas and Oregon. The 

Times agreed that in neither of these "should the United States expect 

this country [Englanq] to acquiesce." The annexation of Te;xas would 

involve a disturbance of the settled regions of the American continent, 

in which all chief European powers would be more or less inter~sted.JO 

Yet, "Mr. Annexation Polk" continued on in a headlong adoption of 

both the Texas annexation and probably some attempt to take all of 

Oregon. These questions certainly were in the minds of most American 

politicians and they were pushed to a point 11 that demands the most 

28D "l p· D b 11 !8 1· 1· . 1 a1 y 1cayune, ecem er . , · · <±<±, · p. • 

29 Ibid., December 27, 1844, p. 2. 
30 

London Times, January 31, 1845, p. 4. 
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serious attention to them by England. 31 The London Times went so far 

as to tell the United States to abide by their Constitution. 

The treaty-making power, England reminded the United States, 

required the assent of Texas, and the Constitution required that two~ 

thirds of the Senate concur, so any attempt to carry such a measure 

through by just a bare majority in both houses, which is sufficient to 

sanction just ordinary laws would violate one of the most important 

principles of the United States' Constitution. 32 

Since England was strongly against the annexation of Texas by the 

United States it is not surprising that she immedately contacted 

France in hopes of jointly stopping annexation before Texas accepted 

it officially. Her ministers in Mexico finally convinced the Mexicans 

of the importance of an independent Texas, while her minister in Texas, 

Charles Elliot persuaded President Anson Jones to refrain from calling 

Congress to accept or reject the annexation treaty until after Mexico 

;presented her proposal for Texan recognition and a mutual settlement 

of the boundary dispute. 33 

To the Americans this was interference, and it precipitated a 

wide-spread belief throughout the United States that England was 

secretly ready to support Mexico in a war with the United States. 

After annexation Englishmen in Mexico City accused the United States 

of aggression, because the United States took advantage .of the 

31 
London Times, January 31, 1845, p. 4c. 

32rb· a~ ~ . 1d., March 22, 1 ~5, p. ~. 
33 . . 

F.O. 75 (Texas) Vol. 13 No. J, "Secret, Elliot to Aberdeen 
April 2, 1845, 11 pp. 112 ... 135. Also see ~ Papers,. Vol. CCCXXXV,' 40 
515 "General Correspondence, Peel to Aberdeen, May 12, 1845," pp. 209-
210. Peel criticizes EUiot 1 s action in this dispatch. 



129 

of the impoverished condition of Mexican politics and satisfied their 

insatiable demand for territory. 34 

Several British newspaper men traveled to Mexico and most were 

concerned over the California question, but they failed to stimulate 

any policy statement from the Foreign Office. They believed that 
) 

England could not remain indifferent, and had to interfere or be pre-

pared to see the mining districts of California under American rule. 

Many American citizens and settlers were moving into l)pper 

California, and once Texas was annexed, it appeared that California 

would be next. That action had to be prevented because the Bay at 

San Francisco was one of the finest in the world, and under United 

States authority it could jeopardize English shipping on the Pacific. 35 

Not only were some of the British concerned over California but 

the United States demand for the Rio Grande as the boundary was in-

sidious. In the treaty of 1819 with Spain the Nueces River was the 

border, and throughout Texan history it was the border that separated 

Texas from Mexico. If the United States succeeded it would not be long 

before the United States took all of Santa Fe, parts of Chihuahua, and 

t f T 1 . 36 even pars o amaup 1as. The United States was moving westward with 

a new mode of conquest. 37 England was being duped, according to the 

London Times, and in order to protect British shipping interest 

34London Times, Sept;ember 9, 1845, p. 6. These stories were pre­
cipitated by strong anti,..American feelings, and also jealous merchants 
who feared a loss of trade. 

35London Times, April 1, 1845, p. 6. 

36Ibid. 

37E. D. Adams, English Interests in Texas, p. 136. 
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England should purchase parts of California. 

When the Americans and Texans joined, the Mexicans began to get 

ready for war. Some Fngli~hmen believed that the war, if it came, 

would not be a war of the United States but of a party in the United 

States, which barely possessed a majority, and identified itself with 

everything that was most odious to a large and enlightened minority 

in the best states of the Union. 38 The dissatisfaction of the states 

of New Fngland or New York or of Ohio in having to meet the calls of a 

war for what they considered an atrocious aggression on a neighboring 

territory and for, above all 1 the encouragement of slavery, which they 

had long since expelled from their own soil, would hurt them mili-

t ·1 39 ari y. 

Also, the military establishment in the United States was well 
• 

adapted to the objects set up and contemplated by its founders. A 

militia animated by patriotic unanimity, might be able to repel a 

foreign enemy if they were to invade the United States, but as 

Fngland knew, an offensive and a defensive war were two different 

t . 40 
hings. 

Charles Elliot contributed to the Mexican cause by analyzing 

the American army: "They [American Army] could not resist artillery 

and cavalry in a country suited to those arms, they are not amenable 

to discipline, they plunder the peasantry, they are without steadiness 

38 London Times, April 15, 1845, p. 6. 

39rbid. 
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under reverses, they cannot march on foot. 11 The weekly BritcU'lPia 

said about the situation "America, as an aggressive power, is one of 

the weakest in the world ••• fit for nothing but to fight Indians. /±l 

In the United States the regular army in 1842 amounted to 9,012 

men. They were employed in garrisons along the coast and in that 

respect they had to remain there, but could 9,000 men undertake field 

operations? lwen if they took an army to Texas they would need at 

least 20 1000 to 25,000 men. A force that large could be raised from 

the popuiation of southern states, but only be equipped and maintained 

at the cost of the whole Union. How could the United States bear the 

burden of this cause? How could they extract loans from the capitalists 

of Europe? Or even new taxes to meet the war expenditures? Any in-

vasion and any conquest of a vast region by a state which was without 

an army, without credit, was really, according to the English press, 

lt ' th h' t f t' 42 a nove yin e is ory o na ions. 

It was true that the United States several times brought men 

together in Indian war, but it was an immense task to support the 

operations of a regular war. The English went on to say that Mexico 

would be completely united in repelling the attack. Strange as it 

might appear according to English correspondents, the war would be 

exceedingly popular in Mexico. The Mexican people would rise up 

!:£, ~asse, and with just ordinary ability on the part of the generals 

they would be able to present a formidaQle resistance to any Ameri9an 

41Both found in Smith, War With ~exico I, p. 105~ 
~-..-. ' -

42Ibid., p. 109. 



43 force, which could, if possible, enter the country.· 
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The Mexicans were not only impressed by feelings in England, they 

were also swayed by Texans who were convinced that annexation to the 

. 
United States was not an open and shut case. Americans who went to 

Texas did not convert Texans into Americans. They were still Texans 

at heart and proud of it. "What," arguE!d many Texans, "were the 

advantages of annexing it to the Union? They offer to take all we are 

worth except our debt. They pro~ise a high tariff, but all duties 

levied by custom houses will go to Washington, D.c.1144 

Many pointed out that they came to Texas in the first place to 

get rid of and replace all of the restrictions that existed in the 

American Union, and th~ir hope was to speculate on the future pros-

perity of the Texas Republic. Even if the majority of American 

settlers who went to Texas for the purpose of seizing that territory 

and annexing it to the United States, those settlers will have no 

scruples in betraying the one any more than the other. Englishmen 

therefore, hoped that the Texans would be guided by their own im-

mediate interests rather than by any political consideration. 

As the British saw it, the United States might be annexing Texas 

as an ally but also the United States might be conveniently avoiding a 

rivalry with Texas as another independent country. The latter was the 

view of Jackson when he was President. 45 

43London Times, April 18, 1845, p. 2. 

44Ibid. 

If Texas remained independent, 

45Richardson, Messages and Papers of the Presidents, Vol. V, 
......,_..,.. ---

p. 2172. 
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and if a treaty was established between Mexico and Texas, with or 

without the mediation or guarantee of European powers, the only means 

left for American annexation would be direct force which would be open 

violation of international rights. Texas, according to the London 

Times, should be an independent nation, and Texas felt that England 

should take a proper perspective and a proper view of what is going 

on. England needed to maintain some influence within the area~ 

American propaganda, however, attacked the French and English 

for their move to block annexation. The Daily Picayune said that this 

46 
was just like a declaration of war. It particularly was against 

Elliot's trip to Mexico. 

On the other hand, English attempts to block annexation and 

English newspaper accounts which displayed a sharp anti-American feeling 

prompted many Mexicans to assume that if the government declared war, 

and attacked Texas, England, Franc~, and Spain would immediately rush 

to their aid, quite possibly they would send troops, and the Mexican 

Cabinet could be gratified and have the simple task of sitting back and 

' . ' t . . 1 t. l,i,? Th . th t writing mp11ifes os and issuing proc ama ions. ey emphasized a 

England already displayed an immense interest in Texas cU1d if it should 

be of any· advantage to En$land to have a war with the United States, 

Mexico would declare war and England would follow immediately.48 

46naily Picayune, October 22, 1844. The Elliot trip to Mexico 
was attacked vociferously by Tyler and Polk. 

47 La Reforma, January 31, 1845, p. 2 and El Tiempo, March 26, 1845. 

48smith, ~.!!i!.!l Mexico.!,, p. 116. 



Some Americans believed that Mexico was bound to England and in 

the hands of the English businessmen. 49 War revenues of silver and 

134 

gold would be sifted by English agents so that a portion could be set 

aside for the claims of British merchants. The same American source 

alleged that the revenues of Mexican customhouses were controlled by 

British agents and 

• the Mexicans are not free from the inspection 
and contl"ol of Great Britain, and when it shall suit 
the purpose of this haughty power to exact the penalty 
of her bond, the exhaustless wealth of the mines in 
Mexico, the broad and fertile acres of California 
an~ its invaluable harbors, will fall an easy prey 
to British rapacity, should there be more to 
interpose. 50 . 

Many were concerned that England had her eye on California because 

of its ports on the Pacific to protect her navy and merchant ships. 

England possibly wanted to connect the Atlantic and the Pacific, which 

could be done through Tehuantepec, the narrow waistband of Mexico. 

Santa Anna wanted a canal in 'l'ehuantepec but the difficulties 

with Yucatan prevented any concrete discussions. Concern was expressed 

by the editor of the Daily Picayune in December, 1845, over the sale 

by Senor Garay of his right to build a canal to British capitalists. 

The sale price was $50,000. The English, it was reported, already had 

$25,000 7000 on hand for the construction of a canal. If a canal was 

built many in the United States were afraid that it would be detrimental 

to trade. The canal question became a major diplomatic problem for 

England and the United States and this was finally solved in 1850 when 

49naily Picayune, September 27, 1845, p. 2. 

5oibid. 
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the Clayton-Bulwer treaty was signed, pledging both not to have ex­

clusive control, fortification or territorial dominion over any trans­

isthmian canal in Central America. 

The Philadelphia Ledger reported that Great Britain was the 

greatest enemy of the United States 1 and Mexico as an independent 

nation, should not be a mere back parlor for British designs against 

United States commerce, manufacturing, and political system. Mexico 

had become a fulcrum upon which the English could place their levers 

for raising havoc with the United States. Hence, it must be annihi~ 

lated as an independent power. The Mexican nation was in a state of 

anarchy, and California, upper and lower, were orphans in the Mexican 

nation, they were ready to jump to the British constitution for 

asylum. "How far would the United States go? 1151 

The problem for many in the United States was, if England worked 

as diligently and hard to prevent the annexation of Texas to the 

United States, would England aid the Mexican nation in any struggle 

or war with the United States? Many were sure that England would do 

so. American politicians believed that England set her desires and 

designs on California and Oregon. It is true that many of these 

stories were magnified out of proportion in newspapers on both sides of 

the Atlantic. The London Times considered annexation as an overt act 

on the part of the United States ,to oppress an independent power, 

while newspapers in the United States considered any English assistance 

as direct interference and a threat to the peace and tranquillity of 

the United States. 

51Reported in London Times, April 26, 18~5, p. 6. 
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Many Mexicans realized that in a conflict with the United States 

California could be lost. What to do with California occupied the 

minds 9f most Mexican politicians. Some agreed with their Ministers in 

Madrid, and wanted to sell it immediately to England, while others 

felt a strong army could be established in the area. Bankhead was 

asked to aid their cause, but pe only agreed to allow an English ship 

to carry $100,000 for the Mexican officials in California. Otherwise 

he remained a silent listener. Mexico did not offer to sell California 

to Fngland in 1845 but they did listen to a plan suggested by Erwin c. 

Mackintosh, the British consul in Vera Cruz, and later Monterrey. 

Mackintosh offered Mexico $10,000,000 for the commercial coloni­

zation of the California province. 52 ln return Mexico would agree that 

all imports and exports to both upper and lower California would be 

free of duty for twenty years. Mexico would also give up her right to 

lands, mines, fishing privileges, and the navigation of all rivers. In 

other words, Mexico would give up California for twenty years. All 

civil and military personnel would be paid by the colonizers. An army 

of 2,000 men could be established and these men would be paid by the 

53 various commercial interests in the area. 

During that 20 year period he estimated that 500,000 European 

colonists would emigrate to California and after 20 years the land 

would be given back to the Mexicans. 54 The plan, according to Bankhead, 

52 F.O. 50 Vol. 186 No, 74, "Confidential - Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
July 30, 1845," pp. 28 .... 30. 

53rbid. 

64rbid. 
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had many merits because it brought into the Mexican treasury a sizable 

amount of money, money that was a necessity in the disorganized state 

of Mexican finances, and above all, it freed Mexico from any worries 

with regard to the protection and control of an area that would attract 

thousands of American settlers and create another problem like Texas.55 

Although the plan never materia,lized it did cause alarm in the 

United States. California remained a problem throughout the period, 

because English merchants interested in protecting their trade lobbied 

for control of the California ports, while Aberdeen and Peel remained 

unresponsive to the call for the purchase of California. 

Aberdeen was still concerned over the Mexicans who favored going 

to war, and he instructed Bankhead to suggest that Mexico refrain from 

any attack until the Texan convention acted. Both men rea.lized that 

56 the emotional appeal for war could destroy the Mexican system. 

Congress, however, agreed to support a large army, and passed laws to 

finance the war, while Cuevas, the Mexican Secretary of State was in-

structed to ask for En~lish a,ssistance. Bankhead did not reply and 

forwardeq the request to Aberdeen. However, Bankhead did advise the 

Mexicans .to harass the enemy, and not to meet them in open battle. 

This suggestion, al though it was .a small one, could have added to the 

overall feeling of expectation in Mexico for some English assistance. 57 

55Aberdeen Papers, Vol. XXVII, 43065, "Aberdeen to Peel~ October 3, 
1845," p. 7. 

56F.O. 50 Vol. 186 No. 78, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, July 30, 1845," 
p. 80. 

57 Ibid., p. 84, 
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He emphasized that thro~ghout the early part of July he was particularly 

careful because Cuevas was looking for the slightest hope of assistance 

from the English people. 58 

Meanwhile in Mexican politics President Herrera who w~s formerly 

elected President in January, 1845 and a new ministry was formed with 

- - - 59 the appointment of Senor Manuel de la Pena y Pena. Herrera remained 

in office for one year and during that year Charles Bankhead met with 

the President (Herrera) and Pena y Pena and discussed a possible 

settlement with the United States and accepted the latter's proposal 

t t . t 60 o nego ia ea peace. 

The Mexicans thus sought to reach some accommodation with the 

Americans and wanted the British to use their good offices. 

Pena y Pena asked ijankhead to write, unofficially, to Pakepham 

about the Altlerican agent being sent to Mexico. Pena y Pena confided 

that Mexico could not prosper as a nation until they made peace with 

the United States. He suggested that $4,ooo,ooo or $5,000,000 be paid 

. . . . f T 61 to Mexico for the unprofitable and nominal sovereignty o exas. 

58F.O. 50 Vol. 186 No. 78, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, July Jo, 1845," 
p. 80. 

59rbid., No. 84, pp. 110-112. 

GOFor further information on B~khead's interviews with Pena y 
Pena, and the Mexican desire to negotiate a peace with the United 
States, see F.(). 50 Vol. 187 No. 101, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, October 18, 
1845," p. 7; F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No. 104, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, October 
JO, 1845," pp. 94-98; F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No. 113, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
November 29, 1845," pp. 201-218 and Aberdeen Papers, Vol. .XXVIII 43065, 
11 Peel to Aberdeen, November 14, 1845,'11 pp. 101.-104. 

61 
F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No. 113, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, November 29, 

1845," pp. 201-218. 
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Bankhead's discussions with Pena y Pena bothered many American 

politicians and in a note to Pena y Pena the American consul stated 

that "they believed the exercise of foreign influence in the Mexican-

62 Te:x1an problem stymied any attempt at agreement between the two. 11 

The foreign influence obviously was England. 

Pena y Pena and Bankhead met severil times and the Mexicans 

finally asked if England would support Mexico in a fight for her 

t •t 63 err1 ory~ Pena y Pena already knew the answer to that question but 

he needed an official response, because many groups in Mexico and in 

Congress believed that their differences with the United States could 

be settled in battle, since Great Britain, France, and Spain were 

64 
ready if asked to aid the Mexican cause. Pena y Pena wanted to show 

Gongress that these ideas were only illusions, and the Mexicans had to 

seek the best terms possible with the United States. He realized that 

England, France, and Spain could not answer or justify the hopes of the 

opposition party. With an open statement from England that they would 

not aid the Mexican cause, his hand would be strengthened, and there 

would be a need to bring about a reconciliation between Mexico and the 

United States. 

Bankhead told Pena y Pena that he was correct, and that Great 

Britain could not actively aid the Mexican cause. 65 He reiterated the 

62 F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No, Ll-J, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, November 29, 
1845, 11 pp. 201-,.218, 

63 Ibid. 

64rbid. 

65 Ibid., p. 210. 



140 

fact that the British were interested in the prosperity of Mexico, and 

that Britain would use all of the most friendly efforts she could and 

on every proper occasion to promote that end. Bankhead, however, was 

reluctant to state this in an official communique because it would 

strengthen the hand of the United States, and they would realize that 

all they had to fear was Mexico itself. 66 England did not want to aid 

the Mexican cause but at the same time they did not want to open the 

door to United States aggression. 

B~nkhead warned the Mexicans that the election of 1844 in the 

United States solved the Texas question, and unless Mexico did some-

thing in California, that problem would be solved in the election of 

8'·8 67 - -1 ~. Pena y Pena therefore had to go it alone. He wanted to settle 

the problem with the United States, but he could not get English aid 

because Aberdeen did not want to recognize annexation. On the other 

hand, he could not get unified support from Mexican politicians in 

Congress because they believed England would aid them in a war with 

the United States. Herrera's government was in trouble. 

They faced the inevitable situation of war or peace with the 

United States, but could not receive any assistance either domestically 

or from a foreign power to carry out either plan. Domestically op-

position developed under Generals Paredes, Tornel, and Valencia. They 

called for a new government due to the apathetic situation under 

Herrera. It was also rumored that if these three led a revolt 

66 F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No. 117, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, November 29, 
1845, 11 p. 226, and w. D. Jones, ~Aberdeen~~ Americas, p. 38 • 

. 67 Ibid. 
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Santa Anna would return in less than six months. 68 J"ust as these 

generall;:l began their revolts, reports drifted i.nto Mexico City that 

United States forces were building bridges to begin a march on 

Matamoros. 

General Paredes, who was at Matamoras, sent messages to Mexico 

City which called for supplies, and money to defend a~ainst any attack. 

Pena y Pena read Paredes' reports to Congress and money was appro-

priated 1 but the news of the United States advance was not true. 

Paredes had invented the threat of the United States attack in order 

to gain money from Congress for his revolution, and as a result he was 

financed by the goveniment he was going to overthrow. 69 

Paredes announced his Pronunciamento in November at San Luis 

Potosi, and set up an executive council or junta of five generals for 

the purpose of administering the government. 70 'l'he executive council 

would rule until a convention could meet to establish a more popular 

and reasonable government. In December, 1845, Paredes advanced on 

Mexico City, and published his governmental manifesto. It was well 

written and showed a deep understanding of Mexican problems and Mexican 

government. Within the manifesto he chastised the Herrera government 

for its inactivity. 

The major problem according to Paredes was the lack of prosperity, 

in Mexican business and economic life. Paredes supported centralism 

68 
Calcott, Santa Anna, p. 228. 

69smith, War With Mexico I, pp. 54-56. -- ...,....._ -
?Oibid. 



even if it meant the establishment of a royal family. Rumors per-

sisted in Mexico throughout the 184o•s but they surfaced under Paredes 

that a monarchy should be set up. Bankhead and Pakenham were in agree-

ment that a strong central government was necessary, even if that 

government called for a royal official. 11 .A. monarchy," Bankhead was 

quoted as saying, "would be the most efficacious check that could be 

opposed to the encroachment of the United States. 1171 The monarchial 

question remained a viable alternative to qnarchy. Paredes had the 

support of the clergy and some of the influential members of the 

Mexican citizenry especially the upper classes who had the money to 

s~pport a revolution and to support a new government. 

Puring the revolution, Bankhead had the opportunity by accident 

to discuss Mexican problems with Paredes' compatriots Tornel and 

V 1 . 72 a encia. They came to Bankhead's house on December JO to avoid 

1:)eing arrested by the Herrera government. During the night, Bankhead 

discussed Mexican plans with Tornel, who was not a politician, but was 

the most accomplished military talent in Mexico with the possible 

exception of Santa Anna. Tornel, upset with Herrera's government 

73 wanted to reconquer Texas. He also believed that if the elite corps 

of the Mexican troops were sent into Texas they could defeat any United 

States force that could be brought against them, and a combined inter-

ference might take place for the purpose of establishing a frontier 

71Daily Picayune, December JO, 1845, and September 23, 1845, 
also Lon<lon Times, October 22, 1845. 

72 F.O. 50 Vol. 187 No. 125 11 Confidential--Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
December JO, 1845," pp. ,303 ... 309. 

?Jibid., p. 307. 



to shelter Mexico from further encroachments. 

Bankhead expressed his belief that the army did not have a chance 

of defeating the United States forces. He argued that Pena y Pena was 

pursuing the only position possible in the affairs between Mexico and 

the United States. Bankhead also considered it "lamentable" if a new 

government adopted a plan to reconquer Texas. 
74 

During their discussion Tornel said that the Mexican people were 

pinning their hopes oq Great Britain and even ~ance to help them 

stop America. 75 

Bankhead refrained from making any comment on the expediency of 

European interference in the affairs of Mexico, or on the probable 

disposition of Great Britain to accede to the wishes of the Mexican 

government and people. Ban~head replied that Her Majesty's government 

could offer her good offices. Bankhead also believed that if the 

Mexicans expected aid they would not treat any United States proposal 

with great disrespect, knowing that their ally would not get them out 

of any trouble "their own absurdity might lead them. 1176 Bankhead, 

therefore, remained quiet, since Tornel could become a member of 

Paredes 1 government and any promise made on his part would be taken 

seriously by the Paredes' government. It was during this revolt that 

John Slidell arrived in Mexico and sent his credentials to the Secre-

tary of State Pena y Pena. 

74 F .o. 50 Vol. 187 No. 125, 11 Confidential--Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
December JO, 1845," p. 308. 

75 Ibid. 

76rbid., p. 309. 



Slidell 1 s ~ission received a great deal of publisity. President 

Polk as soon as he heard of Herrera's interest in discussing peace, 

promptly nominated Slidell as minister. The Mexicans were willing to 

accept a commissioner but not a minister. If Slidell was accepted as a 

minister Herrera would have admitted that nothing was wrong and he was 

reopening diplomatic intercourse. Herrera wanted to negotiate, but if 

he failed to champion Mexican national honor, the Paredes' government 

would have been assured of success. 

Paredes took control of the government and Slidell returned to 

Vera Cruz to await further orders, Once Paredes was in command 

Slidell's mission was doomed. Negotiation failed, and Mexico faced 

the challenge of war. The means of peace were exhausted and Mexico 

had no other choice than that of war against the United, States. The 

Slidell mission aided the Paredes revolt because he used it to em-

phasize that Herrera was selling out and that he would champion the 

Mexican cause and reconquer Texas. 

Bankhead's diplomatic discussions with Pena y Pena and several of 

the revolutionaries were approved by Aberdeen's office. 77 Aberdeen 

also concurred in Bankhead's discussions with Tornel, but he wanted 

more information on the monarchial question. The Spanish minister 

in London had reported to Aberdeen that General Paredes was in favor 

of a monarchy in Mexico. The news surprised Aberdeen, and he requested 

Bankhead to report all details with regard to a monarchy and the 

chances of a monarchy in Mexico. In reply Bankhead emphasized that 

El Tiempo, the government newspaper in Mexico City, suggested the son 

77 F.O. 50 Vol. 191± No. 5, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, February 28, 
1846," p. 11. 



of Archdµke Charles, who would be acceptable to the clergy. 78 

The paper also reported that quite possibly Don Francis Paule 

was leaving Spain, traveling to Cuba and then to Mexico, and would be 

the best possible choice for a Mexican monarch. The French minister 

who was in favor of a monarchy also felt that whoever was placed on 

the throne had to receive the moral and physical support of Europe.79 

The Picayune reported that "Isabella is to marry the Prince of 

the House of Saxe-Coburg, wh~le her sister, the Infanta, is to be given 

to the Duke of Pontpensier, one of Louis Philippe's sons. A French 

fleet and army in conjunction with what forces - land and sea -

Spain can raise backed by an English fleet that is to see that nothing 

wrong is done, will escort the latter couple to Amer.ica, and place 

them nolens volens on The Throne of Mexico. England for her assistance 

· 80 
will get Cuba. 

This discussion of a monarchy ran throughout Paredes' adminis-

tration, but Paredes never made a public statement in favor of monarchy. 

After Paredes defeated Herrera, he was elected President ad interim, 

and immediately appointed a ministry headed up by Don Jose Maria de 

81 
Castille Illagos. Don Jose only remained in office a short time and 

did not handle many foreign problems during the short period. Paredes 

78E1 Tiempo, July '6, 1846, p. 2. 

79F .O. 50 Vol. 194 No. 8, "Aberdeen to Bankhead, March 31, 1846," 
P, 17. 

80Daily Picayune, December JO, 1845, p. 2. 

81F.O, 50 Vol. 195 No. 1, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, January 1 1 1846," 
pp. 3-11. 
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also issued a call for an extraordinary Congress to write a consti-

tution, and 160 members were chosen from persons who paid direct 

taxes, persons involved in the agriculture, the commercial, the mining, 

manufacturing and public administration. ~hey were to continue in 

session for six months and present a constitution. 

When Paredes assumed the Presidency, Bankhead was afraid that 

war was imminent with Texas and the United States because Paredes 

promised in his revolutionary manifesto to reconquer Texas. However, 

preparations for war were not immediately undertaken, and Bankhead 

finally surmised that Paredes was watching with interest the negoti-

ations over the Oregon boundary. He realized that any war between 

82 
England and the United States would aid the Mexican cause. 

Mexico on its own would face many difficulties in a war with the 

United States. England emphasized that the march from Mexico City 

to the Nueces River was 600 miles, and even if it were possible the 

logistics of supplying such an army created immense odds against a 

Mexican victory. The Mexicans therefore waited. England's friendly 

feeling toward Mexico was well-known in Mexico, and many still antici-

pated English support, even though Bankhead suggested caution and 

d t th M . l't' . 83 pru ence o e exican po 1 1c1ans. 

Bankhe~d was afraid that anything he said would be taken wrong so 

he avowed an entire ignorance of the views of Her Majesty's government 

82 
F.O. 50 Vol. 194 No. 14, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, January 20, 

1845," pp. 185-187. 

83rbid., p. 187. 



84 
and therefore gave no opinion or even surmised one. Pleading total 

ignorance, Bankhead was able to lend a willing ear without ever telling 

Mexico that England would come to her aid. He mentioned several times 

that England was always ready to offer her good offices and her pro-

posals in any attempt to maintain peace in Mexico. He never stated, 

and never gave cause for an all-out Mexican war against the United 

States, with English support. 

Paredes persi$ted in pis quest to gain insight into the English 

beliefs and Engli$h views, In an indirect communication, Paredes 

wanted a secret interview with Bapkhead to talk about the present state 

f ff , , M , 85 o a airs in ~,exico. There is no doubt that Paredes kept the 

pre$sure on Banl;(.head, because he wanted English aid. 

Bankhead felt this pressure and to the indirect and secret in-

vitation of General Paredes he stated "that whenever His Excellency 

wanted to invite him to an audience, qe would not lose a moment's 

notice in availing himself, but he was unable to take a position as to 

86 
deprive himself of the power of asking for such an honor." He met 

Paredes a few days later at a dinner party, when Paredes, walking pa$t 

h,im, whispered to him, "I do hope your government does not mean to 

allow U$ to be eaten up."87 

84 F.o. 50 Vol. 194 No. 14, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, January 30, 
1845," p. 187. 

85 F .o. 50 Vol. 195 No. 28, 11 Confidential--Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
February 27, !Bl.i,6, 11 pp. 306-309. 

86Ibid. 

87Ibid., p. 308. 
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Bankhead replied that whatever Paredes said would be conveyed to 

the Foreign Office, but he did not have instructions whatever beyond 

those·already l:Qlown to the Mexican government. Paredes replied 

11Hablaremos118a (11we will talk about it 11 ). Paredes did not give up. 

ln fact, on March 8, 1666, he visited Bankhead and was accompanied 

by his Secretary of State. He made a few complimentary remarks with 

reference to England, and he asked what instructions Bankhead possessed 

with regard to the present position of Mexico with regard to the United 

St~tes. Bankhea~ reported what went on before and assured him that he 

possessed no :further instructions that were applicable to the present 

crisis. Paredes continued to express that he needed to know to what 

extent Mexico might count upon the assistance of England in her present 

perilous condition. He wasted no time in outlining the difficulties in 

whi.ch his country found it1;1elf. He proclaimed i;he necessity of some 

forei~n assistance--Britain and France--to preserve Mexican national, 

interest, menaced as it was on all sides by the United States.89 

He asked Bankhead to send as soon as possible his views to England 

:for th,e consideration of He:ii: Majesty• s government, and also stated 

that he hoped that Bankhead could :furnish him with instructions which 

would enable him to advise and to act upon all contingencies. After 

this interview Bankhead reported that any chance of peace between 

Mexico and the United States was impossible. 

88 F.O. 50 Vol. 195 No. 28, "Confidential - Bankhead to Aberdeen, 
February 27, 1846, 11 PJ>. 306 ... 309. 

89F.O. 50 Vol. 196 No. 31, 11 Bankhead to Aberdeen, March 10, 
1846, 11 P• 9. 



Paredes would not accept any Minister from the United States if 

he were sent with ordinary full powers. The only discussion Mexico 

would agree to centered on the Texas question and the border. If 

Paredes recognized the Minister he would acknowledge Texas as a part 

of the United States and there could be no discussion on that basis. 

Bankhead informed Paredes that there was a general expression of 

good will for Mexico in the British Foreign Office. Nevertheless, he 

did not make any remark or in any aegree compromise in the adoption 

of a course which they think proper to follow with reference to the 

present unfortunate position of Mexico. He recommended caution and 

prudence, and he of;fered the Secretary of State the suggestion that 

Mexico make a counteroffer to Slidell which would bring a delay, and 

buy the Mexicans some time, while Slidell sent the counteroffer to the 

90 United States Department. 

Bankhead then used the opportunity to discuss with Paredes his 

opinion with regard to the monarchy. Paredes stated, that until 

Congress acted, he could not influence them with his opinion, but 

Bankhead had a feeling that Paredes wanted a monarchal system of 

government. "The friends pf monarchy may succeed," according to 

Bankhead, "and if they do, it would add to the prosperity of the 

CQlmtry. 11 Old Spaniards in Mexico were against it, because they knew 

that if it failed, their interests would be sacrificed in a revolt. 

Paredes was concerned, and did try to pursue the issue in 1846. 

In a secret dispatch, Bankhead said the following: 

90 F.O. 50 Vol. 196 ;No. Jl, 11 Ba.nkhead to Aberdeen, March 10, 
1846," p. 9. 



I have this instant learnt that a gentleman who is 
about to proceed to England was sent for the night 
before by the President, who informed him that he 
intended to unburden himself to me during his visit 
that morning without reference to his minister, but 
that he found that I received his overtures witp some 
coldness. ijis Excellency seems to have forgotten 
that he was accompanied by the Minister of Foreign 
Relations. General Paredes wished this gentleman to 
take upon himself. the task of special envoy of sub­
mitting to your Lordship, and I believe to Monsieur 
Guizot, ,(but I am not sure), his confidential opinions 
and wishes upon the present state of the country and 
especially with regard to monarchy, that he meant 
to carry that questiqn through the party favorable 
to such an alliance. They have settled everything 
with Spain, but that he was already opposed to that 
concession and was determined to throw the destiny 
of his country to the arms of England.91 

The person to whom General Paredes made this offer declined to 

accept it. His object in visiting England was really a commercial 
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one,,although of great importance. The coldness imputed to Bankhead 

cam~ from his disinclination to promise English aid and a promise 

Bankhead could not give without express orders from the Foreign Office. 

Paredes was up'set because he beli,eved that the only possible path for 

Mexico in 1846 was to throw herself at the mercy of England in any 

dispute with the United States. 92 

England, however, still upset with the procrastination of the 

Mexican nation over Texas refused any aid. While Paredes sought 

English aid, he also sought aid in establishing the Mexican army along 

the northern frontier. ~he movement of the United States army and navy 

caused Mexico to do the same. Paredes ordered his army to take up 

91 F.O. 50 Vol. 196 No. J4, 11Secret-... Bankhead to Aberdeen, March 10, 
1846, 11 pp. 22-25. 

92rbid. 
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positions on the southern pank of the Rio Grande, but not to cross the 

river. If war was to come, it must be started by the United States. 

Paredes al so promised that he would live up to the ~ ~ ~ 

Luts Potosi and maintain popular representatives and a republican form -- , 
of government. Orders were sent to General Mejia not to cross the 

Rio Grande, and he was to remain on the south bank of Matamoros. 

Paredes, however, still believed English aid would come and he met 

again with Bankhead by going to Bankhead's office which was a very rare 

event in diplomatic circles and caused rumors to fly in diplomatic 

channels that England was ready to give aid. 

Bankhead still had not received any word from his government and 

Paredes again repeated that his only hope was in the assistance of 

England and France, e~pecially Britain. 93 Bankhead was cautious 

because he knew that if he gave the slightest hint that England would 

come to the aid of Mexico, war would come and England would be placed 

in a very difficult position. 

Mexico was in a state of chaos, and the only chance for European 

aid, according to Bankhead, was if a monarchy was established in 

Mexico. No matter who was chosen to fill the position, he or she would 

need military assistance from Europe to maintain a monarchy. Even 

Paredes expressed the belief that whoever holds the reins of power must 

be supplied with money, not only to aid him on his arrival but as a 

means of staying in power. 94 

93F.O. 50 Vol. 196 No. J4, "Secret--Bankhead to Aberdeen, March 10, 
1~46, 11 pp. 22-?5-

94F.O. 50 Vol. 196 No. 42, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, March JO, 1846, 11 

PP. 155 ... 157. 



152 

If Congress called for a monarchy Paredes argued he would not 

opvose the individual sentiments and the feelings of the country, 

whether the ruler came from ;France, Germany, Italy, or Spain. He 

then expressed a fervent hope that England and France again ~ould 

devise $Orne means which could check the grasping ambition of the 

United States and protect the Mexican nation. Paredes then reminded 

Britain that if California was lost, it would eventually be a serious 

blow to the interests of Great Britain. If it fell, the Americans 

would hope to get possession of New Mexico, Nuevo Leon, and Coahuila. 

Bankhead agreed with Paredes and he entertained no doubt that 

the knowledge of the first shot being fired on the northern frontier 

would be the signal for the occupation of California. 95 But Bankhead 

never compromised the English position. He only recognized the utter 

hopelessness in Mexico and in a dispatch on April 29, 1846, he 

stated: 

It will suffice for me to state to your Lordship 
my humble but sincere opinion that without some aid f;rom 
without, the extinction of the existence of this country 
as an independent state is near at hand. It was too late 
to lay the blame upon this or upon that ruler. All I fear 
have furnished their quota of incapacity or want of honesty, 
and here is ta be traced the present position of what might 
in other hands have become one of the most flourishing 
countries in the world. If nothing is done to relieve it 
from its present most critical state, I cannot indulge 
the hope that it will long survive the inroads that have 
been made and are making upon its existence.96 

95F.o. 50 Vol. 196 No. 43, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, March 30, 1846, 11 

p. 159. 

961bid. 
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Bankhead continued to suggest that the best policy for Mexico was 

cauti9n and moderation. He did not want Mexico to fire the first shot. 

He hoped sincerely that the Mexican government would follow his advic~, 

although he believed that it was very difficult to preserve a defensive 

attitude with the enemy at its gates, anp the almost certainty of a 

simultaneous attack from the navy at Vera Cruz. The United States 

squadron at Vera Cruz consisted of three heavy frigates, three sloops 

of war, and two brigs. Throughout April Bankhead was concerned over 

the blockade at Vera Cr\lz, the constant threat of attack at Matamoras, 

and the constant fears moves on the part of the Mexican nation to 

increase the size of their army and also increase taxes to finance 

their war effort. 

Mexico was faced with a dilemma. Frantic in her desire to gain 

European aid, she was faced with the difficulty of fighting a war 

against a h\lge enemy full of wealth and capable of mounting a huge 

offensive. The Me~icans were not, and should not be considered, free 

of all blame. They argued for and stated as early as 1845 when 

annexation took place that once Texas became a part of the United 

States, war existed between Mexico and the United States. 

Great Britain, however, was not ready to enter that war. Aberdeen 

wanted peace. He did not want, no matter how economically or com­

mercially involved, the British were in the Mexican nation to involv~ 

Great Britain in a war with the United States. The English advice 

and counsel was ignored, and once war erupted in 1846 England did not 

become involved. 

Mexico hoped, probably more than anyone in the world, that the 

United States and England would not solve their problems over the 



Oregon boundary. Tempers were hot, but a compromise was agreed to. If 

they had been brought to war, it would have aided the Mexican cause. 

~ngland, in order to gain the upper hand, would have probably supplied 

Me:,cico with troops and aid to establish another front in a war with the 

United States. That war did not come; England saw her hope was in a 

peaceful relationship with the world, and her interests in Mexico were 

not that great. 

E;ngland had more to lose in a war with the United States than she 

did by protecting her commercial interests in Mexico. The London Times 

although it hated the United States, did agree that war in defense of 

Mexico would be ridiculous. [This sou~ce is more than a year before 

the Mexican War of May, 1846] • 

• • • but whilst we express our reprobation of this action 
of the United States which proves beyond everything else 
the extinction of public virtue and moderation in that 
9ountry, we are bound to acknowledge that the interest 
of Mexico are not so closely identified with out own, and 
the result of the annexation of Texas is not so prejudicial 
as to the welfare of England or her dependencies, as to 
constitute a just cause for war. Texas not casus belli, 
but Oregon is different because an attack there is against 
our own territory and our own citizens.97 

Once England signed a treaty over Oregon there was no reason to 

aid Mexico, but she did try to aid both the United States and Mexico 

in some peaceful recon9iliation of their conflict. Throughout the 

war England tried to mediate the problems, but at no time during the 

war did she offer the Mexicans any aid. 

97London Times, March Jl, 1845, p. 2. See also London Times, 
June 1, 1846. 



CHAPTER VI 

CONCLUSION 

England refrained from any act of involvement in the United States-

Mexican War. Throughout the 184o•s England presented programs of peace 

for the Mexican nation. British ministers in Mexico City urged caution 

and moderation as the best policy for Mexico after the annexation of 

Texas to the United States. This moderation and caution, according to 

Aberdeen, was necessary because the United States wanted an excuse for 

an offensive war against Mexico. En~land was afraid that the United 

States might control Mexico and eventually Central America. The British 

ministers faced problems and difficulties in suggesting such a progam, 

mainly because of the chaotic and disorganized state of Mexican poli-

tics, 

For example, within the space of ten months, from January to 

October, 1846, Mexico had three presidents, three different cabinets, 

and three revolutions. Revolutions that drained not only the economy 

of the nation, but its vitality and stamina. 1 These revolutions pre-

vented Mexico from establishing a concrete foreign policy in Texas, and 

1The list of Presidents for the short period include Jose Herrera, 
Mariano Paredes, Gomez Farias, and finally the return of Santa Anna. 
See Bancroft, History of Mexico; Parkes, A History of Mexico; Smith, 
War with Mexico; final!y, Madame Calderon-de la Bar~ in• her Life in 
~i~ Each author examines this critical period in Mexican'tiistory. 
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the United States. JosJ Herr~ra's government pegan a discussion of a 

possible settlement to the United States-Mexican problem, but once 

Herrera's government actively pursued peace with the United States, 

an opposition force developed under Paredes, and the result was a 

revQlution which promised the reconquest of Texas. 

Paredes, faced with many difficulties, actively sought British 

aid in his struggle with the ijnited States. Paredes was forced out of 

power by Santa Anna, who returned to Mexico, and sought past fame and 

glory by leading the Mexican army against the United States in 1846 

and 1847. 

England refrained from any active involvement. Aberdeen continued 

his program of peace for England. He left the Foreign Office in 1846, 

and Viscount Palerston returned. Palmerston, as Aberdeen did in 

1841, accepted his predecessors' program and continued to suggest that 

English offices be used to aid in a peaceful settlement between the 

United States and Mexico, 

England, there{ore, continued a program established as early as 

1839-1840--a program that involved the use of good offices to counsel 

and su1::igest to Mexico plans for peace. English influence in Mexico 

faltered as one would expect during the United States-Mexican War. 

As the United States gained momentum, and as Mexico lost in many 

military encounters, England as a n~utral had to go along with 

America's peace proposals, especially after the Americans had occupied 

the nation's capital. Militarily, the United States gained an im­

pressive victory in the United States-Mexican War. 

British diplomats, however, were not inactive. They aided 

General Winfield Scott toward the end of the war, when they were asked 
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to transmit va;rious proposals and letters to the Mexican government 

for the purpose of peace. Also, when Nicholas Trist arrived in Mexico 

he requested the assistance of the British Minister. 2 Bankhead was 

anxious to see peace and gladly accepted the responsibility of con-

veying messages and letters between the Mexicans and the Americans. 

England only suggested programs of moderation and caution and hope-

fully a program to establish a justifiable peace for the Mexican 

nation. England realized that Mexico had to sue for peace, because the 

chances for victory had quickly evaporated. Many in England wanted 

programs of stability establisned as soon as the war ended. 

English merchants and commercial houses wanted the war to end 

because they were fed up with the dilatory tactics of Mexican of-

ficials ~ho were not willing to pay British claims and who were at a 

moment's notice ready to raise taxes or the tariff in hopes of main-

tc;tining an army against the United States. It seemed evident that 

England by 1846-1847 was content to allow the United States to make 

its move across the No;rth American continent. 

Already, Britain had avoided war with the United States in the 

boundary dispute in Oregon, even though the British had snouted for a 

war. Their arguments centered around the expansion and outright 

offensive moves on the part of American settlers in the Oregon terri-

tory. 

Aberdeen, however, believed that war was unnecessary and his plan 

for a peaceful settlement of the prol;>lem was accepted by the Un:i ted 

2 F.O. 50 Vol. 210 No. 61, "Bankhead to Palmerston, June 26, 
1847," pp. 1-75. 
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States in 184'5. 3 He believed that the lJnited States wanted a treaty 

before Palmerston stepped in. Also the United States may have antici .. 

pated better relations with F.ngland after the British Corn Laws were 

repealed, allowing greater imports of food from America. Finally, 

Aberdeen was once.quotea "that he desired peace for peace's sake," 

4, 
wnile he (referring to Palmerston) desired war for war•s sake." 

Al::>e:,:-deen considered the Ore99n treaty his most important work as Foreign 

Secretary. 

Ue had avoided war and in a letter of Queen Victoria, he outlined 

bis belief that the Treaty assured England of peace. Aberdeen em-

phasi~ed to the Q1,1een that tne convention was accepted "precisely in 

the form in which it was transmitted by Lor<;l Aberdeen to Mr. Pakenham. 

The Qµeen in reply mentioned the sincere satisfaction of the settlement, 

but regretted the retirement of Aberdeen, Prince Albert in his note 

stated "that England was fortunate because Aberdeen was able to complete 

this work triumphantly. 11 5 

On June 1, 1846, almost a month after the war had started, England 

categorically denied any aid to General Paredes. Aberdeen, in 

instructions to Charles Bankhead, outlined English policy over the 

three-year period 184'3-1846. He emphasized in five dispatches to 

3For a discussion of Aberdeen's feelings see F.O. 5 (America) 
Vols. ~3-410 in 1844 and Vols. 423-444 in 1845. 

4 Algernon Cec:i.l, Queen Victoria and Her Prime Ministers, p. 85. - __,_... 
5Ab~rdeen :Papers, Vol. VI;n, 11 Correspondence with Queen Victoria 

and the Prince Consort," May, 184:6 .. February, 1853. Queen to Aberdeen, 
JuO:e 29, 1846, 11 p, 73. Also "Prince Albert to Aberdeen, June JO, 
184:6, 11 p. 77. 
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Bankpead during the year 1844 that English aid was impossible. 6 His 

sentiments and intentions remained unchanged. 

England throughout the period wanted the recognition of rexan 

independence and no direct aid to the Mexican cause. Further, Aberdeen 

pointed out the recent events in Mexico did not allow his government 

any reasonable gound for departing from that policy. 7 

Aberdeen was upset over the fact that the military revolutions 

came at the very moment when Mexico needed unity and concord and a 

strong ground in order to maintain a strong front against the imminent 

danger from the United States. Because of these revolutions England 

did not participate in any quarrel between Mexico and the United 

States. He also stressed: 

It is moreover obvious that were Great Britain to interfere 
in that quarrel, she would involve herself in a war with the 
United States, and not only that, but she must necessarily 
play the part, not merely of an auxilliary but of a prin­
cipal in such a war, that is, she would find herself engaged 
in a war with a nation with which she would have no personal 
cause or quarrel in behalf of a nation and government which 
she had repeatedly warned in the most friendly and urgent 
manner of their danger, and which solely in consequence of 
their willful contempt of that warning, have at plunged 
headlong down the precipice from which the British govern­
ment spared no efforts to save them.a 

6 F.o. 50 Vol. 172 No. JO, September JO, 1844; F.O. 50 Vol. 172 
No. 34, October i', 1844; F.O. 50 Vol. 172 No. 49, December 31, 184l.t; 
F.O. 50 Vol. 174 No. 16, June J, 18l.tl.t; "Confidential" F.O • .50 Vol. 175 
No. 53, July 13, 1855, all of these dispatches were from Aberdeen to 
Bankhead, and they all categorically denied aid to Mexico, as in No. JO 
"he (Santa Anna) must not look for the $Upport of Great Britain in 
aiding him to extricate himself from these difficulties." 

7F.O. 50 Vol. 194 No. 15, 11Aberdeen to Bankhead, June 1, l8l.i:6, 11 

p. 33. 

81bid. 
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These ideas were presented not out of a desire to slap the hand 

of the Mexican officials, but to point out to President Paredes, who 

was the chief magistrate, the reasons why Great Britain could not come 

forward and support the Mexicans against the United States. In fact, 

Aberdeen stated "these proposals should be presented personally to 

President Paredes," and then to emphasize his lack of confidence, 

Abe:rdeen added," if he is still the chief magistrate in Mexico."9 

After stating explicitly that England could not aid the Mexican 

government in any physical nature, Aberdeen suggested that Bankhead 

courteously express Her Majestyis desire for peace, and assure the 

Mexicans that the English government would work to save Mexico, "so 

far as it may be possible by friendly interposition from the fatal 

consequences of the policy which her successive governments have for 

many years past, been so unfortunately induced to pursue towards Texas 

and the United States. 1110 In other words, the door was not completely 

shut. England wanted to, as much as possible, assist the Mexicans in 

their struggle with the United States. Her program prior to the war 

had been one of counseling and suggesting to the Mexican government 

prog:ram for peace. Bankhead throughout the war counseled 9 and suggested 

to the Mexican government that caution and moderation would be the best 

9F.O. 50 Vol. 172 No. JO, September JO, 1844; F.O. 50 Vol. 172 
No. J4, October 1, 1844; F.O. 50 Vol. 172 No. 49, December 31, 1844; 
F.o. 50 Vol. 174 No. 16, June J, 1844; "Confidential'' F.O. 50 Vol. 175 
No. 53, July 13, 1844; all of these dispatches were from Aberdeen to 
Bankhead, and they all categorically denied aid to Mexico, as in No. JO 
"qe (Santa Anna) must not look for :the support of Great Britain in 
aiding him to extricate himself from these difficulties." 

10 Aberdeen wanted Paredes to understand completely the British 
pos:i, i;ion, and it seems he was categorically against any aid to Me~cico. 
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course, with a possibility of British mediation. 11 

Paredes was desperate, and he even called for the establishment of 

a monarchy in Mexico. He wanted a monarchy because he realized that 

12 any sovereign would need foreign forces and foreign money for support. 

The British Foreign Office, however, could not support any 

monarchial plan due to the many difficulties inside Mexico. The concept 

of a foreign prince and a monarchy was not new in Mexican politics. It 

had been suggested by Don Gutierrez Estrada, the Foreign Secretary 

under the Bustamente government. For several years he sent letters to 

England, France, and Spain, and had letters printed in several Mexican 

newspapers stating the advantages of a monarchy in Mexico. 

Spain probably was more involved and more concerned over the idea 

of a monarch in Mexico, principally because it was suggested tnat a 

Spanish prin,ce take power and take control of Mexico. Therefore, 

Bermandez Castro, the Spanish minister in Mexico, constantly sought the 

f,nglish opinion over the matter of a monarchial form of government. 

Not only was Paredes willing to discuss the possibility of a 

monarchy; ne was also pressed hard enough to discuss the sale of 

California, now occupied by the United States. He mentioned several 

times to Bankhead the advantages of the territory. He re-emphasized 

the Indian and Chinese positions, and the ~act that trade along the 

11F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 103, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 9, !84:6," 
p. 14:4:. 

12 La Reforma, February 3, l.84:6, p. 68; also February, 19, 184:6, 
p, 1.30;Apri1 9, 1846, p. 3 and April 15, 184:6, p. 2. Several other 
Mexican newspapers, principally!!., Tiemp~ ran stories on the possi­
bility of a monarchy. 
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coast of America would be advantageous to Great Britain. He even 

wanted to permit Fngland to take military possession of the area, and 

finally offered to sell California to the Fnglish. Bankhead in his 

discussion with Paredes over California stated that he did not know 

what th~ Fnglish position would be in such an important proposition. 

The Foreign Office instrµcted Bankhead that England could not 

enter into a treaty for the acquisition of California. Aberdeen and, 

later, Palmerston, both agrE)ed that because of the hostilities between 

the United States and Mexico it seemed evident that Mexico had lost 

command of the area and could not carry out a treaty even if one were 

13 arranged. Likewise, Palmerston told Pakenham that he could assure 

the Unii;ed States that Great Britain had no designs on California and 

thai; Paredes' offer to sell California had come too late since it was 

doubtful whether or not the Mexicans controlled the area. 

Paredes tried everytping. He called for an English loan, and 

when that failed he agreed to sell California. News of the California 

sale brought about further unrest in Mexico and on May 7, 1846, a 

Pronunciamento against the Paredes government was published in 

Mazatlan, The plan caUed for the return of Santa Anna, and it sparked 

another uprising in Guadalajara. 

Mexico was again in a state of political chaos and even though the 

revolt in May was unsuccessful it created a tension that was evident 

throughout the months of May, June, and July. Paredes in June spoke to 

13 F.O. 50 Vol. 195 No. 4, "Palmerston to Bankhead, August 1, 
1846;" also Palme;rston Lette;r Books, "Letter books of Henry John Temple, 
'l'hird Viscount Palmerston," 177 vols., British Museum, 48417 ... 48589, 
Vol. CLIX 11To and From the United States," "Palmerston to Pakenham, 
June 29, 1846. 11 
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Congress and traced the history of his administration. He stated to 

the Congress the need for extraordinary powers, and asked for the sup-

pression of the freedom of the press. He called for the energies of 

his country in support of the national dignity and honor, and suggested 

to Congress the expediency of a declaration of war against the United 

States. Paredes, as others before him, turned to the national honor 

and policy of the Mexican people to maintain controi. 14 Paredes 

wanted to be both President and also Commander-in-Chief of the army. 

Mexicans in the United States ro1d in Mexico were somewhat perplexed 

over a war. Some felt that the disastrous effects of the war meant 

that some reconciliation had to be made with the United States. How-

ever, they recognized that if a reconciliation took place Mexico would 

lose a tremendous amount of territory. 15 

General Paredes was officially elected President on June 12, 1846, 

and General Nicholas Bravo was chosen Vice-President. Paredes was 

able to gain the support of the members of Congress, who believed that 

with Paredes in power their chances of changing the Mexican system of 

government were improved. The war continued, and on June 16 two 

propositions were presented to the Mexican Congress. One requested 

that Paredes be given a leave of absence to take command of the Army 

of the North. The other asked for extraordinary means .for carrying on 

a state qf warfare. These new laws called for more taxes to supply the 

army in the north. Congress agreed; Paredes was given a leave of 

14smith, War With Mexico I, p. 104 • 
....,-. --,.--..-- ~ 

15 F.O. 50 Vol 0 1,98 No. 77, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 29, 1846, 11 

pp. 284-289. 



164 

absence to take commarid of the Army of the North. The other asked for 

extraordinary means for carrying on a state of warfare. These new laws 

called for more taxes to supply the army of the north. Congress agreed; 

Paredes was given a leave of absence, and Bravo was sworn in as Presi-

dent c;td interim. 

Paredes as Commander-in Chief could lead the armies and also put 

down revolutions if they arose, plus with Bravo in office, the chances 

for accepting some offer from the United States were easier. Many in 

Congress probably favored a peaceful relationship, but there were those 

who lacked the courage to do anything about it, mainly because the 

pride in the Mexican nation was damaged by the loss of Texas and the 

eventual attack across the Rio Grande. 

United States propaQanda spread throughout the northern states of 

Mexico, and newspaper articles re~uested Mexican citizens to throw off 

the yoke of the central Mexican goverp.ment, establish separate states, 

and seek some type of protection from the Vnited States. In Matamoras 

there was hope that the republic of the Rio Grande could be established 

and made up of the states of Tamaulipas, Nuevo Leon, Coahuila, New 

Mexico, Durango, and Chihuahua. Once these states were united, they 

could propose independence, seek protection from the United States, and 

defy the world, 17 but Taylor refused to assist them prior to the war. 

United States propaganda also emphasized that the war started 

because of British intrigues. The Republic .£.!. ~ Grande, a newspaper 

16 f.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 77, 11 Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 29, 1846, 11 

pp. 284 ... ~89. 

17Ibid. 



in Matamoras stated: 

But rash as these ephemereal dictators of Mexico City are, 
we know that they have not the temerity to plunge into 
war wit~ the Uniteq States without encouragement from 
some powerful govermment, and the present angry relations 
between England and the United States leaves at no loss 
to surmise the quarter whence the encouragement comes. 
The policy of this interference may be very judicious 
on the part of Great Britain, but it is for you, the 
people, who are to be affected by it, to consider how 
far it is dictated by a generous regard for the pros~ 
perii;y of Mexico. When has England shown herself your 
friend? Was it i~ lending your government four or five 
times the amount of the loans which her subjects had 
advanced you in condemned arms and military equipment 
drawn from the refuse of her arsenals, and for which 
she remunerated herself in the full face of your bonds 
with heavy interest, secured upon your pµblic domain, 
at merely nominal rates; in the control of your custom­
houses and in the monopoly of all the remnants of your 
once flourishing trade?l8 

These tactics which were used in wars throughout history, were 

not necessary in Mexico. The problems in Mexican government were, 

according to aankhead, insurmountable. The government could in no 
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way continue a war with the United States, so Bankhead suggested that 

Paredes discuss with the United States counsul some means for peace. 

~aredes, however, threw out the proposal, and, as Bankhead said, "like 

most of his countrymen, destitute of moral courage to carry out such a 

measu~e and hence the necessity of the offer originating in the United 

States. 19 

Constantly, Mexico floundered for some type of a unified and 

strong proposal in its war against the United States. General Tornel 

again and again called on Congress to re~establish proposals for the 

18 Found in F.O. 50 Vol. 197 No. 77, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 9, 
1846, 11 p. 144. 

19F.O. 50 Vol. 197 No. 89, "Bankhead to Aberdeen, June 29, 1846, 11 

p. 148. 
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defense of the Mexican nation. In one decree discussed in Congress he 

argued that the Mexican government, by virtue of its desire to defend 

its nation should repel the aggression of the United States of America. 

The republic was in a chaotic state of affairs, and England tried to 

sugQest programs for peace, while Mexico grasped for straws by July, 

1846. After receiving the Foreign Office statement that no aid would 

come from England and that the only aid would be the friendly inter-

position of the Foreign Office, General Paredes received information 

from the Mexican charged' affaires in London t;hat Great Britain was 

d t ff h d . t' 20 rea y o o er er me 1a ion. · 

Newspapers in Mexico City saw British mediation as the only hope 

for the Mexican nation. Bankhead, however, could not offer British 

mediation. Paredes was handcuffed in any discussion of peace with the 

United States, because he had come to power advocating war. Bravo, 

as President, might accept the overtures of the United States, and 

quite possibly discussion for a peaceful reconciliation between the two 

could be1;1in. 

Bankhead's hands were tied in trying to suggest programs and 

policies to the Mexican government, because after Congress approved of 

Bravo•s appointment to the Presidency, the Cabinet under Paredes 

resigned, and for several weeks Mexico did not have a Cabinet. 21 

Paredes finally issued a statement regarding the problem with the 

United States and the boundary question. 

20 Aberdeen PaFers, Vol. xxvn 43065, "Aberdeen to Peel, June 3, 
1846, II P• 131. 

21F.O. 50 \liol 0 198 No. 107, "Bankhead to Palmerston~ July 30, 
1846," P• 201. 
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Te~as had been part of New Spain since the Spanish-American 

Treaty of 1819. The border between Texas and the rest of the province 

was the Nueces River and as a result the Nueces River could be the only 

boundary in any settlement with the United States. He did leave the 

matter open for discussion when he stated "the Mexican government will 

not refuse to receive or to listen to propositions of peace, although 

they will accept only those which shall be compatible with the national 

honor or which have for their basis the security of the territory of 

the Republick [ sio]. 1122 

The Mexiqan government faced a dilemma, they realized that since 

the United States and England had settled the Oregon question, that 

England would not come to the aid of the Mexican government. They 

realized that Mexico needed a unified government. Bankhead believed 

the Bravo government was now ready to decide on the present dispute. 

Bravo 1 s government, however, did not have a chance to solve any 

disputes or aid the Mexican political system in any way, because in 

iugust, 1846, a new revolution took place in favor of Santa Anna and 

the Federalists. The movement had been in preparation for quite some 

time and was successful. The revolt xucceeded because of the vacil-

lation of Paredes. He lack;ed the moral courage to fight for a monarchy 

which might have established a stable 9overnment in Mexico. 

After his fall no one was at that time capable of winning or con-

trolling the Mexican nation, and Gomez Farias, who at that time was 

22 F .o. 50 Vol. 198 No. 107, "Bankhead to Palmerston, July 30, 
184:6 1 11 p, 201. 
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chief of the Feder~list Party, became a temporary leader. When Paredes 

fell, on August 4, General Mariano Salas became Acting President, and 

took command of the Ciudadela and called for federalism and Santa Anna. 

Sinye Gomez rarias was the leading Federalist he assumed an important 

leadership role.~3 

No government, however, was established until the return of the 

ever-important Santa Anna. In fact, the revolt in Verz Cruz was not 

a revolt against Paredes or the government, but primarily a revolt 

to control the city and the state so that Santa Anna could return to 

his home. 24 By contrast, the outbreak in Mexico City carried the 

Federalist banner. Two irreconcilable forces - Santa Anna and the 

Federalists - came in together and fell apart because Santa Anna, the 

ever popular Mexican leader, was in favor of dictatorial power, while 

federalism believed in the concept of states' rights and greater 

participation by the provinces of Mexico. 

The country only plunged further into disgrace and misfortune, 

c:µ1d it seemed that personal aggrandizement and self-interest were more 

the primary motives of the revolution than the cause of the Mexican 

nation against the United States. Santa Anna as a leader might, 

according to Bankhead, who throughout his tenure in Mexico City re-

spected Santa Anna, bring the people of Mexico together. But if Santa 

Anna refused leadership, the possibility of extreme anarchy throughout 

23 Calcott, Santa Anna, p. 236 • 
. ~ 

24Smith, ~~ Mexico I, p. 218. 
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Soon after the revolution began, it was announced that California 

had fallen to the United States. Bankhead had always believed in 

California's value and he wanted the Foreign Office to do something. 

He suggested programs 1 but none of them were acted upon by the British 

government. The misgovernment and the internal strife in Mexico did 

much to aid the United States in their struggle in California, and as 

a result, what would prove to be one of the most valuable possessions 

in the world was taken by the United States. 

Other states immediately joined the revolution: Puebla, Jalapa, 

Vera Cruz, but no one moved. No one made pronouncements or outlined 

programs or policies. They were waiting for Santa An~a. 

The only proposal suggested by the provisional government of 

Gomez Farias was that the federal Constitution of 1824 be established 

and remain until Congress met on December 6, 1846, to decide on a 

better form of government. Mexico was a long way from a better form 

of government. The problems in government, the total disorganization 

of the army, the call for Santa Anna, the decree by the provisional 

government for the Constitution of 1824 (which stated that a standing 

army is not allowed in Mexico), the public response against Santa Anna, 

all added to the confusion and disorganization of the Mexican nation. 

Nowhere in the history of the Mexican nation was there such a total 

disorganization, and this chaos could not have come at a better time for 

the United States, because in all the confusion and disorganization the 

25F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 108, 11 Bankhead to Palmerston, August 4, 
l846," p. 203. 
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Santa Anna finally arrived at Vera Cruz on a steamer flying under 

&).glish colors from Havana on August 16, 1846. Many thought that the 

blockading force woula not permit Santa Anna's entrance but he had a 

letter addressed to the American commandant at Vera Cruz, which allowed 

his landing. He was 9iven free admission to the port, which prompted 

many reports that Santa Anna had reached a secret agreement with the 

United States authorities for establishing the boundaries between the 

two. 27 

He arrived in Mexiqo City on September 14, and after his arrival he 

publicly declared his feelings with regard to the present political 

situation in Mexico. ln an interview with Bankhead he stated that it 

was necessary to submit to tlle voice of the people, and adopt the 

institutions by which the United States rose to their present prosperous 

and eiv;ilized state, and definitely insured the success of his aspi-

rations for his countrymen. Santa Anna, of all people, was calling for 

;federalism. 28 

He insisted that he would abolish all laws which at the present 

time embarrassed the commerGe with foreign nations. He wanted tariffs 

29 for protection, not revenue.· Santa Anna also suggested new immi-

gration laws and the toleration of all religions. These statements 

26~mith, War With Mexico l, P• 218. -- -
27 See Smith, ~ .!!!..!!!. Mexico .!., p. 220. Also Parkes, History £!. 

Mexico, and Rives, The United States and Mexico. 
... ............... ' - . ·-

28 F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 120, 11 l;!ankhead to Palmerston, August 29, 
1846, II PP• JJ5-.J4o. 

29Ibid. 
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shocked and surprised Bankhead, but he still did not give them much 

credence. He felt that Santa Anna was making them out of political 

expediency in hopes for his future as the Mexican leader. Santa Anna 

knew the people, and he made some inroads into establishing his power. 

Gomez Farias was out and Santa Anna's appointee, Senor Haro, who 

served under Santa Anna in 1834, was placed in that position. Santa 

Anna then stated he would return to the north to meet the enemies and 

regain the territory lost. Many were concerned, however, that some 

ty~e of a secret agreement was evident between the United States and 

Mexico. A small revolution broke out at San Luis Potosf, but Santa 

Anna's army quickly put it down. 

Bankhead later learned that the secret arrangements between Santa 

Anna and the United States were true. He discovered that a man in 

Havana by the name of Atocha had been a resident of New Orleans, 

attached himself to Santa Anna. He also was a resident of Mexico, but 

had left in 1844. SinGe he was a citizen of the United States he 

placed a huge claim on Mexico. He went to Havana with Santa Anna and 

then eventually to New Orleans. 

The reason Bankhead believed that some deal was evident between 

the United States and Mexico was that a short time before Santa Anna 

left Cuba, Atoqha arrived with a confidential message from Washington, 

and then returned to Pensacola with another note before he left for 

Vera Cruz withaletter of security, Carta Seguridad. He arrived in 

Jalapa, discussed politics with some officials there and then left 

Mexico for the United States. 30 

3°F.O. 50 Vol. 196 No. l.21. "Bankhead to Palmerston, August 29, 
1846, II p • J45 • 
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Atocha probably haq some information, but Santa Anna and Rej~n, 

who was Foreign Minister under Santa Anna, stoutly denied any arrange-

ment with the United States. Many Mexicans did not believe that Santa 

,i\nna had made a deal becaµse he marched with 1500 dragoons and 800 

infantry to aid the Army of the North. Later, a story in the ~ ~ 

Herald outlined the arrangement between General Santa Anna and the 

United States Commissioners at Havana. Several copies of this story 

were sent to Mexico City, and were immediately confiscated by the 

government. 

Bankhead did not get a chance to read them, but he did fear that 

a promise was made by Santa Anna to agree to the Rio Grande as the 

border, and to the possession of all of California. 31 Even if an 

arrangement was made, Santa Anna ignored it, as was his nature, and 

began a war against the United States, The war, however, proved dis ... 

astrous to Mexico as Monterrey fell along with several other important 

cities. 

England considered the possibility of offering British mediation 

to handle and settle the problems of the war. Just before Aberdeen 

left office in June, 1846, he instructed Bankhead to offer mediation. 32 

Parliament was discussing whether or not England was going to aid 

the Mexican cause. On the floor of Parliament Lord Bentinck outlined 

the past history of the Mexican nation. He said that the public debt 

of Mexico to ~gland amounted to a sum somewhere around 10,200,000 

31F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 121, "~ankhead to Palmerston, August 29, 
18/,i,6, " p. 345 • 

32F.O~ 50 Vol. 194 No. 20, 11Aberdeen to Bankhead, June 26, 1846, 11 

p. 49. Aberdeen officially resigned on July 14, 1846. 
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pounds, and he believed that a war between the T.Jnited States and Mexico 

was ~xtremely injurious to British relations with Mexico, plus, very 

injurious to English commercial interests. He also believed that 

''should that war end in a conquest and the subjugation of Mexico to the 

United States, the problem of the debt due Britain by Mexico will not 

be paid, just as the one due Britain by the United States was not 

. d "33 pa1 • He wanted to know whether or not Great Britain had offered 

mediation. Bentinck wanted a justificable peace for Mexico and believed 

that the United States was the a91;1ressor, an ag1:1ression that would 

seriously hurt English commercial iqterests. 34 

Palmerston replied that the Foreign Office had been concerned over 

the transactions between the United States, Mexico and Texas. He, too, 

was bothered by the conflict between the two but, as he pointed out to 

Parliament, because of the discussions over the Oregon territory, 

Great Britain could not offer mediation in 1845 because if the dis-

cussion over Oregon had ended in a rupture between the two,.England 

could not have been an objective mediator in any disagreement between 

the United States and Mexico. 35 

If, after the Oregon ~reaty the United States and Mexico were 

disposed to accept the mediation of Great Britain, that mediation would 

33ttansard's Parliamentary Debates, Vol. 88, August 25, 1846, 
p. 979. 

34Ibid. 

35rbid. .Also F .o. 5 (America) Vol. 461, "F. D. Powles, Chairman 
of South American and Mexican Association, to Aberdeen, June 2, 1846," 
p. 20. Powles wanted Great Britain to mediate the problem, first to 
protect their interests in the area, and second, to end bloodshed in 
the area. In another letter, June 4, 1846, William Rodgers, of the 
same organization, called for British mediation. 



be frankly offered and tendered. As Palmerston ended his speech, 

Benjamin Disraeli rose to discuss the problem, and emphasized that the 

British merchants were deeply interested in the fate of Mexico. The 

great public debt was not as important to Disraeli? but the mercantile 

interests of the British in Mexico was the overriding issue. The 

British merchants were actually concerned whether or not the Mexican 

t ld . . 36 governmen cou remain in power. 

Disraeli stressed that the British government had acted wrongly in 

re~ard to the Oregon treaty. He stated "that the merchants want to know 

whether or not l!lngland was going to preserve the political integrity 

of Mexico. 1137 Disraeli, probably one of the most vociferous with 

reQard to the Mexican question, asked several important questions with 

regard to the Mexican problem. If Ne~ico was totally incapable of self-

government, as he believed, and if all the means of diplomacy failed, 

which he said is quite evident if one examined the history from 1639, 

what would the English do? What will the English policy be? 

He argued there is a course, but he wondered whether or not the 

English would pursue it. He went on 

••• Will you act as you have acted to other states under 
similar circumstances? Will you protect Mexico? Will you 
come forward and in combination with the great powers 
most interested in the affairs of Mexico establish a pro­
tectorate for that country? Give them ten years of 
tranquillity, and I believe it will not be lost on that 
people. The merchants of England want these questions 
answered. They know what protests may be offered against 
anything like interference. But they are practical men 

36ttansard 1 s Parliamentary Debates, Vol. 88, August 2~, 18q6, 
P• 988. 

n Ibid., P• 989. 



and know that at this moment the principle of inter­
ference is the only principle, and that you are carrying 
it out where your stake is not half so valuable, where 
your interests are not so vast, and where, I may be 
permitted to add, your political relations are not so 
important. It is by acting as you have acted in the38 
past that you can secure the independence of Mexico. 

Above all, Disraeli did not want the United States to take the 

area. He said it is not merely the 20 to 30 millions of dollars of 

debt nor the increased number of consumers for our commerce, "but if 
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the principle on which the citizens of the United States are now acting 

be not arrested in a determined spirit, you may rely on it that your 

North American Empire [i.e., Canada] is in peril and will, I believe, 

be lost. 1139 

Disraeli was calling for outright aid and outright protection, 

but he was in the minority. Even though Disraeli was in the minority 

his reaction prompted the British Foreign Office to consider some 

assistance. 

Th~ response in Parliament and the call for English assistance 

prompted the Foreign Office to present the mediation proposal again. 

Palmerston sent instructions to Bankhead and later to Doyle that 

England would assist the Mexicans with mediation in their war against 

the United States. Palmerston realized that mediation could only 

succeed if both ~arties agreed, so he sent similar instructions to 

JSHansard's Parliamentary Debates, Vol. 88, August 2~, 1866, 
p. 992. 

39Ibid., 993. 
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Richard Pakenham in Washington.4o 

Bankhead was concerned when he received his orders because Mexico 

was in the mid.st; of reivolution and hEl decided to withhold the mediation 

41 
plan until Santa Anna's government took control. Palmerston agreed, 

and told Bankhead to use his good judgement with regard to offering 

that mediation. 

Santa Anna assumed control and appointed Manuel Rejon as Minister 

of Foreign Affairs. Once it was realized that Senor Rejon was in 

charge of Mexican affairs, Bankhead on August 31, ~846 offered the 

Mexican government the mediation plan for settling the differences 

between the Republic of Mexico and the United States. 42 

Rejon, to Bankhead's surprise, rebuked the offer, and said 

"Mexico cannot be convinced of her inability to compete with her neigh-

bors. Self~conceit and a strong patriotic feeling is the reason for 

43 our refusal." Bankhec!,d Wafi taken back by the refusal, but he did not 

drop the idea, because he felt given the unstable situation in Mexican 

government and the ministry, the offer may have success with another 

minister. 

Bankhead was upset with the political maneuvering of the Santa 

Anna government and he did not see any benefit to the Mexican nation 

4o F.O. 5 Vol. 4:45 No. 8, "Palmerston to Pakenham, August 15, 
1846, 11 p. 92 and F.O. 50 Vol. 206 No. 7, ''Palmerston to Bankhead, 
,A.ugust 15, 1846, 11 p. 84. 

41F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No. 122, "Bankhead to Palmerston, August 29, 
1846," P• 352· 

4:2 F.O. 50 Vol. 198 No, 130, "Bankhead to Palmerston, September 7, 
1846," p. 50. 

43:i:bid. 
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from the General's return. Sc;U1ta Anna would eventually establish the 

same system of spoliation that had characterized his other governments 

in the past and did not in any way bring about a successful and unified 

Mexicah nation. 

Money was of prime concern to the Mexican nation. There were 

decrees issued for forced loans of $2,000,000 with the property of the 

church as security for the loans. Most of the money went to Santa 

Anna, while the government resources and the capital duffered, but the 

complete lack of mol').ey was probably the best chance that existed for 

4:4 
an early termination of the war. lt was also learned that a 

$20,000,000 loan was being negotiated in London, and that church pro-

perty would again back it up! The English investors were approached, 

but declined the loan, but it did provoke concern in the United States 

that England was involved in the Mexican cause. 

In December, 1846, Rej~n was out and Don Jos; Remirez was ap­

pointed as Minister of Foreign Affairs. 45 Bankhead immediately 

discussed foreign policy with Ramirez, and on December 28, 1846 offered 

British mediation to the new cabinet member. Bankhead also informed 

the Mexican that the British Foreign Office wanted Mexico to bring 

about some type of reconciliation and the establishment of peace. 46 

44 
F.O. 50 Vol. 201 No. 167, "Bankhead to Palmerston, November 29, 

1846, 11 pp. 50-54. 

45 F. 0. 50 Vol. 201 No. 181, "Bankhead to Pa;I.merston ~ December 30, 
1846, 11 pp. 204 .. 205. 

46 F.O. 50 Vol. 201 No. 184, "Bankhead to Palmerston, December JO, 
1846, 11 pp. ?68-270. 
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Ramfrez never rejected medi~tion, but when Bankhead heard that a 

tax was placed on all citizens including British subjects, for the war, 

he took it as rejection. Mexico evidently wanted to fight on. 

Bankhead objected to the tax, although Palmerston later pointed out 

that the British citizens were not exempt from such a tax and had to 

pay.47 

Bankhead faced problem after problem in arguing and discussing 

8 1. - ( • mediation. In January, 1 ~7, after a month, Senor Ramirez resigned, 

which gave Bankhead another chance to offer British mediation. 

Bankhead believed that he could aid in the peace effort because there 

were many in the Mexican Congress who wanted to end the war because of 

tqe great American gains in the field. 48 These individuals were 

looking to the British government as a friend and ally in case the 

United States brought forward unreasonable demands. In other wprds, 

if the United States tried tp gain more than what was considered legal 

within the international framework, the Mexican people wanted some 

ass4rances that Great Britian would assist them. 

As long as Mexico continued to hold out, however, the British 

hands were tied, and Bankhead again involved himself in the political 

events of Mexico and urged the party in Congress favorable to peace 

to combine in their efforts, for some peaceful arrangement with the 

United States. Many Mexican politicians realized that the United 

States was not receptive to British mediation but they found in a 

47F.o. 50 Vol. 207 No. 5, "Palmerston to Bankhead, January 28, 
1847," p. 19. 

48F 0 0. 50 Vol. 208 No. 6, "Bankhead to Palmerston, January 29, 
1847," p. 140. 
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passage of President Polk's annual message to Congress that the United 

States manifested some desire to receive the good offers of Her 

Majesty's 9overnment in order to render a direct line of communication 

between Mexico and the United States and one which would not completely 

b;reak the national honor and dignity of the Mexican nation.4:9 

Bankhead, therefore, continued to press for mediation 1 but without 

a foreign minister and without a Cabinet, Bankhead got nowhere. 50 His 

only hope was to discuss the matter with Santa Anna, which was almost 

impossible, since Santa Anna was constantly at the head of his troops. 

Santa Anna still believed he could win and he continued in his struggle, 

but after Buena Vista he asked far a leave of absence, citing his old 

51 excuse, ill health. 

Shortly after Santa Anna's resignation another revolution broke out 

in Mexico City. Congress immedi~tely sent a note to Santa Anna to take 

control of the country and return as President of the Republic. Once 

again Santa Anna recognized the political climate and took advantage 

of it, he resigned, a revolution erupted, and then he was recalled as 

the savior of Mexico. On March 21, 1847 he sent notes to the two 

sides to stop all hostilities, and on March 22, he was sworn in before 

Congress as President. 

Those who were aligned to the clergy were allowed to keep their 

arms, while orders were sent out to disarm the 2,000 people in rebel 

49F.O. 50 Vol. 208 No. 6, "Bankhead to Palmeraton, January 28, 
1847," p. 140. 

50ibid. 

51F.o. 50 Vol. 208 Separate - "Bankhead to Palmerston 1 March 2, 
18,57," P• 229. 
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CJMPS throughout Mexico. For the first time a degree of tranquillity 

and stability was est~blished in Mexico City.52 

Santa Al1,na's views, however, were still cloudy and unknown. He 

announced his intention to abide by the Constitution of 1824, but he 

still displayed tactics which were dictatorial in nature. He lost in 

battle at Buena Vista, his troops dispersed, his predicted great 

victory ended in defeat, but even in defeat he won, because he was 

invited to Mexico City to assume the reins of government. His name 

a9ain was chanted throughout the streets as "the savior of the 

country. 1153 

Foreign interests thought that he realized the plight of the 

Mexican nation and that the interest of his country was more important 

than his own personal interest. They wanted to influence Santa Anna, 

and in a discussion, Bankhead as a spokesman for the diplomatic corps, 

stated that the foreign nations of Europe looked forward to the early 

re-establishment of the relations with the United States, an event 

which is everyday more imperative.54 

Santa .Ap.na was unable to discuss such a proposal because the news 

from Vera Cruz was an all-out American attack, which prompted him to 

take full control of the operations against the enemy at Vera Cruz. 

Vera Cruz fell, and Santa Anna immediately moved his 10,000 men to try 

52F .o. 50 Vol. 209 No. 34, "Bankhead to Palmerston, April 1, 
1847," pp. 80-84. 

53lb~d. 

54F.O. 50 Vol. 209 No. 33, "Bankhead to Palmerston, April 1, 
1847," p. 78. 



to control the area around Jalapa. General Scott, after Vera Cruz, 

then began his move, first at Jalapa, then to Cerro Gordo, and 

eventually it was believed that he would move after receiving re­

inforcements on to Puebla and Mexico City,55 
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Eankhead believed that Scott would probably be well received on 

his march, and he believed that there are many people in Mexico City 

who consider the arrival of the American commander the surest way of 

gaining protection and peace. He considered it very lamentable that in 

a count:,;y like this "which aboupds in all of its resources and with a 

population so easily governed, they should so easily acquiesce in the 

arrival of an invader, r~ther than submit to a continued maladminis-

6 tration under Santa Ai1na.115 

Many Mexicans were positive that the war could not be continued, 

but there still was a lack of moral courage in Mexico, to admit it, 

plus the war cr:y became a political question and anyone who openly 

avowed peace was branded as a traitor. 57 Santa Anna travelled to 

Oajaca, where he set up headquarters. Confusion and chaos reigned 

throughout the period, and ~ankhead continued to meet each new minister 

to suggest the early negotiation of peace with the United States 

govern~ent. He was unsuccessful. He offered mediation but it never 

materialized. 

55F.O. 50 Vol, 209 No. 4-2, "Bankhead to Palmerston, April JO, 
184-7," pp. 110-134-. 

56rbid., pp. 130-131. 

57Ibid., p. 134-. 
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Meanwhile Santa Anna left Oajaca. He established a front at 

Puebla and an army of approximately 4,ooo men, but General Worth, the 

United ~tates COIIlltlander, arrived on May 19, and drove the Mexicans back 

into their capitai. 58 Santa Anna then arrived, fired all of the 

generals who opposed him and announced his plan to meet the enemy with 

a force of 15,000 men. 

Where he would get 15,000 men was a question most could not: 

answer, and his future looked dim. By May, 1847, his prestige had 

fallen and his chances of entering into a peaceful relationship with 

the American general were small. Furthermore, in coming to the capital 

he placed himself in a very critical military position. He resigned 

from the Presidency, but continued as military leader.59 

When Santa Anna entered Mexico City Bankhead realized that defeat 

was near. He wanted and had offered to mediate the dispute but that 

offer was never accepted. Therefore, when Nicholas Trist, the United 

States special minister arrived for the discussion of a treaty, 

Bankhead offered his assistance. He was asked to deliver a note to the 

Mexican government, and told Trist he would do all in his power to 

60 
gain the favorable reply of the Mexican government. 

Bankhead realized that the Mexican Congress favored peace so he 

sent a note to the new For1:1ign Secretary, Domingo Ibarra. Congress 

agreed to discuss peace, but no one in Congress had the moral courage 

58F.O. 50 Vol. 209 No. 59, "Bankhead to Palmerston, May 27, 1847," 
pp. 279-282. 

59F.O. 50 Vol. 209 No. 60, "Bankhead to Palmerston, May 29, 1847," 
P• 284. 

6°F.O. 50 Vol. 210 No. 67, "Bankhead to Palmerston, June 29, 1847," 
pp. 120 .... 122. 
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to support a resolution which would have given Congress the authority 

to discuss peace. As a result neither governmental power in Mexico 

. t d th A . l f t t a· · 61 accep e e mer1can proposa · or rea y 1sc~ss1ons. Bankhead 

again was limited in his authority because of the rapid turnover in the 

cabinet, whicll limited any chance~ for peace. 

General Scott, impatient, sent word his army would march on 

August 1 and 2, and he arrived in Mexico City on August 4th. ]he 

military encounter brought great tragedy and at midnight on the 4th, 

Pachero, the new Foreign Minister, met with Bankhead and requested 

that :aankhead use his good offices to save the city from being sacked 

b 4 • f 62 y ~mer1can orces. 

Bankhead did not accept the Minister of Foreign Affairs• proposal. 

He believed that since the assistance of Great Britain was only 

partially admitted by the United States government~ towards bringing 

the war to aq end, and since the Mexican government never did conde-

scend to give any answer to the British government's offer of 

mediation, he would refuse to accede to Pachero•s request. 

F.ngland throughout the war maintained her neutrality, but her 

ministers did try to assist in a peaceful reconciliation between the 

two. l'hat assistance was impossible, first because of the United 

States victories, a,lld se~ondly, both countries would have had to 

accept the British offer of mediation. The Mexicans, who had more to 

lose refused the mediation offer, thus proving the power of face and 

61 
J,i' .. O .. 50 Vol. 210 No. 67, "Bankhead to Palmerston, June 29, 

1847, 11 pp. 120-122. 

62 F.O. 50 Vol. 211 No. 76, "Bankhead to Palmerston, August 21, 
1847," pp. 1 ... 10. 
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pride. 'While the United States, on the other hand, thanked the British 

government for their concern and their desire to aid in the negotiation 

of a ~eace treaty~ The United States listened to P~enham's offer, but 

never answered hi~. aritain was simply a bystander, accepting as 

inevitable the manifest rise of American power. 

There were elements within the English political system that wanted 

to aid Mexico but the Foreign Office realized that any aid to Mexico 

was foolish. Britain would not be a balancer of power on the North 

American continent as it was traditionally in ~rope. The British 

wanted peace, they cqunseled for peace, and they remained at peace, 

Great Britain did not have to outfit an army or establish, a naval 

blockade or become actively involved in any of the military struggles. 

As the war p;rogres1;1ed, and as the United States gained the upper 

hand, English infl4ence in Mex:i,co slowly evaporated. By the end of 

the war, English ministers contented themselves with delivering letters, 

and aiding the United States officials in the negotiation of the Treaty 

of Guadulupe Hidalgo, Their influence was overshadowed by the total 

defeat of the Mexican nation and the Vnited States, as was her right 

as a viGtor in war, establishing a Treaty of Peace. By 1847 and 1848 

the British ministers were content to carry out the everyday duties of 

t~eir office, and emphasize to the Mexican nation, after the war, that 

British claims had to be .met. 

By 1847~1848 England had no desire to e~tend her influence in 

North America. The Ol-egon boundary settled, England seemed content 

to allow American ex:pansion to continue. Aberdeen was so proud of the 

treaty that he said wqen he retired from the Foreign Office 11 ••• I 

am not aware that we leave any question behind us which is likely to 
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grow into a serio-us quarrel with the United States. 1163 

The repeal of the Corn Laws, which opened markets for American 

fa:,;mers, the Mexi~an War which was -underway, and the fear of 

Palmerston'$ anti-AnJerican attitude may have inflmmced Polk when he 

accepted Aberdeen's proposal in 1846.64 The British likewise wanted a 

peaceful settlement. Even Palmerston who criticized the Webster-

Ashburton treaty, believed after he took office in 1846 that the Oregon 

settlement was "equally favorable to both parties. 1165 

By 1847 England realized that British interests in America did not 

necessitate a war. The trouble in Canada, India, and the revolutions 

in Europe occupied the minds of British politicians, and relations with 

the United States and Mexico took a back seat. 

Canada throughout the period was in open conflict over Britis~ 

rule. The long-standing Canada Act of 179l was the cause of Canadian 

unr<Slst. It split the country into two provinces, Upper Canada 

(Ontario) inhabited by the English, and Lower Canada (Quebec) inhabited 

by the French~ Each province was given an elected assembly, but just 

as in the thirteen colonies, quarrels erupted between governors and 

assemblies. The racial jealousy in Lower Canada added to the problem 

and open rebellion erupted in 1837. 

The Canadian unrest led to the special study mission of Lo:rd 

Durham, and his report became the most important document on colonial 

policy in English hi story. Brie;fly Durham called for a union of Upper 

63w. Jones, Lord Aberdeen and~ Americas, p. 82. 

64Ibid. 

65Herbert Bell, Lord Palmerston, I, p. 370. - .... 
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and Lower Canada under one legislative body, while a governor appointed 

by the British cabinet would only act on issues strictly imperial in 

nature. Durham's report led to responsible government for Canada and 

laid the foundation for dominion status which came in 1867. 66 

Likewise F.ngland faced difficulties in another colony when native 

unrest erupted in India. The Indian Mutiny did not occur until 1857, 

and the India Aci.; was pass(;)d in 1858, but the unrest and unconcern 

began in the !84o•s. 

In 1848 Lord Dalhousie became the Governor-General of India. 

During his reign the map of India was redrawn and England extended 

its control of the area. Wars were fought in Punjab and Burma and 

ill-will among the Indians emerged. In one battle alone in January, 

1849 the British suffered 2,338 killed or wounded. 67 Indian wars 

and rebellions occupied the minds of British politicians throughout 

the 1850's and when Dalhousie left India in 1856, he left behind an 

uneasiness that eventually led to the Indian Mutiny in 1857. 68 

Palmerston also faced the problem of unrest and revolution on 

the continent. The revolutions sparked an intense desire in England 

to strengthen their national defense. France was always a thorn in the 

side of Britain and when Louis Napoleon made his moves Palmerston 

66 
For further study see John George Durham1 Lord Durham's Report 

on the Affairs of :J3ri tish North America, 3 vols. (Oxford,· 1912); also 
Stanley Ryerson-;-Unequal Union (New York, 1968); and Albert B. Corey, 
The Crises of 1830..,.1842.in Canadian-American Relations (New Haven, 
°i'9tl). - ............... --- -

67 John A. Marriott, The English ~ India, (Oxfor<;l, 1932), p. 151. 

68Michael Edwards, British India 1772-1947 (New York, 1968), p. 
Jl. Also Thomas Metcalf, The Aftermath of ~lt (Princeton, 1964), 
pp. 44-45. - . . -
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recognized his government, but for the first time Palmerston was out of 

touch with public opinion. Fearing a second Napoleon and a Grand Army, 

England began to appropriate more money for armaments and coastal 

fortifications, 69 

These events and the scars of the political battle over the Corn 

Laws in England cannot be examined in detail but they must be recog-

nized before anyone can understand the British policy in North 

America. 

Mexico due to her poor political leadership was lost, Texas was 

now a part of the United States, and California, although British 

merchants dreamed of a port on the Pacific, would only cause more 

problems for the British Empire. Interference was not warranted, 

because vital British interest was not jeopardized. The American 

expansion was accepted and Brit~sh interests, mainly economic, die-

tated a cordial peaceful relationship with the United States. 

69J. Ridley, Lord Palmerston, p. 401. -
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